Pages 3 - 60

JOSHUA PASIN
ATCK DISTRICT

Proudly providing water from an ancient
sowrce ....well into the future.

JOSHUA BASIN WATER DISTRICT
SPECIAL MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 29, 2019, AT 5:30 PM
61750 CHOLLITA ROAD, JOSHUA TREE, CA 92252

AGENDA (Amended)
CALL TO ORDER
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM

APPROVAL OF AGENDA

PUBLIC COMMENT

Members of the public may address the Board at this time with regard to matters within the
Board’s jurisdiction that are not listed on the agenda. State law prohibits the Board of Directors
from discussing or taking action on items not included on the agenda. Members of the public
will have the opportunity for public comment on any item listed on the agenda when it is
addressed on the agenda. Please limit comments to three (3) minutes or less.

CLOSED SESSION

1. Conference with District’s Designated Labor Negotiator (Sarah Johnson, Director
of Administration), Mark Ban, Interim General Manager, Anne Roman,
Accountant, and Nate Kowalski, Labor Counsel, Atkinson, Andelson, Loya, Rudd
& Romo (AALAR) pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6 regarding labor
negotiations pertaining to represented employees of the District (AFSCME Local
1902).

2. Conference with District’s Designated Agency Representatives (Sarah Johnson,
Director of Administration), Mark Ban, Interim General Manager, Anne Roman,
Accountant, and Nate Kowalski, Labor Counsel, Atkinson, Andelson, Loya, Rudd
& Romo (AALAR) pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6 regarding salary
and compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits for the District’s
unrepresented employees of the Management, Supervisory and Confidential group.

RETURN TO OPEN SESSION

REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION — Nate Kowalski, Legal Counsel

RATIFICATION OF UNION MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING - Recommend
that the Board adopt the attached Resolution 19-1010 authorizing the General Manager to
execute a Memorandum of Understanding with American Federation of State, County, and
Municipal Employees.

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 1 of 230



Pages 61 - 77

Pages 78 — 87

Pages 88 - 225

Pages 226 - 228

Pages 229 - 230

INFORMATION

10.

11.

12.

13.

EMPLOYER-EMPLOYEE ORGANIZATION RELATIONS RESOLUTION -
Recommend that the Board of Directors adopt Resolution 19-1015 approving the newly revised
Employer-Employee Organization Relations Resolution.

COMPENSATION PLAN FOR THE MANAGEMENT, SUPERVISORY AND
CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES OF THE DISTRICT — Recommend that the Board of
Directors adopt the attached Resolution 19-1011 approving a revised compensation plan of the
Management, Supervisory and Confidential employees.

NEW EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK - Recommend that the Board of Directors adopt the
attached Resolution 19-1012 approving the newly revised Joshua Basin Water District
Employee Handbook.

WELLNESS PROGRAM FOR ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES OF THE DISTRICT —
Recommend that the Board of Directors adopt a wellness program for the employees of the
District.

OFFICE HOURS - Recommend that the Board of Directors adopt Resolution 19-1014
updating District office hours.

ADJOURNMENT

The public is invited to comment on any item on the Agenda during discussion of that item.
Any person with a disability who requires accommodation in order to participate in this meeting should telephone Joshua Basin Water
District at (760) 974-0072, at least 48 hours prior to the meeting in order to make a request for a disability-related modification or

accommodation.

Materials related to an item on this Agenda submitted to the Board of Directors after distribution of the agenda packet are available for
public inspection in the District’s office located at 61750 Chollita Road, Joshua Tree, California 92252 during normal business hours.

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 2 of 230



JOSHUA BASIN WATER DISTRICT
STAFF REPORT

Meeting: Board of Directors October 29, 2019
Report to:  President and Members of the Board
Prepared by: Sarah Johnson

TOPIC: Ratification of Union Memorandum of Understanding

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that the Board of Directors adopt the attached Resolution
19-1010 authorizing the General Manager to execute a Memorandum of Understanding with American
Federation of State, County & Municipal Employees.

SUMMARY:

The current Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with American Federation of State, County &
Municipal Employees (AFSCME) expired on September 2, 2019, Per the terms and conditions of
that MOU, negotiations for a successor MOU commenced on July 18, 2019 and resulted in a new
twenty-two-month agreement that has been ratified by the membership of AFSCME.

The District’s negotiating team and AFSCME conducted five negotiating sessions regarding a
successor agreement and reached a tentative agreement on September 23, 2019. The District received
notice that AFSCME ratified the agreement on October 7, 2019,

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: MOU provision changes are as foliows:

1. Employee Compensation

» Effective the first full pay period following Board approval bargaining unit members
receive cost of living increase of 3.25% (FY2019/2020).

» Effective the first full pay period after July 1, 2020 bargaining unit members receive a cost
of living increase of 2.5% (FY2020/2021).

» Effective the standby weck beginning November 5, 2019, bargaining unit members subject
to standby will receive four additional hours per week of standby time (from 1-hour
Monday-Friday and 2-hours Saturday & Sunday to 1-hour Monday-Thursday and 3-hours
Friday, Saturday & Sunday).

2. Health & Welfare Benefits
e NO CHANGE - Tier | - Employee’s Hired before January 1, 2017
Allowance of $1800 to $1800 per month for the required enrollment in medical, dental, and
vision plans. Employees can receive cashback on any unused portion of the monthly
contribution cap that is not used healthcare enrollment. No increased fiscal impact.

e NO CHANGE - Tier Il - Employee’s hired between January 1, 2017 — September 3, 2019
and were enrolled in voluntary insurance products during the 2016-2019 MOU.
Allowance of $1800 per month for the required enrollment in medical, dental, and vision
plans. Employees can use the unused portion of the monthly contribution cap to purchase
any insurance products offered by the District (example: voluntary Colonial products).
Employees in this tier cannot receive cashback on any unused portion of the monthly

contribution cap. No increased fiscal impact.

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 3 of 230



*®

NEW Tier Il - Employee’s Hired after to January 1, 2017

Effective the first pay period following board approval, the District shall contribute and pay
100% toward group medical, dental, and vision premiums for the employee and their
eligible dependents, subject to a monthly cap. The monthly cap shall be calculated utilizing
the monthly premiums for the group medical Kaiser HMO with Chiro Family Plan, 3307
Delta Dental Family Plan, and 4029 VSP Composite Plan.

For FY2019/2020, employees in this tier health benefits allowance will be increased by an
additional $185.55 per month (from $1,800 to $1985.55 per month),

NEW - Effective first full pay period following January 1, 2020 the District will sponsor
Long Term Disability Insurance for bargaining unit members. This is an increase of
approximately $25 per month per member.

. Working Hours, Holidays

Effective the pay period beginning, 12/21/2019, bargaining unit members will move to a
four ten work week (ten hours per day, four days per week Monday — Thursday) from the
nine-eighty work week (nine hours per day Monday — Thursday, eight hours on Friday, with
every other Friday off).

Effective FY2019/2020 bargaining unit members will receive Christmas Eve and New
Year’s Eve as paid holidays. This results in a net one holiday increase.

Effective FY2020/2021, bargaining unit members will no longer receive the Friday after
Thanksgiving as a paid holiday.

. Tuition Reimbursement

Effective the first pay period following Board approval, the bargaining unit’s annual tuition
reimbursement cap will be increased by an additional $400 annually (from $800 to $1200
per year).

. 457 Deferred Compensation

Effective the first full pay period after January 2020 bargaining unit members receive a
matching contribution equal to 25% of the employee’s contribution, not to exceed $1000
per calendar year (from 10% of the employee’s contribution, not to exceed $700 per
calendar year).

. Employee Handbook

Effective following Board approval, AFSCME has agreed to the provisions of the Employee
Handbook.

. Other Negotiated Items

Other items negotiated include new or updated policies including: contract term alignment
to fiscal year, management rights, recruiting and selection, promotional opportunities,
probationary period, performance evaluation system, arbitration, bereavement leave,
compensation in lieu of vacation language changes, sick leave updates to meet current
California paid sick leave law and the removal the accrual cap payout provision, and safety
boots.

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 4 of 230



FISCAL IMPACT:
The annual cost is 3% for year one, 4% for year two, or 7% over the contract period. These costs align
with the cost of living index for Riverside-San Bernardino-Ontario area from Sept 2018 to Sept 2019

which was 3.1%.

Approval of the MOU will have the following fiscal impacts over the contract period:

Item YR.1-FY 19/20 YR.2 - FY 20/21 Total

Wages 33,537.22 27113.72 60,650.94
Health & Welfare 3,711.00 4453.2 8,164.20
Standby 13,419.49 19,751.00 33,170.49
Boots 375.00 375.00 750.00
Bereavement 492.32 507.04 999.36
Tuition Reimbursement 1,000.00 1,200.00 2,200.00
Long Term Disability 2,700.00 5,400.00 8,100.00
457 Plan 2,165.00 2,598.00 4,763.00
Holidays 5,261.00 5,418.84 10,679.84
TOTAL $ 62,661.03 S 66,816.80 $ 129,477.83

The costs of the MOU implementation will not require FY 19/20 budget adjustments due to the vacancy
of two budgeted positions,

STRATEGIC PLAN ITEMS:
3.1.3 — Update Performance Evaluation System

3.1.5 - Engage in Labor Relations, Including Negotiations
3.3.1 = Update Employee Handbook

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 5 of 230



JOSHUA BASIN
ATER DISTRICT

Proudly providing water from an ancient
source...well into the future

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
BETWEEN
JOSHUA BASIN WATER DISTRICT
AND
JOSHUA BASIN WATER DISTRICT CHAPTER
AFSCME LOCAL 1902
2019-2021

Resolution 19-1010

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 6 of 230



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1. PREAMBLE.....c.iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiciii et e e s e ersn e rreens 1
ARTICLE 2. AUTHORIZED AGENTS 1iivtiiiitiiniiiiiirieiirieiiinsressecrensessnereennes 1
ARTICLE 3. TERM . iuiriiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i ce et reen e et eniassnsssnsnsnnsnrestsssns 1
ARTICLE 4. NONDISCRIMINATION ....iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeenenietintenrnrnernrrernsrsnens 2
ARTICLE 5. GENDER ...iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiriiiieiieeiietense st rerasrrssnersesensnssienees 2
ARTICLE 6. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS .iiitiiiiiiiiiiiivierineieenaisenasnsnsnsensnnrrinees 2
ARTICLE 7. DEFINITIONS .. iteiiiiriiiiiiniitriiireriieeteeseesteseisenscnssnnrnnrnnrnennes 4
(A) CLASSIFICATIONS ..uuieevssesesrnnnnnnnssssiissssssesssesssssesssesessssessssnssnnsnssssans 5
ARTICLE 8. RECRUITING AND SELECTION ...iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinvnenrrernennsnenensnens 6
(A) PROMOTIONAL AND TRANSFER OPPORTUNITIES .ocovvieeriiirrirersrreeeeresinnnns 6
ARTICLE 9. EMPLOYMENT OF RELATIVES ....c.iviveveiniererererernrnrervesacnenssnens 7
(A)  ANTI-NEPOTISM..uuuuurririeiriieeeesiiiinuereerseesesseseassssnsssssseesseesensssrssssessesies 7
(B)  CLOSE FAMILY RELATIVE DEFINED ....cevvvvvrerrivveriiirrriireerreeerseerrreeersesseeeees 8
(C)  EXISTING EMPLOYEES ..ecoevvviiiiirirnnerieeseeesiisiitineereeesssssesssssnnssssessssssssosns 8
ARTICLE 10. PROBATION 1.t iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiitie e e e e vessrnssa e eiaa s ssaeasnnnas 8
(A)  INITIAL PROBATIONARY PERIOD....cccviiverrrreereeeeeeeerreerrereerereeererrrreessssseess 8
(B)  REHIRE PROBATIONARY PERIOD ......civuivirneiiieermieteiiniriiiiiiiisiiniemneresneerene. 9
ARTICLE 11. HOURS OF WORK ....titiriiiiiiiiitaieteiie e e earsrrnrarnrnsnensasnsnenes 9
(A)  CONVENTIONAL WORK SCHEDULE .....cccccuvveeeeeereverrremrmmrmereerereeeeeeeneseeeeees 9
(B)  FOUR-TEN WORK SCHEDULE- .......cctuiiiiiiiinerrirerinerirreerneestasstinsssmisiinemenss 9
ARTICLE 12, PAY DAY S, ittt i iiie e v eieratieeatbeeeraees e nsnenesrones 10
ARTICLE 13, STAND-BY TIME ...tiiiiiiiniiiiiiierinieirveneiaisssssssrasnsnsnsssans 10
ARTICLE 14. CALL BACK (. iuiisisiiiciiiiieice et ere e e e e v e va s s s e s enen 12
ARTICLE 15. HOLIDAY PAY ... iiiiiiiiiintiierttnereriireierarsesrissssissssnensssenes 12
ARTICLE 16. OVERTIME PAY: NON-EXEMPT EMPLOYEES.........c.vvvvvnvvnenen 13
ARTICLE 17. SALARIES AND SALARY RANGES.....c.cccoviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeianes 13
(A)  SALARIES .1iiiiiiereeieeieee s e s sriireeseeeassseressasannnrrreseessesnssssesssssesssssanrrnnns 13
(B)  SAFETY BOOT ALLOWANCE FOR FIELD EMPLOYEES.....ccceueeeirieceennrsrennnes 14
(C)  UNIFORMS.....ortiiiirererereeererseaasseesetesresseesees s orsabsssssssssmssesssssenssssssesssssesans 15
ARTICLE 18. RECLASSIFICATIONS ...c.tiiiiiiiiieiciviiiiiiiiinteaineeeeen e aenes 15
ARTICLE 19. PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS .. .iiviviiiiiiiiiinireinreisinniniinaes 16
ﬁiﬂ?l_E 20. WORKING OQUT OF CLASS ..ot iiiiiteiin e sensnsaene 17

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 7 of 230



(A) SHORT TERM, TEMPORARY OR EMERGENCY ASSIGNMENTS .......ccoevvevveenns 17

(B)  OTHER TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS .......0uveeeeeermumsarssiuresersrererreereenneeseeens 18
ARTICLE 21. EMPLOYEE INSURANCE BENEFITS ... .coviviiiiiiiiiiviiiiiieienenens 18
(A)  HEALTH INSURANCE....cccetititerereriiiiiiiiinraeeeeeeseesssrssssssssssesesssnnssnsnssssssns 18
(B)  LONG TERM DISABILITY...cccvveerirrirrrrrnrnnreeeeessssseniisissssssessssnrennnnnnnenene 21
(C)  LIFE INSURANCE .ottt teeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeeeeseeeesieeeseeeeeeeeesseeseresssssssssssrssnssse 22
(D} UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE......ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeiiieneeeeeeeensesssseessesseeseeee s 22
{E)}  CAIPERS .eueeeeeniitnetuesusranessnsensenssrnserssenssessssssrntstsstnsssnssussssassnssnsesnsenn 22
(F)  DEFERRED COMPENSATION/457 PLAN ..cceeeeiiiiiiinnnreieeeeeeeeeesannnnneeneennes 22
ARTICLE 22. TIME OFF BENEFITS ..cutiriiiiiiiiiiicce e eeeereccein e eras e e 23
Y T3 o 1 (0 ] U 23
(B)  HOLIDAYS ciiiiiiiiieeiiitiitteeeeeeeeseeesssnnnnneeaeseseesessnnsnesaseeeseesssnsssnsnsseesses 25
(C)  SICK LEAVE .. uuiuiiiieitieieinneensensrrrensenssassssssssssnertsnsssssssssenssesssernnsnnns 26
(D) FATIGUE POLICY tutiuitiieenineeitisitsesenssieaeancaesacenssnssnsnsnasnssssnnnes 30
ARTICLE 23. EXCUSED LEAVES OF ABSENCE ....ccccvviiiiiiiiiiiiiineeneniienen. 31
(A)  ABSENCE FOR WORK-RELATED DISABILITY.....ccccummmmrerreeeeerecninrnnneeeenenns 31
(B)  BEREAVEMENT LEAVE ....cciuiiiiiurernsenrerrerrnnvrnsresreosssestnesssssasniesinssnsssnees 31
(C)  JURY DUTY tiiiiieeiiriininmirireeeieeeeee s e s s esisssasseeasaaess s ssssseaassesssssnnrnnssnsseeees 31
(D) MILITARY LEAVE ...vvtrerrrivrrnniereersnrinsssisisesseesssnesssresimsessinsssinsennesennsensnns 32
(E)  PERSONAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE .....cccviiiiiiieieicrererrrrrrrereeeeinnennnenniieeiannnnn 32
ARTICLE 24, UNEXCUSED LEAVE OF ABSENCE .......c.ccooviiiiiiiiiniiniiennne, 33
(A}  DEFINITION .ouiiiiuiienieeieeeeeneennertnernsenssenssensenssrnssnnssesssssssessssssssssssnsnns 33
(BY  NOTIFICATION .ttttttteterrteeeereereereeeeeremrereererererserreeererseseeerrrerrerrererseeeeeens 33
(C)  ABSENCE WITHOUT NOTICE ....ceeeeiurrrrreeeesersisiinnrreneesssssssssssareensesssennns 33
(D)  DISCIPLINARY ACTION ..iuutiiiiiieiiiieeiiieeeeenieeeesnsarrnnrrrnssssesssesessrsroressnns 33
ARTICLE 25. EDUCATION PROGRAM....cctiiiinrinieiir e iiisieiinenseainenenss 33
(A)  ON-DUTY EDUCATION......cciiiuumuurrinieereeesssennrnrrerrsssermssssrrssensessasssssians 33
(B)  OFF-DUTY EDUCATION ...ccvtvrrrriiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeseeeeemssrereererseresersersessesssees 34
(C) REQUIRED CERTIFICATIONS OR LICENSES ....ovvvvvvvirniieiiissrersssiessssennsenns 35
ARTICLE 26. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE.........otvvetveerererrnesiirinrrcncransinnins, 35
ARTICLE 27. DISCIPLINE AND DISMISSAL ...oviiieiciiiiiiieeeinieneneneenrnsnres 37
(A)  TYPES OF DISCIPLINE .....ccuviruerrerueerrereeerensrrvennssiessssssmnessssssssnssenennsens 37
1464691

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 8 of 230



(B)  DISMISSAL.vvivreerrirreerriiiteisessiesessessssesssssessssssessessssssssssssssessesssssssesns 41
(C)  APPEAL PROCEDURE FOR MAJOR DISCIPLINE ......ceveeurireeeneissresieessesanenns 42
(D) HEARING PROCEDURE ...evvvevesteiisesseesseessesssessesssensessrsrneonsessseonesssessesone 43
ARTICLE 28. LAYOFF OR REDUCTION IN FORCE ...covvviiriiviinirenriereenerns 45
ARTICLE 29, UNION ... iiiiiiiitiiiiianieriaanterrrnsiosssancessseissniessesasssscsnnnsrrnnnes 45
(A)  UNION RIGHTS 1ivvireieeirerireieestiertereessssssssssessassesssesssssissssssnsesassssesans 45
(B)  USE OF DISTRICT FACILITIES ....civveieeisrressrsenuiesssisecsseesseessneessessnsssnen 46
(C)  DUES DEDUCTIONS...cutirveereereeereerrersesresssssrsessesseossosmeesessseessesseensesans 46
(D)  ACCESS TO WORK LOCATIONS ....eeoviireeireceeereesrsiseessesseessesssesssesssssssenes 47
(E)  BULLETIN BOARDS ...eeeurivririesreteitiasnscsssresissasissrsessesssesussesssnessessesens 47
ARTICLE 30, SEVERABILITY 1tiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieesetinuesrssscceaanscsssssnnssrssnssnnsas 48
ARTICLE 31. FULL UNDERSTANDING, MODIFICATION AND WAIVER......... 48
ARTICLE 32. DRUG AND ALCOHOL POLICY cuvvivrtiviiirinrirrerrannerenneransennneres 48
ARTICLE 33. INCOMPATIBLE WORK ..eiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiisinainnesennnees 49
ARTICLE 34. REOPENER ON POLICY MANUAL AND HEALTH INSURANCE ... 49
ARTICLE 35, LONGEVITY PAY 1uiiiiiiiiiiiieiiirerrirstseeansersenareessenssssennees 50

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 9 of 230



ARTICLE 1. PREAMBLE

This Memorandum of Understanding (hereafter referred to as MOU or
Agreement) is made and entered into by and between the Joshua Basin
Water District (hereafter referred to as the District) and the Joshua Basin
Chapter of the American Federation of State, County and Municipal
Employees (AFSCME), Local 1902 (hereafter referred to as the Union).

ARTICLE 2. AUTHORIZED AGENTS

For purposes of administering the terms and provisions of this MOU
the authorized agents of the parties and their mailing addresses are as
follows:

District: General Manager
Joshua Basin Water District
P.0. Box 675
Joshua Tree, California 92252

Union: President
Joshua Basin Chapter
c/o AFSCME Local 1902
700 N. Alameda St., #1-111
Los Angeles, California 90012-2944

Any notices or other written communication between the parties shall be
served by certified mail.

AFSCME is the formally recognized employee organization for District
employees in the General Unit and includes all regular, part-time,
probationary, and temporary employees.

ARTICLE 3. TERM

This MOU shall be effective as of September 3, 2019, subject to
ratification by the District’s Board of Directors and shall remain in full force
and effect through and including June 30, 2021. Union to submit an outline of
conceptual ideas to the District between 90-150 days prior to expiration of
this MOU.

8146469.)

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 10 of 230



ARTICLE 4. NONDISCRIMINATION

There shall be no discrimination on the part of the District towards any

employee or group of employees on any basis forbidden by state or federal
law applicable to the District.

ARTICLE 5. GENDER

Whenever the masculine or feminine form of any word is used in this

policy, it also includes the other gender unless the context clearly indicates a
contrary intent.

ARTICLE 6. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Except as expressly limited by the provisions of this MOU, State, or
Federal Law, all management rights, including the control, direction, and
supervision of all District operations and personnel are vested in the District.
Such rights include, but are not limited to:

(A) To hire new employees;
(B) To direct the work force;
(C) To determine the types, kind, nature and extent of services

to be performed, as well as the right to determine and
implement its public function and responsibility;

(D) To hire outside companies and vendors to perform services.
The District recognizes its obligation to meet and confer upon
request prior to such contracting out as to the impact of such
decisions. However, the District shall have no obligation to
meet and confer with the Union prior to hiring temporary
employees to perform bargaining unit work, from a
temporary agency or otherwise, regarding its decision to hire
temporary employees or its impacts on bargaining unit
members. The Union specifically waives such meet and
confer obligation;

(E) To increase and decrease the amount of work available;

(F) To determine the types of work to be performed;

(G) To establish and enforce job standards; qualifications;

(H) To determine employee health and property protection
measures;

(I To determine job content;

(3) To change materials, processes, services, equipment, jobs,
operations, locations and the number and type of equipment
and facilities.

(K) To transfer, promote, demote, layoff and recall employees;

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 11 of 230



§146469.1

(L)
(M)

(N)
(0)

(P)
(Q)

(R)
(S)
(M
(U)

(V)
(W)

(X)

(Y)

(2)

To counsel, reprimand, suspend, discharge or otherwise
discipline employees for cause;

To schedule working hours and assign work;

To establish, modify or change work schedules or standards;
To establish, assess and implement employee performance
standards, including, but not limited to, quality and quantity
standards, the assessment of employee performances; and
the procedures for said assessment;

To determine the size and composition of the work force;

To determine policy and procedures affecting the selection or
training of employees;

To schedule the operation of and to determine the number
and duration of shifts;

To transfer work from one job to another or from one
location to another;

To introduce new, improved or different methods of
operations or to change existing methods;

To lay off employees from duty for lack of work or lack of
funds. Prior to laying off any employees in a classification,
the District shall first cancel any contracts with a contractor
to the extent that the contractor is substantially performing
work required in the job description of the classification
subject to layoff and to the extent such cancellation is lawful;
To establish and determine job classifications, descriptions,
requirements and salaries;

To promulgate, modify and enforce work and safety rules
and regulations;

To take such other and further action as may be necessary to
organize and operate the District in the most efficient and
economical manner and in the best interest of the public it
serves;

To contract or subcontract construction, services,
maintenance, distribution or any other work with outside
public or private entities. However, the District recognizes
its obligation to meet and confer upon request prior to such
contracting out as to the impact of such decisions. However,
the District shall have no obligation to meet and confer with
the Union prior to hiring temporary employees to perform
bargaining unit work, from a temporary agency or otherwise,
regarding its decision to hire temporary employees or its
impacts on bargaining unit members. The Union specifically
waives such meet and confer obligation; and

If the exercise of these rights affects wages, hours or terms
and conditions of employment, the District may act to
exercise its rights but will notify the Union no less than
fourteen (14) calendar days (except in cases of emergency)

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 12 of 230



prior to implementation, and meet and confer on the effects
of its actions.

ARTICLE 7. DEFINITIONS

8146469 1

For purposes of this MOU, the following definitions shall apply:

(A) DISTRICT - This shall mean the Joshua Basin Water District.

(B) BOARD OF DIRECTORS - This shall mean the Board of
Directors of the District.

(C) HUMAN RESOURCES- Means the Director of Administration of
the District, or the District’s duly appointed designee.

(D) FULL-TIME EMPLOYEE - This shall mean all employees

employed by the District for employment on a regular basis
of forty hours per week and paid by the hour or by the
month, and who have successfully completed their
probationary period.

(E) PART-TIME EMPLOYEE - This shall mean all employees
employed by the District for employment on a regular basis
for less than forty hours per week and paid by the hour or by
the day, and who have successfully completed their
probationary period.

(F) TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE - This shall mean any employee
employed by the District for a period of time not-to-exceed
six months on the job for full-time employment or not to
exceed 999 hours or 125 working days in a fiscal year and
are paid by the hour or by the day. Extension beyond 999
hours or 125 working days will require mutual agreement of
the District and the Union. Temporary employees do not
obtain any property rights in the temporary position they are
filling.

(G) DELEGATION OF RESPONSIBILITY BY THE GENERAL
MANAGER - This shall mean that in the absence of the
General Manager, his designated representative shall act in
his behalf.

(H) SUPERVISOR - This shall mean the Distribution Supervisor
for distribution and capital improvement replacement
program (CIRP) employees, the Production Supervisor for
production employees, the Director of Administration for the
administrative and customer service employees, and
Assistant General Manager-Controller for finance employees.

(D DEPARTMENT MANAGER - This shall mean the Assistant
General Manager - Operations for distribution, production,
and CIRP employees, and Assistant General Manager -
Controller for the finance employees, and the Director of

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 13 of 230



Administration for the administrative and customer service
employees.

(3) GENERAL UNIT - This shall mean the employees represented
by AFSCME Local 1902 and subject to this MOU in the
classifications listed in Article 7.1.

(K) REGULAR EMPLOYEE - This shall mean a full-time or part-
time employee who has successfully passed probation.
(L) ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEE — This shall mean a full-time, non-

temporary employee, whether having passed probation or
not, beginning the first of the month foliowing 30 days after
employment.

(M) EMPLOYEE RELATIONS OFFICER - The Employee Relations
Officer will be the District’s primary point of contact for the
Union regarding administration of this MOU and related
activities such as the filing of grievances. This shall mean
the Director of Administration unless otherwise appointed by
the General Manager.

(N) BREAK IN SERVICE - A break in service is defined as any
separation from employment status for more than 120 days.
Absence for military recall is not a break in service.

(0) Y-RATING - Y-Rating is defined as freezing an employee at
their current salary. These employees are not eligible for
any pay increase until their next performance evaluation of
Excellent or better.

(A) ALPHABETICAL LISTING OF GENERAL UNIT CLASSIFICATIONS

Accounting Technician

Accounts Receivable Technician
Construction & Maintenance I
Construction & Maintenance 11
Customer Service Representative
Laborer

Lead Construction & Maintenance
Lead Customer Service Representative
Lead Equipment Operator

Lead Water Production Operator
Pipelayer I

Pipelayer 11

Field Service Technician

Office Assistant

Operations Technician

Water Production Operator I
Water Production Operator I
Water Quality Specialist

81464691

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 14 of 230



ARTICLE 8. RECRUITING AND SELECTION

The following steps govern the General Unit recruiting and selection
process:

1. Upon a position being vacated, if it is determined that the
position will be filled, the General Manager will determine, based
on consultation with the Department Manager/Supervisor,
whether the position will be filled by a regular or temporary
employee and/or on a full or part-time basis.

2. If the General Manager has determined that a position will be
filled with a regular employee, the District will post the job
opening for a period of five (5) business days via email
announcement._Employees who are interested must apply
through the regular process as outlined in Article 8 A-
Promotional and Transfer Opportunities. The District may, but
need not, advertise an open position outside the District.

3. Also at the District’s sole discretion, it may use an outside
temporary employment agency to fill an open position
temporarily not to exceed 999 hours per fiscal year. If the
District uses an outside employment agency to fill an open
position temporarily, subsection 2 shall not apply.

4. All qualified internal candidates will be scheduled for testing
and/or an interview.

(A) PROMOTIONAL AND TRANSFER OPPORTUNITIES

The District supports internal promotions or transfers whenever possible and
practicable. Current employees in good standing, who meet the
qualifications and eligibility requirements below may apply.

If the General Manager has determined that a position will be filled with a
regular empioyee, the District will post the job opening internally for a
period five (5) business days via email announcement.

a) Employees may apply for any posted position as long as they meet the
following eligibility requirements:

1. Most recent performance evaluation overall rating must be “Meets
Expectations” or above.

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 15 of 230



2. Meet the minimum qualifications as stated in the job description.
3. Have not been subject to disciplinary action in the last 12 months,

b) Exceptions to these eligibility requirements must be reviewed and
approved by the general manager.

c) Employees must submit the standard job application on or before the
closing date. All qualified internal candidates will be scheduled for testing
and/or interview. Supervisor approval is not required to submit an
application if the employee meets all eligibility requirements.

d) Promotion means to be appointed regularly to a position with a salary

range that exceeds the salary range of the existing position. Employees who
are promoted into a new position shall receive a salary increase to the next

highest step in the new classification that is at least 5% above their current

salary.

e) Promoted or transferred employees must complete a (6) six-month
probationary period and may be extended one time by mutual agreement of
the District and the employee for up to an additional six months. If an
employee is unsuccessful, a (6) six-month break shall apply before an
employee is eligible to reapply for other opportunities. At any time during
the probationary period, an employee may be returned to their previous
position without due process; and the employee will be provided an
explanation for the return to their original position.

f) Promotions and transfers shall typically take effect within two weeks
and generally no later than four weeks after an employee’s acceptance. The
first date of the status change shall commence at the beginning of a pay
period. Factors such as the urgency to fill the position, status of the
employee’s present workload, and difficulty in filling the employee’s present
position are to be considered in determining the effective date.

g) Typically, the employee’s salary will not change due to transfer unless
the position is considered a promotional transfer, in which case the
employee will be eligible to receive a promotional salary increase.

ARTICLE 9. EMPLOYMENT OF RELATIVES
(A) ANTI-NEPOTISM

The District shall not employ any person who is a close family relative
of another District employee except with the express written authority of the
General Manager. The purpose of this provision is to promote public
confidence in the integrity and efficiency of the District's forces, to promote
consistent and equitable treatment of District employees, to prevent

§146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 16 of 230



breaches in confidentiality, and to prevent favoritism and the perception of
favoritism.

(B) CLOSE FAMILY RELATIVE DEFINED

Close family relatives include; Spouses, Parents, Children, Brothers,
Sisters, Adopted Children, Grandparents, Grandchildren, Aunts, Uncles,
Cousins, Mothers-in-law, Fathers-in-law, Brothers-in-law, Sisters-in-law,
Step Children and Step Parents.

(C) EXISTING EMPLOYEES

This provision shall also apply to District employees who become
related by marriage after the effective date of this MOU.

ARTICLE 10. PROBATION

(A) INITIAL PROBATIONARY PERIOD

1. Original appointments shall be subject to a probationary period of nine
(9) months of actual and continuous service.

2. All transfers or promotions to a higher classification shall be subject to
a probationary period of six (6) months of actual and continuous service.

Probationary periods end on the first day of the pay period following the
expiration of the probationary period. The probationary period can be
extended by the District at the discretion of the General Manager or his/her
designee.

Absence without pay, sick leave, short-term and long-term disability and
Worker's Compensation leave do not provide an opportunity to judge an
employee's capability to meet performance expectations for a position, and
thus the time spent on such leaves will not be included towards completion
of the probationary period and will result in an extension equal to the
duration of the absence. A probationary employee is an at-will employee
during the term of their probation and may be released during, up to and
through the end of the last day of the ninth month, or later if extended
pursuant to this Article at the discretion of the District. Recourse to the
Grievance Procedure shall be limited to failure to properly caiculate
extension periods. Upon successfully completing the probationary period, the
employee shall be eligible for his/her first merit increase.

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 17 of 230



(B) REHIRE PROBATIONARY PERIOD

Employees who are rehired following a break in service must complete a new
probationary period whether or not one was previously completed. An
employee may be released during their Probationary Period at the discretion
of the District. Recourse to the Grievance Procedure shall be limited to
failure to properly calculate extension periods.

ARTICLE 11. HOURS OF WORK

Working hours and meal break periods of all personnel will be set by
the General Manager. The FLSA designated work week begins at 12:00 a.m.
on Saturday and ends at 11:59 a.m. on the following Friday.

(A) CONVENTIONAL WORK SCHEDULE (5/8’s)

The conventional work schedule for full-time employees shall be forty hours
over five consecutive workdays per week. The conventional workday shall be
eight hours of work in a workday. Hours of work are dependent upon
department and operational needs, not all positions are eligible for the
conventional work week schedule.

(B) FOUR-TEN (4/10) ALTERNATE WORK SCHEDULE

The 4/10 alternate work schedule may be implemented for employees in the
general unit staff classifications at the discretion of the General Manager.

. Normally, administrative/office employee’s 4/10 workweek hours are
Monday through Thursday from 7:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m.

. Normally, fieid operations employee’s 4/10 workweek hours are
Monday through Thursday 6:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.

MEAL PERIODS

A non-compensated meal period will be provided to employees who work at
least a five-hour workday. Employees are responsible for taking their meal
period at a time designated by the supervisor. The length of the meal period
will depend on the work schedule (5/8 or 4/10), department needs, and/or
operational needs.

. Normally, employees on the 5/8 work schedule are entitled to a 30-
minute or one (1) hour non-compensated meal break.

. Normally, employees on the 4/10 work schedule are entitled to a 30-
minute non-compensated meal break.
81464691

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 18 of 230



REST PERIODS

A 15-minute compensated rest period will be provided to all overtime-
eligible employees for each four-hour period of service. The rest period shall
be taken at a time designated by the employee’s supervisor. Rest periods
may not be combined to shorten the workday or to extend the meal period.

ARTICLE 12. PAYDAYS

All employees will be paid every other week on Friday, except when
these dates fall on a holiday. When this occurs, payment will be made on
the preceding business day. The biweekly payroll covers work performed
during the two weeks ended on the preceding Friday.

Any change to a payroll withholding item, including but not limited to
changes to an employee’s W-4 form, other withholding and/or contributions
to the District’s 457 Plan submitted to the District before the end of one
payroll period will be effective the start of the next payroll.

ARTICLE 13. STAND-BY TIME

(A) One field employee will work the standby shift (the Stand-By
Person), on a rotating basis. Standby duty is required of all field
employees. The Standby Person must be available to assist
customers, attend to wells, reservoirs, or any other District
property for cail back at any time. The General Manager may
authorize an employee to be on Secondary Stand-By. The
Secondary Stand-By employee will be back up for the Primary
Stand-By person.

(B) A stand-by shift shall be defined as beginning at 12:00 p.m. on
Tuesday and shall continue for 7 consecutive days. The
employee on stand-by duty shall be available, by way of their
home phone, cell phone, District radio and/or the paging device
furnished by the District, for any emergency call out that might
arise during the hours of their stand-by shift. The employee on
stand-by duty shall be compensated at the rate of one hour of
straight-time pay per day Monday-Thursday and three hours of
straight-time pay per day on Friday, Saturday and Sunday for
the primary stand-by duty and for secondary stand-by duty for
each day the employee completes on stand-by. Either the
primary or secondary standby employee will perform telemetry
duties. An employee who uses sick leave during their stand-by
shift shall not receive stand-by pay for that day. Failure to be

81464691

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 19 of 230



8146469 1

(9

(D)

contacted and/or failure to respond to a call-out will be the
subject of disciplinary action by the District up to and including
termination after progressive discipline has been implemented.
No employee shall be subject to discipline for failure to respond
in the event of a Bona-fide illness or a family emergency. A
stand-by employee may be required to inspect equipment on
Saturdays, Sundays and District holidays. In addition to the
stand-by pay, the stand-by employee shall be paid for his or her
actual time spent in performing those inspections at time and
one-half the regular rate of pay. The employee shall put this
time on his or her timecard. If an employee serves a call-back
period during the same timeframe, the inspection overtime work
will apply toward the unused call-back period and not be paid in
addition. If the inspection overtime work exceeds the call-back
period, additional overtime will be paid. If the inspection
overtime work occurs on a holiday, the overtime work will be
applied against Standby Holiday Pay (see Article 15) to the
extent that the Standby Holiday Pay is NOT consumed by call-
backs.

Standby duty assignment will be established by the Director of
Water Resources and Operations on an equal, rotating basis. If
an employee is unable to perform his assigned standby duty, he
shall find a qualified replacement and notify the Director of
Water Resources and Operations or other Supervisor if the
Director of Water Resources and Operations is unavailable.
Should he be unable to find a replacement, and is physically able
to perform the duty, then the employee shall perform his
assigned stand-by duty. An employee who does not report for
work due to illness (except to attend normal doctor or dental
appointments) shall not be allowed to serve standby duty until
after their next regularly scheduled shift. Geographic
unavailability and/or being under the influence of a mind-altering
substance will not be a valid excuse for failure to perform an
assigned standby duty. Should he be physically unable to
perform the stand-by duty, the Director of Water Resources and
Operations shall find a qualified replacement. Refusal to perform
assigned stand-by duties is cause for disciplinary action up to
and including termination.

At the District’s discretion, an employee on stand-by status may
be allowed to take home a suitable equipped District vehicle. An
employee on stand-by with a District vehicle may conduct
personal business along the route between work and home.
Alcoholic beverages may not be consumed in District vehicles.

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 20 of 230



ARTICLE 14. CALL BACK

Call back refers to the time an employee is called upon to perform
work (either by physically reporting to a work site or performing work by
computer) after having left the District’s facilities at the end of their regular
workday. Employees are entitied to call back pay as set forth in this Article
if they worked the full day preceding the call back or were on a full workday
of paid leave or combination thereof or were otherwise not scheduled that
day. This time shall be paid at 1 1/2 times the regular hourly rate for the
actual time worked, with a minimum of two hours pay, if the call back
requires a response in excess of a telephone call, e-mail, or other electronic
response (e.g., telemetry operator response to alarm). If the call back
involves only a telephone call, e-mail, or other electronic response, the
employee shall be paid for his/her actual time responding to the telephone
call, e-mail or other electronic response. If more than one cali back is
received during the minimum call back period and the additional call{s} can
be completed within the minimum call back period, an employee will only be
compensated for one minimum call back period. The District retains the right
to require the employee to remain at work and perform other duties if the
work they are called back to perform is completed in less than the
guaranteed two hours. Once contacted, refusal to perform call back
services, unless the employee is physically, geographically or legally
incapable, is cause for disciplinary action up to and including termination.

The call back pay is in addition to the standby pay and overtime pay
for performing inspections on weekends and holidays, as described in Article
13.

Employees shall wear a uniform when responding to call outs for ease
of identification from outside the vehicle.

ARTICLE 15. HOLIDAY PAY

Employees who are required to work on a Holiday, will receive
compensation at 12 times the regular hourly rate in addition to their regular
pay for actual hours worked (22 times the regular hourly rate).

An employee who serves Standby on a holiday receives eight (8) hours
of overtime in addition to their regular pay for the holiday {2V2 times the
regular hourly rate). This compensation is intended to provide advance
consideration of four minimum call back periods. Any time spent performing
work in excess of 4 call back periods on a holiday will be compensated at 22
times the regular hourly rate. The Standby holiday pay provision applies to
employees whose Standby shift starts or ends on a District observed holiday.

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 21 of 230



ARTICLE 16. OVERTIME PAY: NON-EXEMPT EMPLOYEES

Employees working a conventional schedule as defined in Article
11(A), will be compensated at 1% times their regular hourly rate after eight
(8) hours per day, and 2 times the regular hourly rate of pay after twelve
(12) hours per day.

Employees on the alternate 4/10 schedule as defined in Article 11(B)
will be compensated at 1% their regular hourly rate after ten (10) hours per
day and two (2) times their regular hourly rate after twelve hours per day.

Such overtime payments shall serve as an offset against overtime due
for exceeding forty (40) hours of work in a seven (7) day workweek. For
example, if an employee works two hours of overtime on Monday, and works
his/her regular shift the rest of the week, the employee will have worked 42
hours in that workweek. The employee is not entitled to receive another two
hours of overtime pay for exceeding 40 in a workweek, as the employee was
already compensated by the overtime pay for Monday's overtime.

An employee must have prior supervisory approval to work any
overtime. Employees shall not be permitted to work on their own initiative
before or after scheduled working hours or during non-paid meal periods or
breaks without prior approval of the supervisor. The only exceptions to this
requirement is the field person assigned to stand-by duty, emergencies, and
where prudent for operational efficiencies. In these instances, the employee
will attempt to obtain approval from the supervisor in advance, or if unable,
will advise the supervisor no later than the next day. All employees must
complete and sign a daily time sheet reflecting actual hours worked each
day, including overtime. The time sheet must be verified and signed by the
employee’s supervisor.

For purposes of this article, a “day” shall be the 24-hour period
beginning at the start of the employee’s regularly scheduled shift.

ARTICLE 17. SALARIES AND SALARY RANGES
(A) SALARIES

Effective with first full pay period starting after ratification of this MOU
by the District’'s Board of Directors, all classifications subject to this MOU
shall receive a cost of living increase for all steps equal to 3.25%.

Effective with the first full pay period starting July 1, 2020, ali
classifications subject to this MOU shall receive a cost of living increase for
all steps equal to 2.5%.

8146469 1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 22 of 230



The District at its discretion may delete lower steps providing no
employee currently occupies the step.

Revised wage rates and ranges pursuant to this Article for each
classification covered by this MOU will be generated by the District yearly
when adjustments are required under this MOU. Employees will be placed in
their salary ranges according to their job classification. The wage rates and
ranges pursuant to this Article, reflecting the salaries in effect at ratification
of this MOU after the adjustments required at ratification, are set forth in
Attachment 1.

Employees will continue to be eligible for merit increase as stated in
Article 19.

(B) SAFETY BOOT ALLOWANCE FOR FIELD EMPLOYEES

Field employees are required to wear lace-up (no pull-on or zipper insert)
protective footwear with a minimum ankle support of five inches
while performing normal District activities. In addition, protective
footwear must meet the requirements of the American National
Standards (ANSI) standards: ASTM F2412-2005, ASTM F 2413-
2005 as referenced by the Occupational Safety and Health Act
(OSHA).

The District will provide a boot allowance up to $225.00 per calendar year
for the following classifications: Construction & Maintenance I,
I, Lead; Field Service Technician; Water Production Operator I,
I1, Lead, CIRP Laborer, CIRP Piplelayer I/II, CIRP Lead
Equipment Operator.

Under certain conditions where protective footwear is damaged or is deemed
to be unsafe, and the employee has already exhausted his/her
annual boot allowance, the supervisor/manager, with the
concurrence of the General Manager, may authorize
reimbursement for an additional pair of protective footwear up to
the amount of the annual boot allowance or the actual costs of
the footwear, whichever is less.

Employee responsibility: Except under the circumstance described above,
the employee will be responsible for the difference between the
cost of the protective footwear and the amount of the annual
boot allowance.

The employee will be responsible for wearing protective footwear during
8i46469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 23 of 230



working hours.

The employee will be responsible for the reasonable care and maintenance
of his or her protective footwear.

The employee will be responsible for informing the supervisor when
protective footwear needs to be replaced.

When safety boots are not billed directly to the District, but rather the
employee incurred the expense, the employee must complete a
reimbursement form. The reimbursement form and original
receipt of purchase must be submitted to their immediate
supervisor within 30 days of purchase.

(C) UNIFORMS

The District provides non-safety uniforms to field employees in
the following classifications (Construction & Maintenance I, II,
Lead; Field Service Technician; Water Production Operator I, 1I,
Lead, CIRP Pipelayer 1/11I, CIRP Lead Equipment Operator). The
value of the uniforms at the time this MOU was ratified has been
determined to be equal to an average of $600.00 per calendar
year, which is equal to $23.08 per pay period. That amount is
taxable income to the employees in the above classifications.

ARTICLE 18. RECLASSIFICATIONS

The District may conduct classification studies at its discretion to
ensure that the duties and responsibilities of all employees are appropriately
allocated within the classification structure. Reclassification of current
positions shall be subject to meet and confer with the Union. Payrate
changes to reclassified positions shall be subject to mutual agreement.
Employees working out of class pursuant to Article 20 shall not be
considered reclassified for purposes of Article 18.

ARTICLE 19. PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS

The General Manager will prescribe and implement a system for assessing
the work performance of employees. The performance appraisal process
provides a means for discussing, planning, and reviewing the performance of
each employee. Performance appraisals are considered in granting merit
increases, promotions, transfers, demotions, discharges, and other
disciplinary actions. It is critical that supervisors are objective in conducting
performance reviews and in assigning overall performance ratings.

8146468.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 24 of 230



Performance Evaluation Intervals
Regular Employees

. All regular employees will receive an annual performance evaluation
annually within one-week (before or after) January 31st.
Probationary Employees

. Initial probationary employees will participate an informal performance
evaluation meeting with their supervisor/manager upon the third (3rd) and
sixth (6th) month subsequent to the date of hire.

. Initial probationary employees will receive a formal performance
evaluation nine (9) months subsequent to the date of hire.

. Initial probationary employees who successfully complete their
probation, shall convert to the January 31st review date upon completion of
the probationary period.

. Promoted or transferred employees will receive a formal performance
evaluation six (6) months after the promotion or transfer date and shall
convert to the January 31 review date upon competition of the probationary
period.

Performance Evaluation Meeting

The supervisor/manager will meet with the employee to discuss the
performance evaluation. The employee shall sign the formal performance
evaluation to acknowledge its contents and that they have met with their
supervisor/manager to discuss the evaluation. The employee’s signature
shall not mean that he or she endorses the contents of the evaluation.

The employee may comment on the evaluation in a written statement, which
will then be placed with the evaluation in the employee’s personnel file. The
written statement must be submitted within ten (10) working days after the
employee receives the evaluation.

A request for reconsideration of the evaluation may be made utilizing steps
one and two of the Grievance Procedure in Article 26. Steps three and four
of Article 26's Grievance Procedure shall not be applicable to performance
evaluations. An employee does not have the right to appeal.

Any employee receiving a "Not Meeting Expectations” rating will be given a
time period of ninety (90) days to bring their performance up to a “Meets
Expectations” level or they will be subject to further discipiinary action up to
and including termination.

£146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 25 of 230



Performance Evaluation Merit Increases

Any merit increases awarded as part of a performance evaluation will take
effect on the first pay period following January 31st, or, if applicable, the
date of the completion of their probationary period.

Merit Increases shall be as follows:
Exceeds Expectations: 2-Step Increase
Meets Expectations: 1-Step Increase
Not Meeting Expectations: No Increase

ARTICLE 20. WORKING OUT OF CLASS

(A) SHORT TERM, TEMPORARY OR EMERGENCY ASSIGNMENTS

No employee shall be required to perform duties, more than 50% of
their working time, which are not related both in kind of work and level of
responsibility to duties formally assigned in his or her job description without
additional compensation as set forth in this section, except on a short term
basis or temporary or emergency basis. For purposes of this section, "short
term or temporary or emergency basis" means 25 consecutive working days.
After the 25% consecutive working day, the employee shall prospectively
receive the minimum salary of the other class or a 5% differential,
whichever is greater, for the duration of the assignment. If the 5%
differential will result in the employee not being on a step on the salary
range for the out of class position, the employee will be placed in the next
highest step. No such assignment shall exceed six months, unless the
District and the Union agree. Documentation that the employee has been in
such short term, temporary or emergency assignments shall be kept
including time sheet notations approved by the General Manager or his/her
designee.

(B) OTHER TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS

An employee may be temporarily assigned to an open position in a job
description higher than the position he or she occupies, other than on a
short term or temporary or emergency basis, only by written authorization
from the General Manager. The employee so assigned shall be granted a
temporary salary increase of no less than the minimum salary level of that
position, or five percent (5%) whichever is greater, for the duration of the
temporary reclassification. No such temporary reclassification shall exceed
six (6) months, unless the District and the Union agree. No employee will be
8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 26 of 230



18

classified as working out of class unless such assignment is confirmed in
writing by the General Manager. Such written authorization shall include the
estimated term of such temporary reclassification and the temporary salary
increase granted.

In the absence of any written authorization from the General Manager
that the employee has been approved to be temporarily assigned to another
position, such employee shall serve in that higher position only on a short-
term or temporary or emergency basis, and shall not be entitled to any
higher salary or other benefits of the higher position. The position vacated
by the employee who is temporarily reclassified shall not be permanently
refilled until the temporarily reclassified employee either is permanently
appointed to the new position or returned to his or her prior position.

Any employee voluntarily working out of class for a period in excess of
the limits specified herein shall promptly inform the supervisor or
department head, who shall inform the General Manager of such work out of
class. Any employee who is directed to continue to work out of class by
their supervisor without the General Manager’s authorization shall
immediately inform the General Manager, and shall suffer no retaliatory act
against them for providing such information. Any employee who thereafter
still continues to work out of class in excess of the term specifically
authorized in writing by the General Manager, shall incur no rights to any
continued temporary salary increase or other benefits of the higher position,
and the District shall incur no liability or obligation to such employee.

ARTICLE 21. EMPLOYEE INSURANCE BENEFITS
(A) HEALTH INSURANCE

Group Health Insurance

The District provides group medical, dental, and vision insurance for regular
full-time employees and their eligible dependents. Coverage shall begin on
the first day of the month following one month of continuous employment.
The District shall contribute toward the monthly premiums for medical,
dental, and vision plans for the employee and their eligible dependents,
subject to a monthly cap. The employee is responsible for any costs above
the monthly cap.

Eligibility must be proven to enroll dependents (i.e., birth certificate,
marriage license, etc.). It is mandatory to report changes in dependent
status within thirty (30) days of the event (such as adding a dependent(s)
due to birth or adoption of a child, adding a spouse, or deleting a dependent
due to divorce or death).

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 27 of 230



19

Any employee who is regularly scheduled to work less than forty (40) hours
per week is not eligible for a District contribution or to enroll in group health
benefits.

Health Plans

To learn more about the District health plans, review the Summary of
Benefits and Coverage (SBC) documents available from Human Resources.
Each employee is encouraged to review SBC’s before selecting their health
plans.

The District provides health plans through participation in ACWA JPIA. Any
changes made by ACWA JPIA or changes to the plans themselves are not
subject to negotiation between the District and the Union.

The District agrees to maintain the ACWA JPIA health insurance program
and all other insurance products currently offered for the duration of this
MOU to the extent they continue to be offered by the carrier.

The District shall meet and confer with the Union prior to replacing any
health insurance program with another product (i.e. ACWA JPIA to CalPERS,
Colonial to AFLAC, etc.).

Medical Enroliment

Eligible employees may choose from available medical plans offered.

All regular full-time employees shall be enrolled in a District provided
medical insurance at a minimum employee level. Dependent coverage is
optional.

Dental Enrollment

All regular full-time employees shall be enrolled in the District provided
dental insurance at the minimum employee level. Dependent coverage is
optional.

Vision Enrollment

All regular full-time employees and all their eligible dependents shall
be enrolled in the District provided vision insurance plan.

District Contribution for Group Health Insurance

Tier I - Employee’s Hired before January 1, 2017

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 28 of 230



[N

The District shall contribute toward the group medical, dental, and
vision premiums, up to a maximum monthly cap of $1800.

Employee’s hired prior to January 1, 2017 are entitled to receive
cashback on any unused portion of the monthly contribution cap that is not
used by the required enrollment in medical, dental, and vision plans. The
cashback will be paid as an addition to the employee’s paycheck, in
accordance with the District’s normal pay schedule, and will be recorded as
taxable (non-PERS) income.

Tier II — Employee’s hired between January 1, 2017 - September 3,
2019 and were enrolled in voluntary insurance products during the
2016-2019 MOU.

The District shall contribute toward the group medical, dental, and
vision premiums, up to a maximum monthly cap of $1800. Employee’s in
Tier II are entitled to use the unused portion of the monthly contribution cap
that is not used by the required enrollment in medical, dental, and vision
plans to purchase any insurance products offered by the District (example:
voluntary Colonial products).

Employee’s hired after January 1, 2017, are not entitled to receive
cashback on any unused portion of the monthly contribution cap that is not
used by the required enrollment in medical, dental, and vision plans, or the
enrollment in voluntary insurance products.

Tier III - Employee’s Hired after to January 1, 2017

The District shall contribute and pay 100% toward group medical,
dental, and vision premiums for the employee and their eligible dependents,
subject to a monthly cap. The monthly cap shall be calculated utilizing the
monthly premiums for the group medical Kaiser HMO with Chiro Family Plan,
3307 Delta Dental Family Plan, and 4029 VSP Composite Plan.

Employee’s hired after January 1, 2017, are not entitled to receive
cashback on any unused portion of the monthly contribution cap that is not
used by the required enrollment in medical, dental, and vision plans.

During open enrollment or qualifying event (the plan administrator
must receive notification of the qualifying event within 30 days of the
qualifying event), Tier I or Il employees may opt to convert to the Tier III
provisions to obtain the benefit contributions available in Tier III. Tier I or II
employees who opt into Tier III, cannot revert to their former Tier following
the conversion.

Contribution Proration (if applicable)

8146469 1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 29 of 230



Any full-time regular employee who earns less than forty (40) paid
hours per week, shall receive the applicable contribution prorated (i.e., the
number of paid hours per week will be compared to forty (40) hours per
week to determine the basis of proration). Proration may subject the
employee to an increased share of cost in the health premiums depending
upon the employees selected plans and Tier level.

(B) Long-Term Disability Insurance

The District provides and pays 100% of the premium for long-term disability
insurance for regular full-time employees.

Eligible Employees: Regular full-time employees.

Waiting Period: The employee willi be enrolled in the LTD program the first of
the month following 30 days of continuous employment.

Benefits Provided: Long term disability insurance provides you with income
protection if your disability continues beyond the 90-day elimination period.
Check the policy for detailed information. Note these benefits are taxable.
Any overpayment of benefits will require reimbursement. This long-term
disability plan may be restrictive to income from other sources. Check the
policy for further information.

Benefit Percentage: 60% percentage of a person’s income insured for
benefit. (Example: Employee earns $5,000 per month and receives 60% of
this amount in a disability benefit $5,000 x .60% = $3,000 monthly benefit.)

Benefit Period: Most LTD policies pay benefits until normal retirement age-
provided the claimant continues to meet the definition of disability.

Employee Contribution: None.
Employer Contribution: Total cost for the employee.

Where to File Claims: As provided by the carrier or see the Director of
Administration.

(C) LIFEINSURANCE

Full-time Eligible Employees are eligible to purchase coverage under a
group life insurance policy in excess of the coverage provided by the District.
Eligibility begins on the first day of the month following the end of the first
month of employment with the District. The District paid premium provides
a policy per employee equal to twice their base salary, subject to maximum

B146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 30 of 230



coverage equal to $150,000 without medical testing. Life insurance
coverage shall be adjusted prospectively for all employees on an annual
basis at one time to reflect changes in base salary over the prior year. The
District shall have no obligation to adjust life insurance levels for individual
employees prior to this time to reflect changes in their personal
compensation level. Employees may also purchase life insurance for their
spouse and dependents, subject to insurability. The insurer shall require a
medical exam and/or testing if the twice the employee’s salary is greater
than $150,000. If the employee passes the medical exam and testing to the
insurer’s requirements, the District shall pay the additional premium.

(D) UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE

Unemployment Insurance coverage is paid for by the District. To
apply for benefits or to determine eligibility, employees should contact their
nearest Employment Development Department Office.

(E) CALPERS

The District has contracted with the California Public Employees’
Retirement System (CalPERS) to provide retirement benefits for the
District's employees. The District shall provide the 2% @ 55 benefit,
prospectively, with no prior service credit for those employees that do not
qualify as "new members” under the California Public Employees’ Pension
Reform Act of 2013 ("PEPRA"). For new members, the formula shall be
2% @62 and new member retirement benefits will be subject to all the
provisions of PEPRA.

(F) DEFERRED COMPENSATION/457 PLAN

The District shall continue to provide a voluntary deferred
compensation 457 plan to Eligible Employees. Effective with the first full pay
period after January 2020, the District shall make a matching contribution
equal to 25% of the employee’s contribution, not to exceed $1000.00 per
calendar year. (Example - employee contributes $2,000.00 to the deferred
compensation/457 Plan between January 1-December 31. The District shall
be obligated to pay 25% of $2,000.00 ($500.00) into the employee’s
account). The District shall make its contribution at the end of the calendar
year.,

Upon retirement or termination employees may choose to withdraw
the money from their account, but penalties may apply based on their age,
etc. Employees will be provided with the name of the individual
administering the deferred compensation plan on the District’s behalf upon
request.

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 31 of 230



Employees may request withdrawal of deferred compensation funds
due to “unforeseeable emergencies”. Each request for withdrawal of funds
shall be considered on a case-by-case basis. The General Manager will
review the details surrounding the request and after consultation with the
District’s auditors, the deferred compensation plan administrator, the IRS,
and/or other similar experts, shall approve or disapprove the request for
withdrawal.

ARTICLE 22.  TIME OFF BENEFITS
(A) VACATIONS

The General Manager shall ascertain and record the accounting
procedures for attendance and leaves. Where deviations occur from such
records, the final decision will be subject to the approval of the General
Manager.

The District encourages and shall require each full-time employee who
has been employed for one year from date of hire to take an annual vacation
(a minimum of 5 consecutive days) as paid time off away from work, which
is accrued from their hire date. Vacation leaves must be approved by the
employee’s supervisor. The employee’s supervisor shall determine the
number of employees who may be on vacation at any one time. Full-time
employees accrue vacation in accordance with the following schedule:

Employees hired prior to November 1, 2000
Years 1 through 4 80 hours
Years 5 through 10 120 hours
Years 11 through 15 160 hours
Years 16 through 20 8 extra hours for each year over 15 years with
a maximum of 200 hours

Employees hired after November 1, 2000

Years 1 through 4 80 hours
Years 5 through 10 120 hours
Years 11 and up 160 hours

Vacation leave accruals are credited as they are earned each pay
period and may not be used until after the pay period in which they are
earned.

Employees may retain a balance of vacation leave at any one time
equal to 2 years of their annual accrual rate. Once employees reach their
accrual limit, they will not accrue any more vacation time until their balance
drops below the limit.

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 32 of 230



A change in the rate of annual vacation leave accrual shall take effect
in the pay period following the anniversary date of the employee. No annual
vacation leave shall accrue for fractional parts of semi-monthly pay periods
falling at the beginning or end of a period of service. At the time the
employee leaves employment with the District, he or she will be paid any
unused credited vacation at the employee’s then current rate of pay at the
time of leaving such employment.

Vacation leave may be used by an employee as vacation and/or sick
leave. Vacation will, so far as practicable, be granted at the time desired by
the employee. However, the District will schedule vacations to assure
orderly operation of the District. If any conflict should arise where two or
more employees request the same time period for vacation, seniority will be
the determining factor in granting vacations in order of preference.

In the event one or more approved holidays falls within an annual
vacation leave, such holidays will not be charged as vacation leave, and the
vacation leave will be extended accordingly.

If an employee becomes ill or injured while on vacation leave, the time
may be charged to sick leave with approval of the Generai Manager;
however, an employee must submit a doctor’s certificate in accordance with
Section (c¢) of this Article,

Although all employees are encouraged to use their accrued vacation, an
employee may be granted compensation in lieu of vacation at full pay with
the approval of the General Manager.

All of the following terms must be satisfied in order to qualify for
compensation in lieu:

J Compensation in lieu may be granted one (1) time per calendar year.
Under special circumstances such as an unforeseen emergency, a second
request in a calendar year may be granted, with approval from the General
Manager. No more than two (2) per calendar year is permitted.

. The employee must have taken forty (40) hours paid vacation within
the preceding twelve months of the request; and
. At least forty (40) hours of vacation accruals remain in the employee’s

vacation account balance after the compensation in lieu is deducted from the
accrual balance.

Approved compensation-lieu hours will be deducted from the employee’s
vacation accruals.

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 33 of 230



(B) HOLIDAYS

Employees shall receive the following 13 holidays with pay of a day’s
pay (depending on the length of their regularly scheduled shift on the day
the holiday is observed by the District) subject to Article 15, Holiday Pay:

New Year’'s Day January 1

President’s Day Third Monday in February
Memorial Day Last Monday in May
Independence Day July 4

Labor Day First Monday in September
Veteran’s Day November 11
Thanksgiving Day Fourth Thursday in November
Christmas Eve Day December 24

Christmas December 25

New Years Eve Day December 31

Three Floating Holidays Discretion of employee

If a holiday falls on a Sunday, the Monday following shall be treated as
the holiday. If a holiday falls on a Friday or Saturday, the preceding workday
shall be treated as the holiday.

The Floating Holidays may be used in a minimum of one-quarter (1/4)
hour increments. Floating Holidays may be taken at the discretion of the
employee, but he must have the prior approval of the supervisor, subject to
the same criteria as used to approve vacation requests. These holidays are
not accumulative and shall not be carried over to the subsequent calendar
year. However, employees who have unused floating holidays as of
December 31, may cash out unused floating holidays in January of the next
year, but may not take them as days off. No more than two employees in a
particular department may take a floating holiday at concurrent times.

New full-time employees who start work for the District prior to July 1
shall accrue three (3) floating holidays for that calendar year. New full-time
employees who start work after July 1 shall accrue 1-1/2 floating holidays in
their first calendar year and three (3) holidays in the following calendar year
and thereafter.

Part-time employees shall be eligible to take paid holidays (including
floating holidays) on a pro-rated basis by comparing their regularly
scheduled hours to a full-time (40 hour) per week employee. Example: a
part-time employee regularly scheduled to work twenty (20) hours per week
would be entitled to one-half (1/2) the paid holiday time on a District holiday
(i.e., 4 hours instead of 8) and three (3) floating holidays of four (4) hours
each. New part-time employees who start work for the District prior to July
1 shall accrue the three (3) days of floating holidays for that calendar year

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 34 of 230



pro-rated under the above formula. New part-time employees who start
work for the District after July 1 shall accrue one and one-haif (1-1/2) days
of floating holidays pro-rated under the above formula.

(C) SICK LEAVE

Sick leave is provided by the District pursuant to this section, in order
to promote the health and welfare of the individual employee. Sick leave
permits an employee to be absent from duty without loss of pay when
he/she is incapacitated by reason of iliness, or when a member of the
employee's immediate family must be cared for by the employee; or when
an employee has been exposed to a contagious disease and a physician has
determined that his/her presence on the job might endanger fellow workers,
or otherwise provided by state or federal law.

1)  Sick leave is paid leave from work that can be used for the following
purposes:

. The diagnosis, care or treatment (including preventive treatment) of
an existing health condition for the employee or the employee's family
members to include:

o] A child (regardless of age), including a biological, adopted or foster
child; legal ward; or a child to whom the employee stands in loco parentis; a
biological, adoptive or foster parent; stepparent; legal guardian of an
employee; the employee's spouse or registered domestic partner; or a
person who stood in loco parentis when the employee was a minor child; a
spouse; a registered domestic partner; a grandparent; a grandchild; and a
sibling.

J An employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or
stalking to:

0 obtain or attempt to obtain a temporary restraining order or other
court assistance to help ensure the health safety or welfare of the employee
or his or her child; or ii.) obtain medical attention or psychological
counseling; services from a shelter; program or crisis center; or participate
in safety planning or other actions to increase safety

2) & Sick Leave Accrual Rates & Terms
Accrual & Carryover rules for Different Categories of Employees
. Regular full-time employees accrue eight (8) hours of sick leave for

each calendar month of paid status (3.69 hours accrued each pay period).
Accrued sick leave carries over from year to year. No accrual limit applies.

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 35 of 230



27

. Part-time or temporary employees are provided a lump sum of twenty-
four (24) hours of sick leave at their date of hire and each year thereafter on
their anniversary date. Unused sick leave does not carry over to subsequent
years.

3) Sick Leave Use

Sick leave is not an earned right to time off from work. Sick leave provided
by the District is available for use upon hire. Sick leave may not be used
until it is earned. Accrued sick leave may be used in a minimum of quarter
(1/4) hour increments. Accumulated sick leave will not be paid to employees
upoen termination of employment.

4) Notification to District.

To request to use sick leave if the need for leave is foreseeable, an
employee must give the supervisor/manager reasonable advance notice.

If the need for sick leave is not foreseeable, employees shall notify their
supervisor or the General Manager, within thirty (30) minutes after the start
of their workday on each day of absence, If this is not possible, notice shall
be given as soon as practicable.

5) Maintenance of Contact

Sick leave benefits are contingent upon maintenance of regular contact with
the District. Employees are expected to inform their supervisor or
Department Manager of their estimated date of return to work and to
maintain this communication. The supervisor or Department Manager may
relay this information to the General Manager.

6) Certification

A certificate from a health care provider may be required, by the District, for
any sick leave in excess of three (3) working days. The certificate shall
cover all days for which sick leave is taken. The District may require
additional certificates for longer periods of absence, or for repeated
absences, as determined at the discretion of the General Manager.

The District may require employees to provide a physician's certification to
support any absence that involves the illness of the employee or their family
member if the District suspects that there is an abuse of sick leave by the
employee.

All employees who use paid leave to address issues related to domestic
violence, sexual assault or stalking, and who cannot provide advance notice

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 36 of 230



e

of their need for leave must provide certification of the need for leave within
a reasonable time thereafter.

7) Health Care Providers' Release

The District may require a health care provider's written release before the
employee may return to work after an absence in excess of three (3)
working days for illness or injury.

8) Sick Leave Use more than ten (10) Business Days

If an employee's absence continues beyond the period of the employee’s
accrued sick leave, the employee may be eligible for additional leave under
the District's Family and Medical Leave Policy, or any other medical or
disability leave policy if such employee meets the qualifications of such
leave. All such leave shall be unpaid.

Absences greater than ten (10) business days must be requested under the
Leave of Absence Policy in the Employee Handbook.

9) Sick Leave for Other Uses
In the event that sick leave is taken due to the illness or injury of a family

member, all other provisions of this section shall apply with the exception of
Section (7).

10) CalPERS Sick Leave Credit

The District contracts with CalPERS to provide sick leave credit. At
retirement, eligible employees may convert any unused sick leave they have
to additional service credit subject to the rules set forth by CalPERS.

(D) FATIGUE POLICY

Employees will not be required to work in excess of sixteen {16)
consecutive hours. An employee who works sixteen (16) consecutive hours
will be provided an eight (8) hour recuperation period, plus up to (30)
minutes travel time each way. The employee will be responsible for notifying
his/her supervisor of their quitting time. If the required recuperation period
extends into the employee’s regular work shift, the employee will not be
required to use their leave balances to offset the required time off. Instead,
the employee will be paid regular time for any regularly scheduled hours
that fall into the eight (8) hour recuperation period, plus up to {30) minutes
travel time each way.

§146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 37 of 230



Fatigue situations not specifically addressed in this policy will be
decided at the Director of Water Resources and Operation’s discretion
utilizing Joshua Basin Water District’s Code of Safe Practices. It should be
noted that the General Manager will have the final say on fatigue issues not
specifically addressed in this policy.

ARTICLE 23. EXCUSED LEAVES OF ABSENCE

(A) ABSENCE FOR WORK-RELATED DISABILITY

Employees who are injured in the course of employment are placed on
Workers’ Compensation Leave and receive wage loss benefits to which they
are entitled under the Workers’ Compensation Act. Employees may request
to receive prorated Sick and/or Vacation Leave pay (to the extent that it is
accrued on the books) to supplement their Workers’ Compensation
payments in an amount such that the sum of both is equal to the employee’s
regular base pay.

Employees are expected to inform their supervisor or Department
Manager of their estimated date for returning to work and if there are any
changes in that estimated return to work date. The supervisor or
Department Manager may relay this information to the General Manager or
others as necessary.

(B) BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

The District provides up to four (4) working days of paid leave in the
event of a death in an employee's immediate family. Should an employee be
granted additional time, they may utilize vacation, floating holidays, or any
combination thereto.

“Immediate family” consists of the following: employee’s spouse,
domestic partner, child, stepchild, parent, grandparent, grandchild, brother,
sister, mother/father-in-law, son or daughter-in-law, brother or sister-in-
law, legal guardian, or custodial child, or the same relatives of a
spouse/domestic partner.

Upon the request of the General Manager, some form of proof of
death, acceptable to the General Manager, may be required within ten (10)
working days of return from bereavement leave.

(C) JURY DUTY

Employees called for jury duty will be granted a paid leave of absence
for the actual time spent on jury service. A copy of the jury notice must be
Bl46469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 38 of 230



provided to the employee’s supervisor and the Employee Relations Officer.
Employees must report for work during their regularly scheduled work shift
when they are relieved from jury duty. The employee must surrender the
jury pay to the District, independent of any mileage reimbursement if the
employee’s personal vehicle is used. If a District vehicle is used, the
mileage reimbursement will be surrendered to the District.

(D) MILITARY LEAVE

Entitlement to, and payment by the District of, salary, benefits and/or
continued accrua! of leave benefits for employees called for mandatory
military duty (active duty, inactive duty training or National Guard duty)
while on such military leave shall be in accordance with any applicable
provisions of Federal and State law. All employees called to military leave
shall promptly notify their supervisor and the General Manager.

(E) PERSONAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE

General

Employees who have been continuously employed with the District for at
least one (1) year, may, due to special circumstances, request a personal
leave of absence without pay, for a reasonable period of time up to forty-five
(45) calendar days. Requests for leaves of absence will be considered on the
basis of length of service, performance, responsibility level, the reason for
the request, whether other individuals are already out on leave, and the
expected impact on the District.

Requests

A request must be submitted in writing and be approved in writing by the
General Manager before leave begins. A request for an extension of a leave
of absence must be submitted in writing and approved in writing by the
General Manager before the extended period begins. It is your responsibility
to report to work at the end of the approved leave. If you fail to report to
work on the day after your leave expires, you will be considered to have
voluntarily resigned.

Status of Employee Benefits During A Personal Leave:

The District does not pay for group insurance premiums during any portion
of a nonstatutory, unpaid leave of absence beyond the end of the month in
which the leave begins. Accordingly, the premiums beyond that point for
such coverage are your complete responsibility and offered through COBRA.
In order to keep the insurance in force, premiums for the period of the leave
81464691

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 39 of 230



must be paid according to the schedule outlined in the COBRA notification
form.

Use of Accrued Leave

An employee who is granted a Personal Leave of Absence is required to
utilize accrued paid accruals (wage replacement) concurrently with the leave
taken under this policy. Use of sick leave accruals will only be authorized if
the personal leave of absence if for the employee's own serious health
condition or to care for their family member as described in the FML policy.
All requests for wage replacement must be made in writing (email is
acceptable) to the Director of Administration before the close of the relevant
pay period(s). If such request is not received timely, the District will first use
floating holiday, administrative/management leave (if applicable), and then
vacation accruals.

A Personal Leave of Absences is considered unpaid, regardless if wage
replacement is utilized. All insurance and retirement benefits, sick leave, and
vacation credits will not accrue for the period of the leave.

ARTICLE 24. UNEXCUSED ABSENCE

(A) DEFINITION

An unexcused absence is defined as any unexcused failure to be
present for work during scheduled working hours (including scheduled
overtime). Absences that are excused are detailed in Article 25, Excused
Leaves of Absence.

(B) NOTIFICATION

The District requires employees to give advance notice, when possible,
of absence. If advance notice is not possible, personal notification by phone
shall be given to a District Manager or Supervisor within thirty (30) minutes
of the employee’s scheduled start time. Employees may call into the District
at (760) 366-8438 before and after business hours.

(C) ABSENCE WITHOUT NOTICE

Two consecutive days absence without notice will be grounds for
dismissal. The employee will be eligible for reinstatement only if some
exceptional circumstances explain why the employee could not have
provided the notice required by these rules.

81464691

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 40 of 230



Lt
]

(D) DISCIPLINARY ACTION

Chronic absenteeism, lateness, or other unusual infractions of
attendance standards will be grounds for disciplinary action. Progressive
disciplinary steps will be followed where appropriate.

ARTICLE 25. EDUCATION PROGRAM

(A) ON-DUTY EDUCATION

Employees may, with prior written approval of the General Manager,
attend seminars, conferences, workshops, cross-training activities or
meetings that provide specific training in subjects directly related to District
operations or to the employee’s position (or one to which he or she may
reasonably aspire). In those circumstances, the District shall pay for the
cost of the seminars, conferences, etc., provide transportation or reimburse
the employee for mileage (at the discretion of the General Manager) and the
employee shall receive pay for their time including reasonable travel time. In
order to be reimbursed for meals while attended training off District
property, the employee must submit a receipt and the District will reimburse
the employee up to IRS per diem rates.

(B) OFF-DUTY EDUCATION

At the discretion of the General Manager, educational assistance is
available to all employees who desire to obtain skills and/or knowledge that
enables them to become more proficient in their present duties and/or
prepare them for future assignments. This education may occur after
regular working hours at a college, vocational trade school, or through a
self-study correspondence course that leads to a certificate, license or
diploma related to the District operations.

An employee may receive reimbursement for approved off-duty
educational expenses (including tuition, books, required fees, and parking)
up to a maximum of $1200 in any one fiscal year, subject to the rules set
forth in the employee handbook. In order to eligible for reimbursement an
employee must meet all of the following requirements:

e A course approval request must be submitted to, and approved by
the General Manager prior to starting the course.

 The employee must be employed with the District at the time the
course is started and completed.

e The course must be related to work performed with the District.

e The course must be provided through an accredited institution.

Correspondence courses from reputable institutions will be
8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 41 of 230



33

considered when equivalent courses are not available at local
accredited schools, or when the employee’s circumstances prevent
attendance at courses offered locally.

Courses shall be taken on employee’s time, unless special
circumstances warrant otherwise and prior arrangements have been made
with his supervisor and approved by the General Manager.

A transcript must be furnished to the District showing a passing grade
was received for the course. Employees are required to submit their request
for tuition refund no later than six months after completion of the course.

No tuition refund will be made later than six months after completion of the
course. Requests for reimbursement must be supported by proper receipts
for all expenditures. The amount of refund shall be determined on the
following basis up to the maximums set forth in this article, or equivalent, of
the course grade received: Grades C and above = full refund; Grade below
C = no refund.

(C) REQUIRED CERTIFICATIONS OR LICENSES

Employees who attend classes, seminars, or tests for required
certificates or licensing during their regularly scheduled working hours with
prior authorization from the General Manager will be paid for their time and
provided transportation (or the appropriate payment for mileage, at the
General Manager's discretion) for such activity.

Employees who attend classes, seminars, or tests for required
certificates or licensing during off-duty hours will be provided transportation
(or the appropriate payment for mileage, at the General Manager’s
discretion) for such activity. The employee will not be paid for their time for
either attending the activity or for travel to or from the activity.

The District shall pay the cost or reimburse the employee the cost of
the approved class, seminar or test needed for certificates or licensing
required for the employee’s position, whether taken during on-duty or off-
duty hours. The District shall also pay the annual fees, if any, to maintain
required certifications or licenses for the employee’s position.

The District is investigating the need for additional certifications for
Operators as a result of Chromium VI treatment requirements by the State.
The District may, if additional certifications are necessary and with written
notice to the Union, reopen this MOU during its term to negotiate the issues
related to these certifications.

ARTICLE 26. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 42 of 230



34

A grievance is a charge by an employee or by the Union that
management or supervisors have violated a specific provision of this
Agreement or written personnel rules or written personnel policies of the
District, with the exception of disciplinary actions taken pursuant to Article
27, which are not subject to the Grievance Procedure. The Grievance
Procedure is the process for bringing a violation of this MOU or written
District policy to the attention of management. The Union may bring
violations of the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act before the California Public
Employment Relations Board ("PERB"), but shall not double file both a
grievance and a PERB charge for the same alleged violation. However, the
Union will provide the District with at least thirty (30) days written notice
before filing a PERB charge. The Union and District shall meet and confer
regarding the issues in the anticipated PERB charge at least once during this
period in an attempt to resolve the matter. The District agrees to toll the
PERB six month statute of limitations during this meet and confer process.

An employee has the right to be represented by any other person
within the General Unit or a representative from Local 1902 during this
process. Any reference to days in this article implies business days.

Step 1. An employee who has a complaint shall attempt to resolve it with
their immediate supervisor within five {5) days of the occurrence of the
event giving rise to the complaint. The employee’s complaint shall be
presented in writing. The Supervisor shall respond to the employee in
writing within five (5) days of that meeting. The written grievance must:

o Identify the specific management act to be reviewed.

» Specify how the employee was adversely affected.

» List the specific provisions of the MOU that were allegedly
violated, and state how they were violated.

* Provide the date of attempts at informal resolution and the name
of the supervisor or individual involved.

If a grievance is not presented or appealed within the time limits, it
shall be considered settled on the basis of the preceding response. Should a
supervisor fail to respond within the appropriate time limit, this shall not
preclude the employee from appealing to the next step.

Step 2. If the grievance is not settled informally at Step 1, it must be
presented in writing to the General Manager. The written grievance must:

« Identify the specific management act to be reviewed.

» Specify how the employee was adversely affected.

« List the specific provisions of the MOU that were allegedly
violated, and state how they were violated.

g146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 43 of 230



35

» Provide the date of attempts at informal resolution and the name
of the supervisor or individual involved.

The grievance, inclusive of the information listed above, must be
presented for review and written response within seven (7) days of the
conclusion of Step 1. The General Manager, or his designee, shall meet with
all parties at least one time, and conduct such investigations, using
uninvolved third parties, as they deem appropriate. The General Manager
shall respond in writing within thirty (30) days after the date the grievance is
received.

Step 3. If the grievant is not satisfied with the results of Step 2, the Union
may request on the employee’s behalf that the matter be submitted to non-
binding arbitration or submitted for binding arbitration in matters of contract
interpretation or major discipline outside of termination The employee
cannot request non-binding or binding arbitration on his/her own. The
request for arbitration shall be made in writing by the Union to the General
Manager, within seven (7) days of the General Manager’s written response in
Step 2.

The District and the Union shall mutually agree upon an impartial
hearing officer, or if they cannot agree, they shall request a list of at least 7
arbitrators from the State Mediation and Conciliation Service. The District
and the Union shall alternatively strike names off the list until there is one
arbitrator remaining, who shall serve as the arbitrator for the hearing, unless
the District and the Union agree otherwise. The Union shall strike the first
arbitrator from the list. The arbitrator shall issue proposed findings of fact,
conclusions of law and a decision.

Step 4. Within seven days of the General Manager's receipt of the
arbitrator’s proposed findings, conclusions and decision, the General
Manager may adopt them, amend them or reject them and adopt the result
from Step 2, or another result as the final resolution of the grievance. If the
District rejects or modifies the arbitrator’s proposed decision, the District
shall pay the arbitrator’s costs in full. If the District adopts the arbitrator’s
proposed decision, the District and the Union will split the arbitrator’s costs
evenly. At the outset of the arbitration, the arbitrator will be instructed to
bili the District and the Union evenly for the costs. If the District is required
to pay the entire costs for the arbitrator pursuant to this section, the Union
shall forward the arbitrator’s bill to the District for payment.

ARTICLE 27. DISCIPLINE AND DISMISSAL

Discipline occurs when any of the following progressive actions are
taken for just cause with respect to any employee in the unit: oral
reprimand, written warning, suspension with or without pay, deferral or

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 44 of 230



denial of a merit increase, reduction in pay, or demotion to a classification
with a lower top range.

(A) TYPES OF DISCIPLINE

For just cause, the following disciplinary actions may be taken against

any employee of the District by the General Manager or his designee.

a)

b)

d)

1) Minor Discipline.

Informal Counseling: For minor infractions, the employee will be
counseled. If the situation does not improve within a reasonable
period of time (usually 30 days, depending on the seriousness of the
issue), the employee’s supervisor may repeat the measure, or use the
next step. The employee’s supervisor shall keep a written record of
the date and substance of Informal Counseling, but the record will not
become part of the employee's personnel file unless the situation
leading to the warning is not corrected and more serious disciplinary
procedures are deemed necessary.

Verbal Reprimand: For continued minor infractions, the employee will
be issued a verbal reprimand. If the situation does not improve within
a reasonable period of time (usually 30 days) the employee’s
supervisor may repeat the measure, or use the next step. A report of
the verbal reprimand shall be placed in the employee's personnel file
and this reprimand shall cite any counseling sessions that may have
occurred. The employee’s supervisor may reference the verbal
reprimand in subsequent performance evaluations of the employee.

Written Reprimand: For more substantial infractions, or repeated
minor infractions, the employee will be issued a written reprimand. If
the situation does not improve within a reasonable iength of time
(usually 30 days), the employee’s supervisor may issue repeat
reprimands, or take further action. A copy of any written reprimand
shall be placed in the employee's personnel file.

Short-term Suspensions From Duty: For severe infractions or for
persistent failure to correct deficiencies, which do not, however, justify
major discipline, minor discipline in the form of a suspension from duty
without pay of up to four working days may be ordered.

2) Major Discipline.

For more serious infractions of District Standards or for persistent

failure to correct deficiencies noted in verbal warnings or written reprimands,
major discipline may be imposed.

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 45 of 230



The following actions may be taken by the appropriate leve! of
management in response to the performance deficiencies of regular
employees. Forms of major discipline include, but are not limited to:

a. Suspension from duty: An ordered interruption of
duties for at least five working days without pay.

b. Salary Reduction: A reduction in pay from within the
employee’s current range to any lower salary within that
range, as such range is recorded in the District’s current
salary schedule,

C. Demotion: An involuntary reduction from a position
in one class to a position in another class having a lower
salary range affected for disciplinary purposes.
(Demaotions resulting from organizational changes, or
layoffs are not disciplinary).

d. Dismissal: Discharge from District service.
3) No Appeal of Minor Discipline.

An employee may file a response to minor discipline to be placed in
his/her personnel file, but has no right of review or appeal to the Board.

However, where the minor discipline imposed is a suspension from
duty without pay of four working days or less, and the employee has passed
his/her probationary period, the employee is entitled to written notice
(including copies of written materials upon which the notice is based) by the
General Manager or designee, of the basis for the suspension without pay at
the time of, or prior to, being suspended without pay. The employee shall
not be entitled to any pre-disciplinary due process rights (i.e., no “Skelly”
hearing) nor to a post-disciplinary evidentiary hearing. The employee shall
be entitled to post-evidentiary due process by being allowed to make a
written and/or oral response to the General Manager or designee (as
appropriate) regarding the notice within a reasonable time (ten working days
or less) after receiving the notice.

When the employee requests to provide an oral response, the General
Manager or designee shall conduct the proceeding as a “Skelly” meeting.
The General Manager or designee shall issue a final decision on the
suspension from duty without pay within ten working days of receiving the
employee’s response in writing and/or conducting the “Skelly” meeting,
whichever occurs later. The General Manager or designee may affirm the
discipline imposed; or, reduce or rescind the discipline imposed (and provide
the employee with appropriate back pay).

81464691

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 46 of 230



4) Pre-Disciplinary (“Skelly”) Procedure for Major Discipline
(Applicable Only to Employees Who Have Passed Their
Probationary Period).

a. Notice of Proposed Disciplinary Action: Prior to

issuance of a written notice of major discipline, written notice of the
proposed disciplinary action shall be given at least five (5) working days
before such action is to be taken, and such notice must include:

8146469.1

Notice of the proposed action.
Reasons for the proposed action.

A copy of any written materials relied upon by the District to support
the proposed discipline.

A notice to the employee of the right to respond in writing and/or
orally to the proposed disciplinary action before the major discipline is
imposed. The notice to the employee of the right to respond, must
specify at least a five (5) working day period except as provided
below. The notice of proposed disciplinary action must be in writing
and signed by the Department Manager, Supervisor or designee, as
appropriate. Upon receipt of the employee's response, or after
conducting a “Skelly” hearing if the employee requests to respond
orally, whichever is later, the Department Manager, Supervisor or
designee, as appropriate, shall review the response and determine the
appropriate course of action. This may include taking a more adverse
action, (in which case, the employee will receive a subsequent notice
as required by this article with the same opportunity to respond)
imposing the same level of disciplinary action, modifying with less
severe disciplinary action or rescinding the notice of proposed action.

Limitations and Exclusions.

1. Oral notice is insufficient as full notice for major
disciplinary actions and may be given only as the initial notice in
extraordinary circumstances, which call for immediate action.

2. Employees may be suspended with pay, without prior
written notice in extraordinary circumstances when it is essential
to avert harm to the public, other employees, or to avert serious
disruption of governmental business. Extraordinary
circumstances include, but are not limited to, situations involving
misappropriation of public funds or property, working while
under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs or controlled
substances, insubordination, commission of a crime involving

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 47 of 230



39

moral turpitude punishable by imprisonment for one (1) year or
more and disruption of the District's business through
misconduct.

C. Notice of Disciplinary Action.

Any employee response to the proposed major discipline
will be considered and a determination will be made by the
Department Manager, Supervisor or designee, as appropriate, of
the appropriate action to be taken by the District. The
imposition of major discipline is constituted by written notice.
Said notice is similar to the notice of proposed major discipline in
that it contains the effective date of the major discipline, the
right to appeal and specific charges upon which the major
discipline is based. The effective date may be prior to the
notice, provided the circumstances warranted such immediate
action. The notice shall be signed by the Department Manager,
Supervisor or designee, as appropriate. Notice of the time
allowed for appeal and answer shall be stated in the notice. A
copy of the notice shall be personally served on the employee or
sent by certified mail to the employee's last known address.

(B) DISMISSAL

Dismissal, for purposes of this Article, is the separation of a non-
probationary employee initiated by the District for proper cause.

Dismissal shall be preceded by at least one written warning, except in
those situations in which the employee knows or reasonably should have
known that the performance or conduct was unsatisfactory. Such
performance or conduct may involve but is not limited to:

1. Falsification of District records, including any material entries or
omissions of information in an employment application or other District
records.

2. Being under the influence of, or possessing or using alcoholic
beverages or illegal drugs or controlled substances on District premises or
while on District business. Consumption of alcoholic beverages or illegal
drugs prior to reporting for a work shift, during a work shift, including breaks
and lunch hours, and including on call duty time, shall be considered a
violation of this standard.

3. Failure to submit to a drug or alcohol test after performing the
conduct detailed in #2 above.

8146469.)

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 48 of 230



4. Failure to enroll in a state certified alcohol or drug treatment
outpatient program after having been found to be under the infiuence
pursuant to the District’s Alcohol & Drug Policy.

5. Failure to complete a state certified alcohol or drug treatment
outpatient program after having been found to be under the influence
pursuant to the District's Alcohol & Drug Policy.

6. Abuse, damage or destruction of District property due to careless
or willful acts.

7. Failure to observe fire prevention and safety regulations or practices,
including reporting injuries, accidents or unsafe practices or conditions
promptly.

8. Discourteous treatment of the public.

9. Inability or unwillingness to work in harmony with other
employees.

10. Theft, fraud, carrying personal or concealed weapons or
explosives, or violation of criminal laws on company premises.

11. Fighting, throwing things, horseplay, practica! jokes or other
disorderly conduct which may endanger the well- being of any employee or
District operations.

12. Threatening, intimidating, coercing, using abusive or insulting
language, or otherwise interfering with the performance of other employees.

13. Insubordination or refusal to comply with l[awful instructions or
failure to perform reasonable duties, which are assigned.

14 . Use of District materials, time or equipment for unauthorized
purposes or for personal use.

15. Disorderly or immoral conduct while on duty or while in District
uniform, that negatively affects the image of the District.

16. Excessive, unexcused and/or repeated absenteeism or tardiness.
For purposes of this article, this means 3 unexcused absences during a year
or (2) two consecutive unexcused absences in a row or (5) tardies in a year,
or {3) three consecutive tardies.

17. Operation of the District vehicle in an unlawful manner.

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 49 of 230



18. Conviction of a serious crime, including a misdemeanor or a
felony, but not including traffic citations or other infractions not involving
District vehicies.

19. Failure to immediately follow safe working practices or failure to
report promptly an injury within 24 hours of its occurrence.

20. Violation of any of the provisions of the District's Zero Tolerance
Harassment and Discrimination Policy.

(C) APPEAL PROCEDURE FOR MAJOR DISCIPLINE

1) Notice of Appeal and Request for Hearing before hearing officer.
Any regular employee may appeal a notice of major discipline, and request a
hearing before a hearing officer as provided for in these rules.

2) The notice of appeal and request for a hearing must be in writing
and must be filed with a written response to the allegations in the notice of
disciplinary action with the District within seven (7) working days of receipt
of the notice of disciplinary action.

3) Appellant’s written response must address each and every cause
for discipline set forth in the notice of disciplinary action and must state
specific facts or reasons as grounds for the appeal. The appeal may only
address the allegations that were the cause of the disciplinary action.

(D) HEARING PROCEDURE

1) Hearing Officer

The District and the Appellant shall mutually agree upon an impartial
hearing officer, or if they cannot agree, they shall request a list of at least 7
hearing officers from the American Arbitration Association. The District and
the Appellant shall alternatively strike names off the list until there is one
hearing officer remaining, who shall serve as the hearing officer for the
hearing, unless the District and the Appellant agree otherwise. Appellant
shall strike the first hearing officer from the list. The hearing officer shall
issue proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law and a decision where the
major discipline involved is termination. In all major discipline matters other
than termination, the hearing officer’s decision is binding.

2) Hearing

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 50 of 230



a. Time and Place. The District's representative will
prepare procedures for conducting the hearing, and will determine the time
and place of the hearing.

b. Purpose. The purpose of the hearing is to make a
final determination as to the appropriateness of the action taken.

C. Parties. The Appellant and the District's
representative shall attend the meeting; the appellant may bring a
representative. Failure of the Appellant, with or without their
representative, to appear in person at the time and place set for the hearing,

shall be deemed a withdrawal of the appeal, unless otherwise excused by
the hearing officer.

3)  Order of the Proceedings
a. The hearing shall be opened by the recording of the
time, place and date of the hearing and the presence of the parties and
representatives, if any. The District shall first present its case on which the
disciplinary action was based.
b. The hearing officer shall conduct the hearing.

4) Report of the Hearings

An electronic record of the proceedings shall be taken and maintained
by the District. Costs for transcripts shall be borne by the requesting party.

5) Adjournment

The hearing may be adjourned or recessed upon the request of the
hearing officer.

6) Confidentiality

The hearing shall be ciosed to the public unless the appellant requests
an open hearing.

7)  Closing of Hearing
The hearing officer shall inquire if either side has anything further to

offer. Upon receiving negative replies, the hearing shall be closed.

8) Decision of the Hearing Officer

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 51 of 230



43

The hearing officer shall issue findings of fact, conclusions of law and a
binding decision on all major disciplinary matters except termination. In
termination matters, the hearing officer’'s decision is non-binding, subject to
further review by the General Manager.

9) Final Decision

In all major disciplinary matters other than termination or contract
interpretation, the decision of the hearing officer in any appeal shall be
binding.

In termination matters, the General Manager shall review the record of
the hearing, including the hearing officer’'s proposed findings, conclusions
and decision. The General Manager shall, within 30 days of receipt of the
hearing officer’s proposed findings, conclusions and decision, issue his/her
own written findings of fact, conclusions of law and final decision. The
General Manager’s decision shall be final.

10) Status of Appellant

The imposition of any major discipline, including but not limited to a
discharge, shall not be stayed by any appeal filed by an employee following
issuance of the notice of major discipline. Any salary or other benefits
denied shall be reinstated, only if determined to be appropriate by the
hearing officer or General Manager, following the completion of any such
appeal hearing.

ARTICLE 28. LAYOFF OR REDUCTION IN FORCE

Notwithstanding any other provision of this MOU, nothing in Article 27
Discipline and Dismissal, shall prohibit the District from discharging,
suspending, or transferring employees upon a determination by the District
that the needs of the District do not require continuance of the employee's
prior position. The procedures of Article 27 apply only to personnel actions
taken for purposes of discipline.

Any employee laid off pursuant to this Article between ratification of
this MOU and September 2, 2010, shall be eligible for severance pay equal
to one week’s salary (at the rate of pay in effect at the time of the layoff) for
each full year of service given by the employee to the District at the time of
the layoff. In no event shall an employee laid off pursuant to this Article
receive more than 8 weeks of salary as severance pay. Severance pay shall
not be owed by the District for any layoffs occurring after September 2,
2010.

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 52 of 230



Layoffs shall be implemented by seniority in each classification in
which a layoff will occur. The laid off employee may, in lieu of layoff, bump
down to a subordinate position (in the field for laid off field employees or in
the office for laid off office employees) for which the laid off employee is
qualified. The individual to be laid off from the subordinate position will also
be based on seniority in that classification, and will in turn have bumping
rights pursuant to this article.

ARTICLE 29. UNION

(A) UNION RIGHTS

The District and the Union agree that they will not interfere with,
restrain or coerce employees or job applicants in the exercise of rights under
Chapter 10, Division 4, Title 1 of California Government Code Section 3500
et. seq., commonly referred to as the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act.

The Union shall notify the District of the appointment of two Stewards
and one Alternate Steward within five (5) working days of such appointment.
Stewards shall be granted release time for the purpose of processing
complaints or grievances, and representing employees in meetings with
management, in the aggregate, a total of six (6) hours per month. The
District may provide additional release time for these purposes at its
discretion. If the release is anticipated to (or actually does) extend beyond
15 minutes in length, the Steward wili get prior approval from their
supervisor or approval to continue on release time. An alternate steward
may be designated to act in the absence of the regular stewards.

Employees not listed on the roster of stewards provided to the District may
not be provided release time. The Union shall notify the District immediately
of the removal of a Steward and of any replacement.

The District shall require stewards to submit reasonable time keeping
documentation regarding the total time spent on release time. Whenever
possible, stewards shall obtain prior approval from their supervisor prior to
using release time. Supervisors have the final say as to whether use of
release time is authorized. Authorization shall not be unreasonably
withheld. The monthly limits on release time set forth in this article do not
apply to meet and confer sessions with management under the Meyers-
Milias-Brown Act.

(B) USE OF DISTRICT FACILITIES

The Union may use the District Board room or the District Warehouse,
with the prior approval of District and providing that there are no conflicting
meetings requiring the use of the room or the warehouse. Requests to use
the room must be made in writing to the General Manager at least two (2)
8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 53 of 230



days prior to the date requested. The Union shall indicate, among other
things, the start and estimated ending times for the Union’s use of District
facilities. By allowing the Union to use this facility, the District is not given
permission to employees to attend these meetings during times when they
are scheduled to work. The Union will pay for the cost of any custodial
services, security services or damages necessitated or caused by their use of
this facility. If the District believes that the Union’s use of the District
facilities necessitates the hiring of security services, the District shall inform
the Union of that belief, and the Union may decide to pay for such security
services, or decline the use the District facilities.

(C) DUES DEDUCTIONS

The Union shall provide written notice to the District's Human Resources
Department of the names of those employees in the General Unit who have
submitted a written authorization for dues deductions to the Union. After
receipt of such notification from the Union, the District will deduct dues from
each paycheck of those identified employees and remit such monies to the
Union.

The Union certifies that it has and will maintain individual employee
authorizations. The Union shall not be required to submit to the District a
copy of an employee’s written authorization unless a dispute arises about
the existence or terms of the written authorization.

Employee requests to cancel or change authorizations for dues payments or
payroll deductions shall be directed to the Union. The District shall forward
any employee requests that it receives to the Union. The Union shall be
wholly responsible for processing these employee requests and notifying the
District of any membership changes.

The Union agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold the District harmless
against any claims made, and against any suit instituted against the District
which may arise as a result of the application of the provisions of this Article.
In addition, the Union shall immediately refund to the District any amounts
paid to it in error, upon discovery of the error by the Union and/or the
presentation of supporting evidence by the District.

(D) ACCESS TO WORK LOCATIONS

Upon prior notice and permission from the General Manager, access to
employee's work locations shall be granted to stewards and officers of the
Union and their officially designated representatives for the purpose of
contacting members concerning business within the scope of representation.
Access to the work locations will not interfere with the normal operations of
the District.

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 54 of 230



(E) BULLETIN BOARDS

Secure bulletin board space will be made available to the Union.
Bulletin board space shall be used only for posting notices concerning the
following subjects:

1. Union recreational, social and related news bulletins.
2. Scheduled Union meetings
3. Information concerning Union elections or their results.

4. Reports of official Union business including reports of committees or
officers;

5. All material must be signed or dated by an authorized representative
of the Union, or be subject to removal by the District.

ARTICLE 30. SEVERABILITY

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this policy, in the event that
any article, section or subsection of this policy shall be declared invalid by
any court or by any state or federal law or regulation, or should a decision
by any court or any state or federal law or regulation diminish the benefits
provided by this policy, or impose additional obligations on the District, the
District and the Union shall meet and confer on the affected article, section
or subsection. In such event, all other articles, sections or subsections of
this policy not affected shall continue in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 31. FULL UNDERSTANDING, MODIFICATION AND WAIVER

It is intended that this MOU set forth the full and entire understanding
of the parties regarding matters set forth herein, and any other prior or
existing understanding or agreements by the parties, whether formal or
informal, regarding any such matters are hereby suspended or terminated in
their entirety. Whenever this MOU is in confiict with a District policy or
Board resolution (except a Board resolution ratifying a successor MOU,
implementing terms and conditions after expiration of this MOU, or agreed
upon changes in wages, hours or other conditions of employment of Union
members), this MOU shall prevail.

Any agreement, alteration, understanding, variation, waiver or
modification of any of the terms or provisions contained herein shall not be
binding upon the parties hereto unless contained in a writing signed by both
parties and ratified by the Board of Directors.

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 55 of 230



The waiver of any beach, term or condition of this Agreement by either
party shall not constitute a precedent in the future enforcement of all of its
terms and provisions.

ARTICLE 32. DRUG AND ALCOHOL POLICY

Use of intoxicating beverages or use/possession of illegal drugs will not
be permitted during working hours. The purchase or possession of alcohol
while driving a District vehicle is prohibited, except in those cases where the
employee is required to drive the vehicle home to be available for
emergency call-out. The employee may purchase and possess alcohol in the
vehicle after work hours.

An employee assigned to Stand-by Duty shall abstain from consuming
any alcoholic beverage or drug while assigned to said duty. Failure to
comply with this policy shall be grounds for termination. Furthermore, the
employee may be liable for injuries or damages sustained as a result of
his/her violation of this rule and will not be eligible for Workers’
Compensation coverage for his/her own injuries unless required by state
law. If an employee’s supervisor has a reasonable suspicion that an
employee is under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs or a controlled
substance due to the smell of alcohol on an employee’s breath, their
behavior or other_physical manifestations, the employee will be driven to a
District approved medical facility where a blood and/or urine test can be
conducted. Upon written verification by a physician, at the chosen facility,
that the employee did not have any alcohol or illegal drugs in their system,
the employee may return to work. If the physician determines the employee
did have alcohol or illegal drugs in their system, the employee will be placed
on paid administrative leave pending further action by the District.

This section shall be superseded by the Department of Transportation
Regulations, to the extent they conflict. The District shall provide an
employee a copy of relevant regulations, or a summary, upon request.

ARTICLE 33. INCOMPATIBLE WORK

No employee may perform plumbing or District-related work for
District customers off-hours. Employees shall notify the General Manager of
any outside employment prior to accepting the outside employment. A
conflict of interest between the outside employment and the employee’s
employment with the District may be grounds for discipline.

ARTICLE 34. REOPENER ON POLICY MANUAL AND HEALTH
INSURANCE

8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 56 of 230



The District and the Union agree that between September 2016 and
September 2019, upon request of either party, the parties shall reopen
negotiations over the following issues, which shall not be considered
reopening the entire MOU:

New Personnel Policy Manual (Employee Handbook)

The District and AFSCME have previously started negotiations over a
new Personnel Policy Manual (Employee Handbook) and shall continue to do
s0. The following policies will be included in that Handbook and will be
negotiated in the reopener negotiations to the extent that the parties have
not already reached agreement on them during the current negotiations for
a successor MOU:

Harassment, Discrimination, and Retaliation Policy
Safety Boot Policy

Fatigue Policy

Employee Travel Policy

District Vehicle Use Policy

Dress, Tattoo, and Piercing Policy

Performance Evaluation Policy

Random Drug & Alcohol Testing Policy

Use of District Voicemail. Email, Internet, and Other Technology Policy
Medical Leave Policy

Transition Duty Policy

ITS = WDJQORT Oy LR FL) I

il = B

Health Insurance

The District may reopen negotiations, with written notice given to the
Union, during the term of the MOU to negotiate changes to the health
insurance benefits provided, contributions made by the employer or the
District, opt out provisions, and/or the structure of the benefit in order to
avoid or minimize taxes or penalties under the Affordable Care Act, or any
federal or state statute, federal or state regulation or interpretation of any of
them by a court, or changes implemented by the insurance carrier provided
by the District.

ARTICLE 35. LONGEVITY PAY

Effective with the first full pay period starting after ratification of this
MOU by the District’s Board of Directors, the District will pay longevity pay in
the following amounts:

After 10 years of continuous District service: $20.00 per month;
After 15 years of continuous District service: $40.00 per month; and
After 20 years of continuous District service: $60.00 per month.

8i46469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 57 of 230



49

Although stated as a monthly amount, the longevity pay shall be paid in
each pay period in an amount equal to the monthly amounts stated above.
Continuous District service preceding ratification of this MOU by the District’s
Board of Directors shall count toward meeting the service thresholds
described above.

JOSHUA BASIN WATER DISTRICT JOSHUA BASIN WATER DISTRICT
CHAPTER OF AFSCME LOCAL 1902

By: By:
Mark Ban Peggy Eghew
General Manager JBWD Chapter President
Date: Date:
By:
Scott Carpenter
Negotiator
Date:
By:
Alan F. Shanahan
Executive President,
AFSCME Local 1902
Date:
8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 58 of 230



8146469.1

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 59 of 230



RESOLUTION NO. 19-1010

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE JOSHUA BASIN WATER
DISTRICT APPROVING A MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING WITH THE
JOSHUA BASIN CHAPTER OF AFSCME LOCAL 1902

WHEREAS the Board of Directors of the Joshua Basin Water District {the “District™)
previously, by Resolution No.17-973, established a Memorandum of Understanding
between the District and the AFSCME Local 1902;

WHEREAS the term of the previous Memorandum of Understanding expired on September 2,
2019;

WHEREAS the District’s negotiating team and the AFSCME negotiating team worked
cooperatively to develop a new Memorandum of Understanding; and

WHEREAS AFSCME members unanimously ratified the Memorandum of Understanding on
October 7, 2019,

NOW, THERFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Joshua Basin
Water District hereby:

1) approve the attached Memorandum of Understanding for the term September 3, 2019
through June 30, 2021 as written and ratified by the District’s AFSCME members.

ADOPTED, SIGNED AND APPROVED this 29" day of October 2019.

Tom Floen
Geary Hund
Robert Johnson
Mike Reynolds
Rebecca Unger

Robert Johnson President, Board of Directors

Mark Ban, General Manager and Board Secretary

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 60 of 230



JOSHUA BASIN WATER DISTRICT
STAFF REPORT

Meeting: Board of Directors October 29, 2019
Reportto:  President and Members of the Board
Prepared by: Sarah Johnson

TOPIC: Employer-Employee Organization Relations Resolution

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that the Board of Directors adopt the attached Resolution
19-1015 approving the newly revised Employer-Employee Organization Relations Resolution.

SUMMARY::

This purpose of this resolution is to provide orderly procedures for the administration of employer-
employee relations between the District and its employee organizations pursuant to Section 3507 of the
Meyers Milias Brown Act (California Government Code section 3500 et seq.).

It is the purpose of this Resolution to provide procedures for meeting and conferring in good faith with
Recognized Employee Organizations regarding matters that directly affect and primarily involve the
wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment of employees in appropriate units and that
are not preempted by federal or state law. However, nothing herein shall be construed to restrict any
legal or inherent exclusive District rights with respect to matters of general legislative or managerial
policy, which include among others: The exclusive right to determine the District's mission and
direction; set standards of service; determine the procedures and standards of selection for
employment; direct its employees; take disciplinary action; relieve its employees from duty because of
lack of work or for other lawful reasons; maintain the efficiency of the District's operations; determine
the methods, means and personnel by which the District's operations are to be conducted; take all
necessary actions to carry out the District's mission in emergencies; and exercise complete control and
discretion over the District's organization and the technology of performing its work.

The final draft of the Employer-Employee Organization Relations Resolution presented to Board has
been reviewed by legal counsel and representatives of AFSCME.

STRATEGIC PLAN ITEMS:
3.1.5 - Engage in Labor Relations, Including Negotiations

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 61 of 230



EMPLOYER-EMPLOYEE ORGANIZATION RELATIONS RESOLUTION
BY THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE
JOSHUA BASIN WATER DISTRICT

ARTICLE 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 1. Statement of Purpose.

This Resolution provides orderly procedures for the administration of
employer- employee relations between the District and its employee
organizations pursuant to Section 3507 of the Meyers Milias Brown Act
(California Government Code section 3500 et seq.).

It is the purpose of this Resolution to provide procedures for meeting and
conferring in good faith with Recognized Employee Organizations regarding
matters that directly affect and primarily involve the wages, hours and other terms
and conditions of employment of employees in appropriate units and that are not
preempted by federal or state law. However, nothing herein shall be construed to
restrict any legal or inherent exclusive District rights with respect to matters of
general legislative or managerial policy, which include among others: The
exclusive right to determine the District's mission and direction; set standards of
service, determine the procedures and standards of selection for employment;
direct its employees; take disciplinary action; relieve its employees from duty
because of lack of work or for other lawful reasons; maintain the efficiency of the
District's operations; determine the methods, means and personnel by which the
District's operations are to be conducted; take all necessary actions to carry out
the District's mission in emergencies; and exercise complete control and
discretion over the District's organization and the technology of performing its
work.

Section 2. Definitions

As used in this Resolution, the following terms shall have the meanings
indicated:

a. "Appropriate Unit" means a unit of employee classes or
positions, established pursuant to Article II.

006392.00001

3
e Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

October 29, 2019 Page 62 of 230



b. "District" means the Joshua Basin Water District, and where
appropriate, refers to the Board of Directors or any duly authorized
District representative.

C. "Confidential Employee" means an employee who, in the
course of his or her duties, has access to confidential information
relating to the District's administration of employer-employee

relations.
d. "Day" means calendar day unless expressly stated
otherwise.
e. "Employee Relations Officer" means the General Manager of

the District or any other person who is designated by the General
Manager of the District as the representative responsible for
employee relations.

f. "Impasse” means that the representatives of the District and
a Recognized Employee Organization have reached a point in their
meeting and conferring in good faith where their differences on
matters to be included in a Memorandum of Understanding, and
concerning which they are required to meet and confer, remain so
substantial and prolonged that further meeting and conferring would
be futile, and the last, best and final offer has been refused.

g. "Management Employee” means an employee having
responsibility for formulating, administering or managing the
implementation of District policies and programs.

h. ‘Meeting and Conferring in Good Faith" means to
communicate orally or in writing for the purpose of presenting and
obtaining views or advising of intended actions in an effort to reach
mutual agreement.

i. "Proof of Employee Support” means either (1) an
authorization card personally signed and dated by an employee
within the previous three months,(2) a verified authorization petition
or petitions personally signed and dated by an employee within the
previous three months, or (3) written authorization on a Union-

006392 D0G01

25115653.1 Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

October 29, 2019 Page 63 of 230



provided form for payment of dues via payroll deduction. The only
authorization that shall be considered as proof of employee support
hereunder shall be the authorization most recently signed by an
employee.

j- "Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization" means an
employee organization that has been formally acknowledged by the
District as the sole employee organization representing the
employees in a representation unit pursuant to Article Il, having the
exclusive right to meet and confer with the District on behalf of unit
employees.

k. "Supervisory Employee" means any employee having
authority, in the interest of the District, to hire, transfer, suspend, lay
off, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward, or discipline other
employees, or to responsibly to direct them, or to adjust their
grievances. This also includes any employee having the authority
to recommend such action if the exercise of such authority is not of
a merely routine or clerical nature, but requires the use of
independent judgment.

ARTICLE Il. REPRESENTATION PROCEEDINGS
Section 3. Filing of Recognition Petition by Employee Organization

An employee organization that seeks to be formally acknowledged
as the Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization representing the
District's employees in an appropriate unit shall file a petition with the
Employee Relations Officer containing the following information and
documentation.

a. Name and address of the employee organization.
b. Names and titles of its officers.

c. Names of employee organization representatives who are authorized
to speak on behalf of the organization.

d. A statement that the employee organization has, as one of its primary

006392 0000

231156531 Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

October 29, 2019 Page 64 of 230



purposes, the responsibility of representing employees in the
employment relations with the District.

e. A statement whether the employee organization is a chapter of, or
affiliated directly or indirectly in any manner, with a local, regional,
state, national or international organization, and, if so, the name and
address of each such other organization.

f. Certified copies of the employee organization's constitution and
bylaws.

g. A designation of those persons, not exceeding two in number, and their
addresses, to whom notice sent by regular United States mall will be
deemed sufficient notice on the employee organization for any
purpose.

h. A statement that the employee organization has no restriction on
membership based on race, color, creed, sex, national origin, age,
physical disability, or any other protected category under state or
federal law.

i. The job classifications or position titles of employees in the unit claimed
to be appropriate and the approximate number of member employees
therein.

j.- A statement that the employee organization has in its possession proof
of employee support as herein defined to establish that at least thirty
(30) percent of the employees in the unit claimed to be appropriate
have designated the employee organization to represent them in their
employment relations with the District. Such written proof shall be
submitted for confirmation to the clerk or secretary of the Board of
Directors or to a mutually agreed upon disinterested third party.

k. A request that the Board of Directors formally acknowledge the
petitioner as the Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization
representing the employees in the unit claimed to be appropriate for
the purpose of meeting and conferring in good faith.

The petition, including the proof of employee support and all

006392 00001

33113853.) Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

October 29, 2019 Page 65 of 230



accompanying documentation, shall be declared to be true, correct and
complete, under penalty of perjury, by the duly authorized officer(s) of the
employee organization executing it.

Section 4. District Response to Recognition Petition.

Upon receipt of the petition, the Employee Relations Officer shall
determine whether:

a. There has been compliance with the requirements of the Recognition
Petition, and

b. The proposed representation unit is an appropriate unit in accordance
with Section 8.

If an affirmative determination |s made by the Employee Relations
Officer on the foregoing two matters, he/she shall so inform the Board of
Directors, the petitioning employee organization, and shall give written
notice of such request for recognition to the employees in the unit, and
shall take no action on said request for thirty (30) days thereafter.

If either of the forgoing matters are not affirmatively determined, the
Employee Relations Officer shall offer to meet and confer with such
petitioning employee organization and if such determination thereafter
remains unchanged, shall inform that organization of the reasons therefor
in writing. The petitioning employee organization may appeal such
determination in accordance with Section 10.

Section 5. Open Period for Filing Challenging Petition.

Within thirty (30) days of the date written notice was given to
affected employees that a valid recognition petition for an appropriate unit
has been filed, any other employee organization my file a competing
request to be formally acknowledged as the exclusively recognized
employee organization of District employees in the same or in an
overlapping unit {i.e., one which corresponds with respect to some but not
all the classifications or positions set forth in the recognition petition being
challenged). The other employee organization shall do so by filing a
petition evidencing proof of employee support In the unit claimed to be

0406392 00001

ellfiik Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

October 29, 2019 Page 66 of 230



appropriate of at least thirty (30) percent and otherwise in the same form
and manner as set forth in Section 4. If such challenging petition seeks
establishment of an overtapping unit, the Employee Relations Officer shall
call for a hearing before the Board of Directors on such overlapping
petitions for the purpose of ascertaining the more appropriate unit, at
which time the petitioning employee organizations shall be heard.
Thereafter, the Board-of Directors shall determine the appropriate unit or
units in accordance with the standards in Section 8. The petitioning
employee organizations shall have fifteen (15) days from the date notice of
such unit determination is communicated to them by the Employee
Relations Officer to amend their petitions to conform to such determination
or to appeal such determination pursuant to Section 10.

Section 6. Election Procedures.

The Employee Relations Officer shall arrange for a secret ballot
election to be conducted by a party agreed to by the Employee Relations
Officer and the concerned employee organization(s), in accordance with
its rules and procedures subject to the provision of this Resolution. All
employee organizations that have duly submitted petitions that have been
determined to be in conformance with this Article Il, shall be inciuded on
the ballot. The ballot shall also indicate that the employees have the
choice of voting for union or employee association representation, or
voting against union or employee association representation. Employees
entitled to vote in such election shall be those persons employed in
positions within the designated appropriate unit, who were employed
during the pay period immediately prior to the date which ended at least
fifteen (15) days before the date the election commences, including those
who did not work during such period because of illness, vacation or other
authorized leaves of absence, and who are employed by the District in the
same unit on the date of the election.

An employee organization shall be formally acknowledged as the
Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization for the designated
appropriate unit following an election or run-off election if it received a
numerical majority of all valid votes cast in the election. In an election
involving three or more choices, where none of the choices receives a

00639200001

131136334 Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

October 29, 2019 Page 67 of 230



majority of the valid votes case, a run-off election shall be conducted
between the two choices receiving the largest number of valid votes cast;
the rules governing an initial election being applicable to a run-off election.

During the period of twelve {(12) months after an election is held in
which an employee organization is formally acknowledged as the
exclusive representative for the bargaining unit, the District shall not

accept any recognition petitions filed by another employee organization for
that unit.

In the event that the parties are unable to agree on a third party to
conduct an election, the election shall be conducted by the State of
California Mediation and Conciliation Service.

Costs of conducting such elections shall be borne in equal shares
by the District and each employee organization appearing on the ballot.

Section 7. Procedure for Decertification of Exclusively Recognized
Employee Organization

A Decertification Petition alleging that the employees in an
established appropriate unit no longer desire to be represented by the
incumbent Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization may be filed
with the Employee Relations Officer by one or more employees or their
representative or a third party employee organization. No Decertification
Petition shall be filed before the first anniversary of the organization's
recognition by the District.

A Decerttification Petition shall contain the following information and
documentation declared by the duly authorized signatory under penalty of
perjury to be true, correct and complete:

a. The name, address and telephone number of the petitioner and a
designated representative authorized to receive notices or requests for
further information.

b. The name of the established appropriate unit and of the incumbent
Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization sought to be
decertified as the representative of that unit.

606392 00001

el Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

October 29, 2019 Page 68 of 230



c. An allegation that the employees in the appropriate unit no longer
desire for the Incumbent Exclusively Recognized Employee
Organization to represent them, and any other relevant and material
facts relating thereto.

d. Proof of employee support that at least thirty (30) percent of the
employees in the established appropriate unit no longer desire to be
represented by the incumbent Exclusively Recognized Employee
Organization. Such proof of employee support shall be submitted for
confirmation to the clerk or secretary of the Board of Directors or to a
mutually agreed upon disinterested third party within the time limits
specified in the first paragraph of this Section.

An employee organization, may, in satisfaction of the Decertification
Petition requirements hereunder, file a Petition under this section in the
form of a Recognition Petition that evidences proof of employee support of
at least thirty (30) percent that includes the allegation and information

required under Section 7, paragraph (c), and otherwise complies with
Section 3.

The Employee Relations Officer shall initially determine whether the
Petition has been filed in compliance with the applicable provisions of
Article ll. If this determination is in the negative, he/she shall offer to meet
and confer with the representative(s) of the petitioning employees or
employee organization and, if the determination remains unchanged, shall
return the Petition with a written statement of the reasons for rejection.
The petitioning employees or employee organization may appeal such
determination in accordance with Section 10. If the determination of the
Employee Relations Officer is in the affirmative, or if his negative
determination is reversed on appeal, he shall give written notice of the
Decertification or Recognition Petition to the incumbent Exclusively
Recognized Employee Organization and to the unit employees.

The Employee Relations Officer shall thereupon arrange for a secret
ballot election to be held on or about fifteen (15) days after such notice to
determine the wishes of unit employees as to the question of
decertification and, if a Recognition Petition was duly filed hereunder, the

006392 00001

25115653.1 Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

October 29, 2019 Page 69 of 230



question of representation. Such election shall be conducted in
conformance with Section 6.

If pursuant to this Section 7, a different employee organization is
formally acknowledged as the Exclusively Recognized Employee
Organization, such organization shall be bound by all the terms and
conditions of any Memorandum of Understanding then in effect for its
remaining term.

Section 8. Policy and Standards for Determination of Appropriate
Units.

The policy objectives in determining the appropriateness of units
shall be the effect of a proposed unit on: (1) the efficient operations of the
District and its compatibility with the primary responsibility of the District
and its employees to effectively and economically serve the public and, (2)
providing employees with effective representation based on community of
interest considerations. Factors to be considered shall be:

a. Similarity of the general kinds of work performed, types of qualifications
required, and the general working conditions;

b. History of representation in the District and similar employment; except
however, that no unit shall be determined to be an appropriate unit
solely on the basis of the extent to which employees in the proposed
unit have organized;

c. Consistency with the management, supervisory and organizational
structure of the District;

d. Number of employees and classifications, and the effect on the
administration of employer-employee relations created by the
fragmentation of classifications and proliferation of units; and

e. Effect on the classification structure and impact on the stability of the
employer - employee relationship of dividing a single or related
classification among two or more units.

Notwithstanding the forgoing provisions of this Section, managerial,

006392 00001

RERR Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

October 29, 2019 Page 70 of 230



supervisory and confidential employees, as defined in Section 2, may only
be included in a unit consisting solely of managerial, supervisory or
confidential employees, respectively. Managerial, supervisory and
confidential employees may not represent, or be included in any employee
organization that represents any other classification of employees.

The Board of Directors shall, after notice to and consuitation with
affected employee organizations by the Employee Relations Officer,
allocate new classifications or positions, delete eliminated classifications
or new positions, and retain, reallocate or delete modified classifications or
positions from units in accordance with the provisions of this Section.

Section 9. Procedure for Modification of Established Appropriate
Units.

Requests by employee organizations for modifications of
established appropriate units may be considered by the Board of
Directors.  Such requests shall be submitted in the form of a
Recognition Petition and, in addition to the requirements set forth in
Section 4, shall contain a complete statement of all relevant facts and
citations in support of the proposed modified unit in terms of the policies
and standards set forth in Section 8. The Employee Relations Officer shall
process such petitions as other Recognition Petitions under Article 1.

The Employee Relations Officer may on his/her own motion
propose modifications to an established unit. The Employee Relations
Officer shall do so by giving written notice of the proposed modification(s)
to the exclusively recognized employee organization representing the
affected unit, and by raising the matter with the Board of Directors at a
regularly scheduled Board meeting, at which time all affected employee
organizations shall be heard. Thereafter, the Board of Directors shall
determine the composition of the appropriate unit or units in accordance
with Section 8, and shall give written notice of such determination to the
exclusively recognized employee organization representing the affected
unit and any other affected employee organizations.

Section 10. Appeals

006392 00001

e Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

October 29, 2019 Page 71 of 230



An employee organization aggrieved by an appropriate unit or other
determination of the Board of Directors may, within ten (10) days of notice
thereof, request the intervention of the California Mediation and
Conciliation Service.

An employee organization or employee aggrieved by a
determination of the Employee Relations Officer may, within fifteen (15)
days of notice of the determination, appeal the determination to the Board
of Directors for final decision.

Appeals to the Board of Directors shall be filed in writing with the
Board's clerk or secretary, and a copy thereof served on the Employee
Relations Officer. The Board of Directors may, in its discretion refer the
dispute to the California Mediation and Conciliation Service. Any decision
of the Board of Directors determining the merits of the appeal shall be final
and binding.

ARTICLE lll. ADMINISTRATION

Section 11. Submission of Current Information by Recognized
Employee Organizations.

All changes in the information filed with the District by an
Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization under items (a) through
(h) of its Recognition Petition under Section 3 of this Resolution shall be
submitted in writing to the Employee Relations Officer within fourteen (14)
days of such change.

Section 12. Payroll Deductions on Behalf of Employee Organizations.

If the District has formally acknowledged an Exclusively Recognized
Employee Organization under this Resolution, the employees represented
by the organization shall provide written authorization for payroll
deductions of membership dues to the Union. The District shall rely on a
certification from the exclusively recognized employee organization of the
employees who have submitted written authorization for the payroll
deduction of membership dues. Upon receiving a certified list from the
exclusively recognized employee organization of such employees, the
District shall administer payroll deductions of membership dues for those

006392 00001

2Rl Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

October 29, 2019 Page 72 of 230



employees. The employee organization shall indemnify the District for any
claims made by any employee relating to deductions made in reliance on
the cerification provided by the employee organization. Such
authorizations shall be contingent upon and in accordance with the
provisions of a Memorandum of Understanding (hereafter MOU).
applicable District administrative procedures, and applicable provisions of
state or federal law.

Section 13. Employee Organization Activities- Use of District
Resources.

Access to District work locations and the use of District paid time,
facilities, equipment and other resources by an Exclusively Recognized
Employee Organization and those representing them shall be authorized
only to the extent provided for in the MOU and administrative procedures,
shall be limited to lawful activity consistent with the provisions of this
Resolution that pertain directly to the employer-employee relationship, and
shall not interfere with the efficiency, safety and security of the District's
operations.

Section 14. Administrative Rules and Procedures.

The Genera! Manager is hereby authorized to establish such rules
and procedures as appropriate to implement and administer the provisions
of this Resolution and meeting and conferring with any Exclusively
Recognized Employee Organization.

ARTICLE IV. IMPASSE PROCEDURES
Section 15. Initiation of Impasse Procedures.

If the Meet and Confer process has reached impasse, either party
may initiate the impasse procedures by filing with the other party a written
request for an impasse meeting, together with a statement of its position
on all issues. An impasse meeting shall then be scheduled promptly by
the Employee Relations Officer. The purpose of such meeting shall be:

a. To review the position of the parties in a final effort to reach agreement
on an MOU; or

006392 00001

IR Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

October 29, 2019 Page 73 of 230



b. If the impasse is not resolved, to discuss arrangements for a hearing
on the issue before the Board of Directors.

Section 16. Impasse Hearing Before the Board of Directors.

The Employee Relations Officer shall notify the Board of Directors
of the impasse within twenty-four (24) hours of its declaration, and shall
cause the issue to be placed on the agenda of the next regularly
scheduled meeting of the Board. The following format will be used to hear
comments regarding this issue:

a. At the meeting, the Employee Relations Officer shall first have an
opportunity to present information pertaining to the current negotiations
including the number and frequency of meetings, issues of agreement
and disagreement, and staff recommendations. Such presentation
shall take no longer than one-half (1/2) hour.

b. One designated representative of the Exclusively Recognized
Employee Organization shall have the opportunity to address the
Board regarding the Union's position, the impasse, resolution and any
other item directly pertaining to the impasse issue at hand. Such
presentation shall take no longer than one-half (1/2) hour. Other
employees wishing to speak on behalf of the issue may take no longer
than 3 minutes to speak; a total time limit of 30 minutes of comments
will apply to this issue.

c. Each member of the public desiring to comment on the issue may take
no longer than 3 minutes to speak, a total time limit of 30 minutes of
comments will apply to this issue.

d. The Employee Relations Officer shall be provided ten minutes to rebut
assertions made by the Exclusively Recognized Employee
Organization representative and employees.

e. The Board of Directors shall have the opportunity to question meeting
attendees regarding this issue at such length and duration as they
deem appropriate.

f. The Board of Directors may take such action regarding the impasse as

006392.0000]

ellEiEE Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

October 29, 2019 Page 74 of 230



it in its discretion deems appropriate and in the public interest.

g. This section is intended to supersede or limit the options or rights
provided to employee organizations under federal or state law,
including the statutory right to pursue post-impasse dispute resolution
procedures, including fact-finding.

Adopted this 16" day of October 2019

By

Robert Johnson, President

Aftest

Mark Ban, Secretary

006392 00001

251156531 Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

October 29, 2019 Page 75 of 230



Attachment »A-

Bargaining Units

General Unit Employees

Accounting Technician

Accounts Receivable Technician
Construction & Maintenance I/l
Customer Service Representative
Laborer

L.ead Construction & Maintenance
LLead Customer Service Representative
Lead Equipment Operator

Lead Water Production Operator
Pipelayer I/l

Field Service Technician

Office Assistant

Operations Technician

Water Production Operator I/l
Water Quality Specialist

Unrepresented

Management, Supervisory & Confidential Employees (MSC)

Accountant

Assistant General Manager — Controller
Assistant General Manager — Operations
Development Coordinator

Director of Administration

Distribution Supervisor

Executive Assistant

Purchasing & Contracts Administrator
Water Production Supervisor

006392.00001

el e Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

October 29, 2019 Page 76 of 230



RESOLUTION NO. 19-1015

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE JOSHUA BASIN WATER
DISTRICT APPROVING THE EMPLOYER-EMPLOYEE RELATIONS RESOLUTION

WHEREAS on March 15, 2000, the Board of Directors of the Joshua Basin Water District
established an Employer-Employee Organization Relations Resolution pursuant to Section
3507 of the Meyers Milias Brown Act (California Government Code section 3500 et seq.)
by way of Resolution No. 00-609;

WHEREAS it is necessary to update, revise, and clarify language in the Employer-Employee
Relations Resolution with new laws, regulations, and industry standard practices; and

WHEREAS the District’s negotiating team and the AFSCME negotiating team worked
cooperatively to develop a new Employer-Employee Organization Relations Resolution;

NOW, THERFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Joshua Basin
Water District hereby:

1) authorizes the Director of Administration to make any technical corrections if needed;

2) adopts the revised Employer-Employee Organization Relations Resolution, attached
hereto, superseding the Employer-Employee Organization Relations Resolution 00-609;

ADOPTED, SIGNED AND APPROVED this 29" day of October 2019.

Tom Floen
Geary Hund
Robert Johnson
Mike Reynolds
Rebecca Unger

Robert Johnson President, Board of Directors

Mark Ban, General Manager and Board Secretary

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 77 of 230



JOSHUA BASIN WATER DISTRICT
MEETING AGENDA REPORT

Meeting: Board of Directors October 29, 2019
Reportto:  President and Members of the Board
Prepared by: Sarah Johnson

TOPIC: Compensation Plan for the Management, Supervisory and Confidential employees of the
District.

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that the Board of Directors adopt the attached Resolution

19-1011 approving a revised compensation plan for the Management, Supervisory, Confidential
employees (hereafter “MSC”).

SUMMARY:

The last Compensation Plan, Resolution 17-974, was adopted in May of 2017 for the MSC employees.
Board resolutions in recent years have brought the MSC employees into parity with represented
employees in terms of cost of living adjustments and health and welfare benefits. The MSC employees
now see an opportunity to express their distinct needs and wishes to the Board and to request approval
of items specifically applicable to them. In an effort to streamline and facilitate the Board’s decision

process, the MSC employees present Resolution 19-1011 concurrently with the Board’s consideration
of the union employees’ proposal.

MSC Compensation Plan proposed provision changes are as follows:
1. MSC Employee Compensation

e Effective the first full pay period following Board approval bargaining unit members
receive cost of living increase of 3.25% (FY2019/2020).

» Effective the first full pay period after July 1, 2020 bargaining unit members receive a cost
of living increase of 2.5% (FY2020/2021).

2. Merit Increases — Annual Performance Evaluations

Merit increases shall be based upon a 3-tiered evaluation score as follows: Exceeds
Expectations: 2-Step Increase; Meets Expectations: 1-Step Increase; Not Meeting
Expectations: No Increase. This is from a 5-tiered evaluation scoring system - Excellent: 2-
Step Increase; Above Average: 1-Step Increase; Satisfactory: No Increase; Needs
Improvement: No Increase; Unsatisfactory: No Increase.

3. Health & Welfare

e NO CHANGE: Tier I - Employee’s Hired before January 1, 2017 Allowance of $1800 to
$1800 per month for the required enrollment in medical, dental, and vision plans.
Employees can receive cashback on any unused portion of the monthly contribution cap that
is not used healthcare enrollment. No Increased Fiscal Impact.

* NO CHANGE: Tier II - Employee’s hired between January 1, 2017 — September 3, 2019
and were enrolled in voluntary insurance products during the 2016-2019 MOU.
Allowance of $1800 per month for the required enrollment in medical, dental, and vision

plans. Employees can use the unused portion of the monthlgp%g&tmge%igog} £ap to purchase

October 29, 2019 Page 78 of 230



any insurance products offered by the District {example: voluntary Colonial products).
Employees in this tier cannot receive cashback on any unused portion of the monthly

contribution cap. No Increased Fiscal Impact.

e NEW Tier Ill - Employee’s Hired after to January 1, 2017
Effective the first pay period following board approval, the District shall contribute and pay
100% toward group medical, dental, and vision premiums for the employee and their
eligible dependents, subject to a monthly cap. The monthly cap shall be calculated utilizing
the monthly premiums for the group medical Kaiser HMO with Chiro Family Plan, 3307
Delta Dental Family Plan, and 4029 VSP Composite Plan.

For FY2019/2020, employees in this tier health benefits allowance will be increased by an
additional $185.55 per month (from $1,800 to $1985.55 per month).

o NEW - Effective first full pay period following January 1, 2020 the District will sponsor
Long Term Disability Insurance for bargaining unit members. This is an increase of
approximately $25 per month per member.

4. Working Hours, Holidays

o Effective the pay period beginning, 12/21/2019, MSC employees will move to a four ten
work week (ten hours per day, four days per week Monday — Thursday) from the nine-
eighty work week (nine hours per day Monday — Thursday, eight hours on Friday, with
every other Friday off).

» Effective FY2019/2020 MSC employees will receive Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve
as paid holidays. This results in a net one holiday increase.

o Effective FY2020/2021, MSC employees will no longer receive the Friday after
Thanksgiving as a paid holiday.

5. Tuition Reimbursement

Effective the first full pay period after approval by the District’s Board of Directors, and
with the discretion of the General Manager, educational assistance is available to regular
full-time MSC employees who desire to obtain skills and/or knowledge that enables them to
become more proficient in their present duties and/or prepare them for future assignments.
This education may occur after regular working hours at a college, vocational trade school,
or through a self-study correspondence course that leads to a certificate, license or diploma
related to the District operations.

Regular full-time MSC employees may receive reimbursement for pre-approved off-duty
educational expenses (including tuition, books, required fees, and parking) in accordance to
grades earned and rules set forth in the employee handbook. Grades “C” or higher and
Passes in a pass/fail course(s) = 100% refund subject to budgetary caps. Grades below a “C”
or a Fail in a pass/fail course will not be eligible for reimbursement.

6. 457 Deferred Compensation

Effective the first full pay period after January 2020 MSC employees receive a matching
contribution equal to 25% of the employee’s contribution, not to exceed $1000 per calendar
year (from 10% of the employee’s contribution, not to exceed $700 per calendar year).

7. Employee Handbook
Effective following Board approval, MSC employees will be subject to the provisions of the
Employee Handbook.

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 79 of 230



8. Other items include new or updated policies including: safety boot allowance for MSC field
employees, credential reimbursement, vacation accrual changes, sick leave updates to meet
current California paid sick leave law and the removal the accrual cap payout provision, and
the wellness program. There are no costing changes to the longevity pay, life insurance
benefits, or tuition reimbursement.

JUSTIFICATION:

The MSC employees carefully considered many potential benefits in their discussions. The items they
selected for inclusion in Resolution 19-1011 are those benefits they believe will prove advantageous
not only them but will provide the most benefit to future MSC employees and the District as a whole,
in the ways described below.

» A more skilled workforce. Recruitment and retention of a skilled workforce is of vital
importance. The District faces retirement of approximately 25% of its employees over the
next five years, including several key employees. It will need to compete with other
employers to attract the best individuals to fill those vacancies. New employees will expect
benefits that meet or exceed industry standards. The District is also growing in size and
complexity in response to a growing population in Joshua Tree. New recruits will likely be
experienced employees from this talent pool. Many will have families, and some may be
recruited from other water districts where they enjoyed robust benefits. The District must be
prepared to offer comprehensive benefits to recruit future employees.

» Continuous professional development. The MSC group is comprised of professionals who
consistently seek to improve their performance through education, training, and increased
understanding of how they can contribute to the District’s mission. Ensuring that funds are
available for the pursuit of such endeavors is essential for recruiting and retention and for
fostering a progressive work environment rich in professional development. Just as the
District strives to improve the quality of its operations over time, its employees aspire to
elevate the skills they contribute to the District.

» Healthier, more productive employees. It is vital for the District to keep the water flowing,
but equally important to promote and maintain a healthy and productive workforce.
Instituting health and wellness measures achieves this goal by offsetting negative side
effects of managing existing workloads while taking on new public service offerings, such
as mainline replacement. Health and wellness measures can reduce employee healthcare
costs, reduce lost work time due to illness, and improve the District’s professional image.
Adopting such measures will send a clear message to future and existing employees that the
District cares about its employees and their health and wellbeing.

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 80 of 230



FISCAL IMPACT:

The annual cost is 6.1% over the contract period. These costs align with the cost of living index for

Riverside-San Bemardino-Ontario area from Sept 2018 to Sept 2019 which was 3.1%.

Adoption of Resolution 19-1011 would result in the following costs over the next 22 months:

Items YR. 1-FY 19/20 YR. 2 -FY 20/21 Total

Wages 29,307.40 22,672.73 S 51,980.13
Health & Welfare 3,711.00 4,453.20 $  8,164.20
Boots 75.00 75.00 S 150.00
Bereavement 670.28 849.76 S 1,520.04
Long Term Disability 1,350.00 2,700.00 $  4,050.00
457 Plan 1,640.00 1,968.00 S 3,608.00
Holidays 4,176.51 4,301.80 S 8,478.31
Credential Reimbursement 700.00 700.00 S 1,400.00
Vacation Accrual 2,441.92 4,289.08 S 6,731.00
TOTAL $ 44,072.11 $ 42,009.57 $ 86,081.68

The costs of the MSC Compensation Plan implementation will not require FY19/20 budget

adjustments due to the vacancy of two budgeted positions.

STRATEGIC PLAN ITEMS:

3.1.3 = Update Performance Evaluation System
3.1.5 — Engage in Labor Relations, Including Negotiations
3.1.7 — Prepare & Create Process for Succession Planning - Prepare for knowledge retention & future

recruiting strategies.

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 81 of 230




Management, Supervisory, Confidential Employee’s Compensation Plan

A,

Salaries

Effective with first full pay period starting after approval by the District’s Board of
Directors, the salary and salary ranges for all MSC classifications shall receive a cost of
living increase for all steps equal to 3.25%.

Effective with the first full pay period starting in July 2020, the salary and salary ranges

for all MSC classifications shall receive a cost of living increase for all steps equal to
2.5%.

Merit Increases — Annual Performance Evaluations

Each regular MSC employee shall be evaluated utilizing a performance evaluation form
approved by the General Manager or their designee. The timing of evaluations shall occur
as outlined in the Employee Handbook. Merit increases shall be based upon the
evaluation score as follows:

Exceeds Expectations; 2-Step Increase
Meets Expectations: 1-Step Increase
Not Meeting Expectations: No Increase

No employee will be entitled to salary in excess of the top step for the employee’s
classification.

Longevity Pay

Each regular MSC employee shall be eligible for longevity pay in the following amounts:
After 10 years of continuous District service: $20.00 per month;
After 15 years of continuous District service: $40.00 per month; and
After 20 years of continuous District service: $60.00 per month.

Although stated as a monthly amount, the longevity pay shall be paid in each pay period
in an amount equal to the monthly amounts stated above. Continuous District service
preceding the approval of this resolution by the District’s Board of Directors shall count
toward meeting the service thresholds described above.

Safety Boot Allowance for Eligible Employees

Effective the first full pay period after approval by the District’s Board of Directors,
regular full-time MSC employees will be provided a boot allowance up to $225.00 per
calendar year. Eligible classifications include the Production Supervisor, Distribution
Supervisor, AGM-Operations, or as determined by the General Manager.

. Health & Welfare Bencefits

Group Health Insurance

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 82 of 230



The District provides group medical, dental, and vision insurance for regular full-time
MSC employees and their eligible dependents. Coverage shall begin on the first day of
the month following one month of continuous employment. The District shall contribute
toward the monthly premiums for medical, dental, and vision plans for the employee and
their eligible dependents, subject to a monthly cap. The employee is responsible for any
costs above the monthly cap.

Eligibility must be proven to enroll dependents (i.e., birth certificate, marriage license,
etc.). It is mandatory to report changes in dependent status within thirty (30) days of the
event (such as adding a dependent(s) due to birth or adoption of a child, adding a spouse,
or deleting a dependent due to divorce or death).

Any employee who is regularly scheduled to work less than forty (40) hours per week is
not eligible for a District contribution or to enroll in group health benefits.

Health Plans

To learn more about the District health plans, review the Summary of Benefits and
Coverage (SBC) documents available from Human Resources. Each employee is
encouraged to review SBC’s before selecting their health plans.

Medical Enrollment

Eligible employees may choose from available medical plans offered. All regular full-
time employees shall be enrolled in a District provided medical insurance at a minimum
employee level. Dependent coverage is optional.

Dental Enrollment

All regular full-time employees shall be enrolled in the District provided dental insurance
at the minimum employee level. Dependent coverage is optional.

Vision Enrollment

All regular full-time employees and all their eligible dependents shall be enrolled in the
District provided vision insurance plan.

District Contribution for Group Health Insurance - Effective the first full pay period
after approval by the District’s Board of Directors.

Legacy - Employee’s Hired before January 1, 2017 and selected the legacy option during
the 2017 open enrollment.

The District shall contribute $1,000.00 per month for each eligible MSC employee to be
used for employee health, dental, vision, and related insurance benefits.

MSC employees who selected the legacy option during open enrollment 2017 are
permitted to opt out of the District medical plan, only if they provide proof of other
acceptable alternative group medical coverage. The employee must submit a signed
written notice of declination indicating that the employee is declining the District’s
medical insurance coverage along with proof of acceptable alternative group coverage
annually.

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 83 of 230



The MSC employee will be required to participate in dental and vision insurance benefits.
From the monthly benefit, the District shall deduct the mandatory premiums for dental at
the employee only rate, and the mandatory premium for vision at the composite rate,

The MSC employee is permitted to use the balance of the contribution for any related
insurance benefit offered by the District. The MSC employee is permitted to receive the
unused balance of the contribution as a cash benefit. The cash benefit may be subject to
taxation.

If the Legacy MSC employee has a qualifying loss of acceptable alternative group
medical coverage, the employee must notify the District of their loss in coverage as soon
as possible. The employee would become eligible to enroll in the District provided
medical plan (subject to applicable waiting periods) under Tier 111 provisions.

Tier I — Employee’s Hired before January 1, 2017
The District shall contribute toward the group medical, dental, and vision premiums, up
to a maximum monthly cap of $1800.

Employee’s hired prior to January 1, 2017 are entitled to receive cashback on any unused
portion of the monthly contribution cap that is not used by the required enroliment in
medical, dental, and vision plans. The cashback will be paid as an addition to the
employee’s paycheck, in accordance with the District’s normal pay schedule, and will be
recorded as taxable (non-PERS) income,

Tier 1I — Employee’s hired between January 1, 2017 — September 3, 2019 and were
enrolled in voluntary insurance products during 2016-2019.

The District shall contribute toward the group medical, dental, and vision premiums, up
to a maximum monthly cap of $1800. Employee’s in Tier Il are entitled to use the unused
portion of the monthly contribution cap that is not used by the required enrollment in
medical, dental, and vision plans to purchase any insurance products offered by the
District (example: voluntary Colonial products).

Employee’s hired after January 1, 2017, are not entitled to receive cashback on any
unused portion of the monthly contribution cap that is not used by the required
enrollment in medical, dental, and vision plans, or the enrollment in voluntary insurance
products.

Tier I1I - Employee’s Hired after to January 1, 2017

The District shall contribute and pay 100% toward group medical, dental, and vision
premiums for the employee and their eligible dependents, subject to a monthly cap. The
monthly cap shall be calculated utilizing the monthly premiums for the group medical
Kaiser HMO with Chiro Family Plan, 3307 Delta Dental Family Plan, and 4029 VSP
Composite Plan.

Employee’s hired after January 1, 2017, are not entitled to receive cashback on any
unused portion of the monthly contribution cap that is not used by the required
enrollment in medical, dental, and vision plans.

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 84 of 230



During open enrollment or qualifying event (the plan administrator must receive
notification of the qualifying event within 30 days of the qualifying event), Legacy, Tier I
or Il employees may opt to convert to the Tier lII provisions to obtain the benefit
contributions available in Tier IlI. Legacy, Tier I or Il employees who opt into Tier III,
cannot revert to their former Tier following the conversion.

Contribution Proration (if applicable)

Any full-time regular employee who earns less than forty (40) paid hours per week, shall
receive the applicable contribution prorated (i.e., the number of paid hours per week will
be compared to forty (40) hours per week to determine the basis of proration). Proration
may subject the employee to an increased share of cost in the health premiums depending
upon the employees selected plans and Tier level.

. Life Insurance

Effective the first full pay period after approval by the District’s Board of Directors, a life
insurance policy of twice the employee’s base salary will be provided to each regular
full-time MSC employee at no cost, subject to maximum coverage to $150,000 without
medical testing. The insurer shall require a medical exam and/or testing if the twice the
employee’s salary is greater than $150,000. If the employee passes the medical exam and
testing to the insurer’s requirements, the District shall pay the additional premium.

Regular full-time MSC employees may to purchase coverage under a group life insurance
policy in excess of the coverage provided by the District. Life insurance coverage shall
be adjusted prospectively for all employees on an annual basis at one time to reflect
changes in base salary over the prior year. The District shall have no obligation to adjust
life insurance levels for individual employees prior to this time to reflect changes in their
personal compensation level. Employees may also purchase life insurance for their
spouse and dependents, subject to insurability.

. Retirement Programs — Deferred Compensation/457

Effective the first full pay period after January 2020 the District shall make a matching
contribution equal to 25% of the employee’s contribution, not to exceed $1000.00 per
calendar year for regular full-time MSC employees. (Example — employee contributes
$2,000.00 to the deferred compensation/457 Plan between January 1-December 31. The
District shall be obligated to pay 25% of $2,000.00 ($500.00) into the employee’s
account. The District shall make its contribution at the end of the calendar year.

. Tuition Reimbursement

Effective the first full pay period after approval by the District’s Board of Directors, and
with the discretion of the General Manager, educational assistance is available to regular
full-time MSC employees who desire to obtain skills and/or knowledge that enables them
to become more proficient in their present duties and/or prepare them for future
assignments. This education may occur after regular working hours at a college,
vocational trade school, or through a self-study correspondence course that leads to a
certificate, license or diploma related to the District operations.

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 85 of 230



Regular full-time MSC employees may receive full reimbursement (subject to the
reimbursement budget set by the board each fiscal year) for pre-approved off-duty
educational expenses (including tuition, books, required fees, and parking) in accordance
to grades earned and rules set forth in the employee handbook.

» Grades “C” or higher and Passes in a pass/fail course(s) = 100% refund subject to
budgetary caps.

¢ Grades below a “C” or a Fail in a pass/fail course will not be eligible for
reimbursement.

Credential Reimbursement

Effective the first full pay period after approval by the District’s Board of Directors, the
District shall reimburse regular full-time MSC employees for voluntary or required
professional credentials, licenses, and/or certifications which enhances the employee’s
usefulness to the District as a whole and to their jobs. The entire program shall be subject
to rules established in the employee handbook and the General Manager’s approval.

. Vacation Accrual

Full-time MSC employees accrue vacation in accordance with the following schedule:
Years | through4  4.62 per pay period
Years 5 through 10 6.15 per pay period
Years 10 + 7.69 per pay period

Upon hire or promotion, MSC employees may be placed into a higher accrual tier at the
discretion of the General Manager.

. Health & Wellness Program

The District provides and pays 100% of the cost of a basic gym membership at 5-Star
Fitness in Yucca Valley or Total Fitness in 29 Palms for regular full-time MSC
employees, at the discretion of the General Manager. Note these benefits are taxable.

. Long Term Disability

The District provides and pays 100% of the premium for long-term disability insurance
for regular full-time employees.

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 86 of 230



RESOLUTION NO. 19-1011

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE JOSHUA BASIN
WATER DISTRICT APPROVING THE COMPENSATION PLAN FOR THE
MANAGEMENT SUPERVISORY, AND CONFIDENTIAL UNIT

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Joshua Basin Water District (hereafter “District”),
amends and restates the compensation plan for the unrepresented Management, Supervisory,
and Confidential employees (hereafter “MSC”); and

WHEREAS, other benefits included in the employee handbook and any benefits provided prior
to the adoption of Resolution 19-1011 remain in full effect;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Joshua Basin
Water District hereby:

1) approves the attached MSC compensation plan.

ADOPTED, SIGNED AND APPROVED this 29" day of October 2019.

Tom Floen
Geary Hund
Robert Johnson
Mike Reynolds
Rebecca Unger

Robert Johnson, President, Board of Directors

Mark Ban, General Manager and Board Secretar;

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 87 of 230



JOSHUA BASIN WATER DISTRICT
STAFF REPORT

Meeting; Board of Directors October 29, 2019
Reportto:  President and Members of the Board
Prepared by: Sarah Johnson

TOPIC: New Employee Handbook

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that the Board of Directors adopt the attached Resolution
19-1012 approving the newly revised Joshua Basin Water District Employee Handbook.

SUMMARY:

An employee handbook is an important document as it provides standardization of personnel policies,
helps to prevent misunderstandings, informs the reader on District expectations, and it also states the
District’s legal obligations as an employer and the rights of employees.

Reasons to have and Employee Handbook

» [t brings uniformity across the District. It explains expectations for everyone and mentions the
consequences of violating these rules. By explaining workplace ethics and expected behavior
with colleagues and the management, an employee handbook minimizes workplace disputes.

o [t saves time on the personnel or administration team. Documented rules and procedures in the
handbook save your managers time from explaining the same polices over to new employees
joining and to others.

o [t helps new employees to set their expectations from the District in terms of work schedules,
leave, compensation and benefits, dress code, performance reviews, salary and pay revisions,
holidays, training, termination policies, and more.

It is a guidebook for your Human Resource team and a reference manual for your managers.

o It reduces the start-up time of your new employees by giving them clarity on their job
responsibilities by including details on the District's expectations from them. It also conveys
performance parameters and ways of acknowledgement of their good performance.

s By giving information on the District’s policies on use of personal gadgets and devices within
the premises, the employee handbook includes the terms and conditions for use of this
equipment and the fallout from non-compliance of these rules.

o It helps the District to comply with federal as well as state employment laws and can be a

beneficial legal defense against an employee lawsuit.

It helps the District come forward with its stand on issues like favoritism, discrimination,

harassment, and also provides information on how to report any violations regarding such

issues,

The final draft of the Employee handbook presented to Board has been reviewed by legal counsel and
representatives of AFSCME.

STRATEGIC PLAN ITEMS:

3.1.1 — Create Orientation & Onboarding Program & Policy

3.1.6 - Create & Implement Employee Awards & Recognition Program
3.3.1 — Update Employee Handbook

3.3.2 — Update Open Door Policy

3.4.2.4 - Create Workplace Violence Policy

3.4.2.3 - Create Security Policy Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 88 of 230



JOSHUA BASIN
ATER DISTRICT

= | Proudly providing water from an ancient
source...well into the future

Employee Handbook

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 89 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Contents

Section 1. INErodUCHION v st s bbbt st bas s sninssannassanssssssnassnsnnsssnnssssnsnessnnrrnsnns
AL INErOTUCEONY SEATEMIBIL .ociiiiiiiiiissanisiesisisssassssssrsbsssmemns rensssrmsnssarens s sanssssasns s sass sananss saasssssassssrisnsss SRR .
B. Vision, Mission, And WAIUES ...........ccimmmrismissinsssssnssismmisissnsssissss ssbsssseisssmsmi s stmssnmimmsnsransssms e sesmsssens 8
D 0pen OO POIMOY. s i o i e i e i it

E. Equal Employment Opportunity POlicy ...cocvnnnniininninn.

F. Purpose of Personnel Policies..........ccccvrvvcicnnvceninncn

G, ManapemENEt RIBNES . u. comcntiimn somssensamon sinszaniassssis i  simsninbingin s snsei d amiin s s fnsngisnsans D T |
H o DI OF PNITNOTIIN:: sxiviiiscinssmisnvdons iasonianinsisasvonss s voass ey snsdsrmss s robis S50 s i e i1 10
I. Departmental Rules, POlicies, 0r PrOCEAUIES ..............ccoeerisssrsssemsssssssssssssscssssssssssessassnssasssossssssasanss 10
L Conflleting:Policies: chn i m St  arme S i sy EA R e e 1
K. ADDIICADIItY OF POICIES ..ottt st s stasn st s be e sb st st s senssmenasessasaanesn 11
L. Amendment and Revision of Policies .......ccccooeeienininieienns Lo e .
M N CoNERCE RGN caiviiavisciimmmon it it insssnin s b o ybads sl ssmsed s iombev ioatt T o oo et i1
N. Violation of Palicies............cocceeeeeee.

SeCHiON 2. D iNTHON OF TEIIMIS wieeciirirssosiirinms sissssnsssnsesssuss bessts ssiss bhinss bbres sosssnsssrsnss sransssnnnns ronsrsserers L@

e P PR PP TP PP PP RO PR 11

AL Definition OF TEIMS. .o ssas s st rsa e s e raes e sas s sensssassanssaenseseseesssasnsran 13
Section 3. Employee and Non-Employee Classifications......c.csmisimmsnmmsrsesmiessmmsssmsssssmsessnna 17
B AN E IRV B xR S s e SN LS B G SO vivrins: 18
B P O BTN OO i o e S b A A o e B T 18
. Ror-Cause EmMplOyBe . i S i s R i s i
D, Full-Time Regular Emp Oy S ..ottt rbba st ss s s s s srrae s s resameere s eas e s neamn e ean e baesmnenrseees 18
B PA =TI BB R UL T E NI OVBES ... i asn oo Thsneti s irmninines s i a5 ¥ i K et A N AN e et 2 LI
Fo TR OR Ay ETPIOYBES 1. iuiisisisiiussicis st s vmss s txmi s emingi seimi sesice s smone £ S0 s stmd s i speiini e wwrivniiivisnnises- 18
G. Exempt and Non-Exempt EMPIOYEE ... iiimmimss st smsssssssssssssssssmssssmmrs seasas snssssmessessmsmseas 19
H. Independent CONtractor ........cccc e cieiiissee e sremssasescsanse s sasassmsanse ssnsssses R R A R T A
L VOB .......oociriiarssasiassrersrsas sssassssnss rassmsssssnsssssssasss ssshsssssssssnsssssbammn s sensas anmnssmrmssasesns cnsnsmsmnessasseseasanes 19
1 RENIT B EMPIOYBES. . iocoun i comisimmanss s ssmmiininns s smind i s e s i

Section . ClassINCation PIaN s uiis vt icodin isanpipssinipnisniirinand boind sbassinvnind sisivadsonsiinaniiaisaniscsnmsss sosiisvsviniissa €10
.............................................................. e B L R e R SO S R b
B Preparation of Yhe Plan i i e e e i T i i i T ]
C. New Positions............ U ——— 21
3 B E RS SITNC A IO 10 1o waiias s i 3 e i e o i e P & AP 58 S RrT—. [ |

E..LI5E OF Clam ST TEAUION THENEE 4ovvicni ciuvsmes ssmsinsiyiods v6is s iasiinnssies ssas u foisn s 50kioa skt o2 s P Fodbnie o sedicsiintnd 21

Page 2
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 90 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

F. Use of Class Specifications ... meereisnens e e N— 1 |
G. Use of the Classification Plan............... A RN VRS N A N A A i A S R b e SR e 22
H. Working Qut-of-Class ......ccviinninnns L e e e B e S i R e B R
K hanges b s S P R N I s i e B S e e B s S R S R A s s 22
Section 5. CoOmPensation PIAn ... ieissiimsiiisiisssissssisiissssissssssssssrasssrsssssssssassssssssassssrssssns 28
A PrEparation OF PIEM .o i iise s isbieisssssrssssessasssrassssnsaasssessesasamssesss s ssssmssessesessenns TR |
B. Adoption af Plan..........cccccvrcirrenrneas

A A P P P P BOSEP 25

o L)) | v ] o e O Oy A ot B e ot MR e R A AR e S e e e o S B
Section 6. Recruitment and Selection PoliCY. ... e rnsscessssnsssnsssnsssssssssssssss snsessssessns 28
A. Recruiting & Selection Process........cccevean. OO OO OO UO RGOSR

B. Promotional & Transfer Opportunites ... vcecccccnie s AR F SR G L A 1 (R
B A DI O L TONE o a5V  s E E EA SR B Pl b o o B S S i 1 28
C. Disqualification of Applications........ccccciviinines e R RS R R s B 28
D EMployment EXamiiNations ....uiissciimiimmsiromerimessssmeesssasssssssss sasss sasasse s ssssasansssasssesss A R
E. TYPES OF A DO MBS . cviiiieeiiiei sttt b s s s s seden s roaen s sraas e ara s ra e s srasssesasssesssnssassnessans 29
F. Targeted Recruitment and Selection Process........cvcveeeeeicecnessenennns L PR |
5 N ITCIRICIN 5 s i oo 3w S o o S S e S e P s i s
B O S R i et e B B e R TV N O o o 2 ey 30
J. Background Check Policy and Procedure...........ccomeeencincninenicsce s AR 30
L T T o 1 7= OO OO oS OSSR 32
L. New Employee Orientation .....c.covecicnnnnnnisnsesienns TN A R A R SR R R G G
Section 7. Probationary Periof ..ccieeiesiermansimmasmeniansesnsssmonsosaasossanssssanisasssnssssssassssssass sonhss sabhns sonnsn 35
A Probatlonany Pariod -.....oamiciiidiiiiimimeim i i e s s R e i 3
B. Successful Completion of Probation ..........ccceveeinieicenisseeeeenscnrenns AN e R e
C. Rejection of Probationany EMPIOVEE. ... ireeririsssreressasss s ssssssssasssssssssasess ssssssrsssssasssesssses e 34
D. Extension of Probation........ccccoeeccvcenncnsssssccsnenicnsanns N VLT A i A T S BN 35
Section 8. Compensation & Performance .. i sssssssssssssssisssnssnssssnsns 30
A. Attendance Policy.....ccoiciccccnccnncicicinnnn
B. Rest, Breaks, and Meal Periomds. ... ..ccoovveecvreeeeeensssersss s ssssr s ssssssssssnmssssenes S
C. Timekeeping ..ooccvveeneiienicanenns PSS 39
D AN DT AWNBBE 1 vsion s smaisnisamsin st wimiins i e i e e i p—

B BaSlS O GO IIEIS TS BERINN: 1515w i iees auibea v oo m oni i P i o s i 2 58 sy i A 40

A e R A N R i D

F.Payment of Wages ... i aiisianiidinin

H. Salary & Merit Eligibility Dates.........ccceecviiiicniinann TP 42

o NI s i i T s R R R s s e T S

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 91 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

L SRy N DTN CirCUMISEAMERE o oiiiriiissriinrriessasrisasrsrsesssessrrrsnmstassssensassibansrensssrrssass essssesssssrrssmnsererrens Sl
1. ACOiONA] O PO S O i v iiisisiismbiinssiiemins b § e Fivins s s e pa e S ndsa s e i iaai AV
K P T I D e o OIS e s o o e B e SR o BT s i o i 43
M. Changing Your Employee INFormation ... s s sssssssessssessssssenssnsenssssassssasssssrass 99
N. Performance EVAlUations ........coc.vereiecremieiceciseecine s ceies e snsneens SOOI .
Section 9. Employee Benefits ... s 1
B O TVETIES CIVOUNMEWS s iimsievinsinnssion iovsshssrmi o e RSB T PR s BT i STy s s e B
B GO U NS IFa D PG s e s e B B T R s s vt sl B
LTy = 1 DO TPPOPOPOTP . .
B O B T S O T S A IO . - 12 e i ' m i i i i o i . s s i i i § i Ry e g 50

F. External Employee Training - Training Programs, Seminars, Conferences, Lectures, Workshops,
Meetings, stc........ e AR, L ER L et e e e s s B s s sl e Y.

G. Off Duty Education - Tuition ReimbBursemEnt.. ... srss s s eras e e s ssasssens 52
H., EMPIOYEe CertifiTations . .covveierieiriiesnesseiisnsessssssessnssssssnsssssessssssnsssssessssssnsssssrsssesnsssssssssssssssassmsssssssss 33
I. Employee Recognition and Awards Program ... i TR R e R e P
J. Long Term Disability INSUraNCe ....ocociiimsiinsiiniinnnnn e B e R S R 55
SRCtON:10: L Palt Lo ls i i iniait it tosass sitons rimks Fhvsa i psvun ssns srasas spanis sobansa vrana mppuse soaind sbumis sruansas D
B W BCATION LBAVE .ovveeceee s e sts s sesse e ras s s st s b e e e sre e e ead e e s e e s aeem e e e s d e m e e nbe s sbd e ameenteeredanne 57
B HO Y S . vvreeisssssrsmsersssssrrssss cornes ssss sbrbnsssssserasss shbbss s hasss shbbnnsshbs s sbsssss srbrsnmbhss hbsss s mbes fhsmsamsnnannansssrmessnns 58
C. 5ick LEAVE ...covcirrnnressrrrnnsarsrnsns T e e TR A S P A« R WS A (SR VR R R A SR,
D. Administrative/ManagemMENt LEAVE ........cccccoeeerererarmsssrenssressesereessssesesssrssss ssssaenssassessssasss sassssanssssen &0
E. Jury and Wikness DULY LBaVe .ooimmiummi s i missssssss astasssssnss st sassas sssonssiassmsassesssisssmsisrassssans Gl
F. BErEAVEIMIENL LBBVE ....ooiveeeeccrrneeeresssrrsse s mmses s nssas s snnn s s s s mmnene s nsae s sassn s enammnan e enee e s nnsenesenmmnn s begees 61
G. Military Leave - REgUIAT EMPIOYEE ... siasinssiasssisis sisssssasssienisssrasssimns ssssnssasensensensas 62
H Il OB W AIBE . co it it s oA A A N PR e o R e DI
LTI O T B0 MO s iy e e o s e R e R S A R i e tesicae B
J. Organ or Bone MAarrow Leave [STatuLOnyh....usmissmnmssmissnmsss s sssssssssssssssssrisss B3
K. Paid AdminiStrative LBBVE ..o sas s sr s s sesn e s st e bs e e am e ebe e bt e me st e e sbsa s mansneeaen 63
Section 10.2 Leave of Absence Policies (LOA) .....ccrvcrsrsssrsssssssssssrsssssrassassssssssssssssssssarsasssrassssssassarans D9
B Loave OF BDEBNER RIS .o cviimns s imonsainti vs sanss i sty smsnss a5 s« S5535 Chnmms § i i s RS e PP TR PR 1.
B. Family and Medical LEave [FIMIL) .....cosciiiimineiimnisissismisssinsssmsssmas sassas vassssrmssssarassssasssmsssessass G0
C. Pregnancy Disability Leave [SIatUEOMY).....cc..couriassrereascmencsressssersesssssssasrressssssesensss srrnssesrasssssssessessssres D9
D. New Parent Leave ACt (Statutony)......cevvvceniennrscnnnnes F e S, 71
E. Military Spouse LEave [SIALUEDIYY s ummsessmsnssssnssaaraomsssmrssrsnessspsnsss s ssaryssssassssnsnysusmsnssnsvisns e B

Page 4
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 92 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

F. School Activity Leave (Statutory)........ce.e.. Sie b Sk S L AR T
G. Victim of Crime Leave (SEatULOMY) ..o rien i ssernsinsssssrassssressssesssaeas
H. Personal Leave of ADSENCE ....cceveeeeeeiieevvseeeesessssssnnes

AR AN LA ki ¥ amni s smmns s nadan s Sanes 73

L REINSTALEMENTE ... ceieiirinsensrnsnssssssissns sstsssissnssmmressnsse s smnmams anssmnssessnesssressss

J. CAITYOVEN ... A R I A AR A b D VR R U i S L L

B Tt T DD R0 S ot it e nescrinmmin o skt i
L. Catastrophic Leave DOnation POJCY .....cveimieriimemeriemmerimsimsssess nsssssessssseesssssssssess AR AP PRI e . |
Section 11, Safety and Health......cccccinnininninnineiiniieiiniin

A, Safe Workplace PONCIES ......ccoorvveeressieererae e srsssssssssssssssessnsnes rere i re et bt et s abat e sess sbanesasemnnsareane T T

L A G i et 74

B. Return to Work......oevveens etrreeee e enaatserans

Y R AT et et §wnn s nma s RO |

i IRBCUTIEY s sinissisibsoininiserimessimsan susios s imaiv ssssiabugvnn o R A R R ST S o R NN B s S SR 78
B DS A B S rICE NVOPIEE iy i it st i i i e e S R R T N e Gy -
E. Driving on the Job.......cccccceee SR poter T T (L SR ek 02 e sV A AT Ny .

F. DIstrict Uniformis. ... sseesssassersssssassesssssssssassens e eeere e enetean et s s sttt s eneennennnnan 80
G. Safety BOOL POlICY ..ot trissesrsss s vasn s sasne e s asnesasesnan SEURRURRRO -} |
Section 12. Employee Relations........cuiiiicnimsisnnsissinsossns sosansssrsnsssenssssssss snssss sassassansassansassesnasssnss s 3

B GO OF EXNICS viyrovnsiviivivet iisdormvisiintiat S st e e BT

B. RUles OF CONOUCL.......ccovvverrenns s ssnnssmnsnss sossassasnses

R R R S T R ). |

C. Reasonable Accommodation..........coueoimeneneerecssenennn: T T T T o I T e e s 86
D N T B EINIE. P OIS . .ovurymsinrasman it it nd 6 e i i s s i e SR A R e R T
E. Workplace Violence and Weapons............... R T T B S S e R T T varnsne BT
F. Alcohol and Drug Free Workplace Policy.........ccevmiiniciciicnninns SR v T T R 93
G. DOT and Safety Sensitive Drug and Alcohol Testing PONCY ........cocereerercnncersncerinnsseienienanne e |2
H. Policy Against Discrimination, Harassment, and Retaliation; and Complaint Procedure................ 100
I Whistle-blower PrOTECLION ...ccmimmmissssisisssmmmsmssmsssasnss ssssssssssnssassmsasrassrsnanes e TP e v L

TRy TRV R TR T T weene 106
K IR TR OT Y SERITIS ittt vt ot b T VS NS st T R s R A 106

el L e s S L e s [0 |
I, GO CEE I ON S EQUIDIMIBIIE ... e creeeeee s s s ssse s eesssenssssemmsste s resas esseesassasssisnnmnsseersnsssssenessenasssssonns 111

J. Dress Codes and Other Personal Standards......ccoccvvenee.

L. Internet Use.........ccoecciiiciannnnns I A

N. Qutside Employment .....oocvvnecrnnironnes

LAY LN b S e ¢ wam ¢ SR R b e P P NTT LOSPMPOME 11 I

O SIS O GrAEUIEIES. .. it st si et mnsi s uints s shsmdn e VS A o s ot b L B o SO S o e DL 114

P. Customer Relations .............ccvinnmninnennns

S E S Fk S s vann b hmen  hmns namans nand s nam e G114

Section 13, Staff Expense Reimbursement GUIdelings ........ccovirecnenissiseninimaninissemssiesmssssosnss 115
A. Reimbursement of EXDenSES......ocueieiiriviie e eeeeeeeereeseaeseeeans

B. Credit Card and Credit ACCOUNT USE........oieoreiimmessismssssssssssssssssnsssssnssssssssssssssssssssnsssssssessssesss e 116

Page 5
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 93 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

e NIl .. v ranmimssusscnsnrssnnssmsnusssssuis e espidsiss ap i i unici e s anirin s i g e v RS R i e s i L LD

D B T AN i i i s T 58 0 £ S T 0 S s L TR T [0 [

B Car Renbals, s r s i L i P i L B A R SR R n s A rer e
BN B s e e e B s L g e

G. LOOBING ..o e RSOOSR R ks 3
H. Caby/SRULEIE cooveiiiiniiiieiicees e ees s esseaassmesessnsennsne e A A AT e T S £ S 117
I. Expense Reports....... R Y B 3 T a0 TR 4 R R D I S e (R L e | ¥
Section 14. Miscellaneous PoOlIes . ... iorimssrresssssssnssssssasssssassossasssenast ssnsasssnssssnsassons 118
AvPersonnelRecords i s miiiin ttsisnmasiatis b
B. Employment of REIaEIVES......c..coviiiiii i s easnsasnscannane SSEPP—— 14 L
e 4 e S i R S 120

D PR KING s omsiivrisi GesAaT SAA SsRas  meis Seti a  B s MEaea e 1 20

C. Guests and Visitors.......cooeeereeeeesrrsessssssreesssnns

B H AU B B BRI - s s R R b S e b Vo e A S R M A PR o [
F Bt Boar s s i e L e e T R AN At AT e smms o s mrm 121
G. Audio/Video RECOTAINES ...uicrriiiiiissisinm s sessss s sssssesesssses RAP—————. - ; |
H. California Public Records Act REQUESTE {CPRA) ..o iviieiioiecitsssmisss s ssbassrssmnsrnsssssasamssssessesassmansses - 121
I. Outside Relations / Media CONLACE ....ovvvveeeeereveereriesersessessessaasmseresnns T PP A NANEET [
Section 5. DRI i i s s s R i S e s s e e e 1 2R
KoCauses:for Diseipline e nidaia sy e R Tk SO R AB oY E LS Fammnnympan st s 123
B. TYPES OF DISCIPINE .oc.viiiiiiiniiisiteiieirsisrsssiesressssssrsssssrsssesnsssssssssssssssassnns e 124
C. District Notice and Employee Appeal Procedures for Major DisCipling.......ccveeeceveeccesesieenne e 1260
D. Hearing Procedures for Major Discipling.......c.ccoenmiiciiinininne i T R R e 127
Section 16. Grievance Policy and ProCedures ........cceusmeermsmesmmsmmissismsnieimisseissisesssssssnsssssssasssssens 129
A, Grievance POBCY .....c..coeniiees s ssssssssss s sssessssna S A L e e L 130
Section 17, Separation From Servite .. s esisssssrsssesnssssssssssssssssssss 133
A. Leaving the District.......ccovoecmecinrneriens L R AR g S i i B S e surene 134
B. Employment REfErBNCES . ..cccuvveivenirireessiesnessmevasseessssssassmssans R N T A e T B AR e P 135
Confirmation o BecBlpl .. .. o mihsihaianauikahnmsidnnmemie:136

Confirmation of Receipt of EMployee HaNABooK..........vciveoieeiinsecisssessesssnssssssssssssssesensesssssssmesses 13s6
Confirmation of Receipt of Discrimination, Harassment, and Retaliation Policy & Procedures.......... 136

Page 6
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 94 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 1. Introduction

Page 7
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 95 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Introductory Statement
Welcome!

As an employee of loshua Basin Water District {"District"), you are an important member of a team
effort. We hope that you will find your position with the District rewarding, challenging, and productive.

Because our success depends upon the dedication of our employees, we are highly selective in choosing
new members of our team. We look to you and the other employees to contribute to the success of the
District.

Handbook Interpretation and Introduction

This Handbook is intended to provide you with a general understanding of Joshua Basin Water District's
human resource policies, benefits, and rules. It is intended to familiarize you with important information
about the District as well as information regarding your privileges and responsibilities. Although it is not
an employment contract or legal document, it is important that all employees read, understand, and
follow the provisions of the Handbook. It may be changed from time to time by the District. You will be
notified in writing of any amendments and additions to these policies and procedures, Keep this
Handbook, additions, and revisions on file for your reference.

This Handbook cannot anticipate every situation or answer every question about employment, nor can it
provide information that answers every possible question. Additionally, circumstances will undoubtedly
require that guidelines, practices, and benefits described in this Handbook change. Accordingly, the
District must reserve the right to modify, supplement, or rescind any provision of this Handbook from
time to time, as it deems necessary. You will, of course, be advised of changes that occur.

The District is constantly striving to improve its operations, the services that it provides, and its relations
with its employees. You are encouraged to bring suggestions for improvements to the attention of your
department head or the Director of Administration. Additionally, if you have any questions or seek
ctarification, you should see your department head. By working together, the District believes that it will
share with its employees a sincere pride in the workplace and the services that we are here to provide.

Supersedes Previous Versions

This handbook summarizes the policies, rules, and practices in effect at the time of publication. This
handbook supersedes all previously issued handbooks and any policy or benefit statements or
memoranda that are inconsistent with the policies described herein. Your supervisor or manager will be
happy to answer any questions you may have.

B. Vision, Mission, and Values

Vision Statement
To achieve excellence in all District endeavors.
Mission Statement

To provide, protect, and maintain Joshua Tree's water - our vital community resource.

Page 8
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 96 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Values

The community of Joshua Tree has entrusted the Board of Directors and employees of Joshua Basin
Water District with its most valuable natural resource, its groundwater. As stewards of the community
water supply, we oversee this critical natural resource to ensure current and future water reliability.
Dedicated to this purpose, we embrace these important values:

® |ntegrity — To consistently earn our customers’ trust by prioritizing the needs of the
community...doing the right thing for the right reason.

® Transparency — To openly and honestly share information about our operations with the public.

® Respect - To treat the residents of Joshua Tree, and all those contacted in the course of
business, with high esteem and regard.

® Fiscal Responsibility — To manage all resources as if they were our own, whether revenues,
assets, or water supply, in a conscientious and appropriate manner.,

® Accountability — To take responsibility for our decisions and actions in managing this essential
resource.

D. Open Door Policy

Joshua Basin Water District promotes an atmosphere in which you can talk freely with management.
You are encouraged to openly discuss with your department head any concerns so appropriate action
may be taken. If they cannot be of assistance, Human Resources or the General Manager is available for
consultation and guidance. The District is committed to the success and happiness of all its employees.

E. Equal Employment Opportunity Policy

The District affords equal employment opportunity for all qualified employees and applicants as to a!l
terms of employment, including compensation, hiring, training, promotion, transfer, discipline, and
termination. The District prohibits discrimination against employees or applicants for employment on
the basis of race, religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical disability, mental disability,
medical condition, genetic information, marital status, sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression,
age (40 and over), sexual orientation, military and veteran status, or any other basis protected by

law. Employees, volunteers, or applicants who believe they have experienced any form of employment
discrimination or abusive conduct are encouraged to report such conduct immediately by using the
complaint procedures provided in these Policies, or by contacting the U.S. Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission, or the California Department of Fair Employment and Housing.

F. Purpose of Personnel Policies

Objectives

These Personnel Policies are designed to facilitate efficient and economical service to the public and
provide a fair and equitable system of personnel management for the District. These policies and
procedures are set forth to ensure similar treatment for those who compete for original and
promotional employment and define certain obligations, rights, privileges, benefits, and prohibitions
which are placed upon all District employees.

Page 9
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 97 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Employment Standards

The District Board and the ratepayers of the District have the right to expect that the District will employ
the best-qualified individuals available; that the tenure of every District employee will be based on a
demonstrated need for the work performed, availability of funds, faithful and effective performance,
proper personal conduct, and continuing qualifications for the position; and that each employee will be
encouraged, trained, and developed to ensure optimum performance.

District Responsibility to Employees

Each employee has the right to expect to be fully informed of their duties and responsibilities; to be
provided with adequate administrative and supervisory direction; to be informed of their level of job
performance; that promotions will be made on the basis of merit and ability; that progressively
improved work performance over an extended period will be recognized and rewarded; that
incompetence will not be tolerated; and, after the successful completion of the probationary period, to
not be subject to suspension, demotion, reduction in salary, dismissal or other disciplinary action
without just cause.

G. Management Rights

Under the authority and approval of the Board of Directors, the General Manager has the exclusive right
to determine the mission of the District; set standards of service; determine the procedures and
standards of selection for employment; hire; direct its employees; set and alter compensation of
employees; take disciplinary action for cause; transfer; promote; lay off its employees from duty;
determine the content of job classifications; contract and subcontract work; maintain the efficiency of
governmental operations; determine the methods, means and personnel by which operations are to be
conducted; take all necessary actions to carry out its mission in emergencies, and exercise complete
control and discretion over its organization and the technology of performing its work.

H. Delegation of Authority

Delegation of Appointing and Personnel Authority to the General Manager

The District Board delegates to the General Manager, the authority to authorize employment, establish
job responsibilities and perform other personnel actions as to all subordinate employees in accordance
with all federal and state laws and regulations and these Policies. The Personnel Officer of the District is
the General Manager. The General Manager may delegate any personnel powers or duties to another
employee of the District.

Retention of Personnel Authority as to Certain Personnel

As to those elected officials, or employees who directly report to the District Board, if any, the District
Board retains all authority over all personnel actions as authorized by law and these Policies.

I. Departmental Rules, Policies, or Procedures

These Personnel Policies do not preclude the General Manager or individual District departments from
developing and administering supplemental departmental rules, policies, or procedures as long as they
do not conflict with these Rules, other District resolutions, and ordinances, or existing laws.

Page 10

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 98 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

J. Conflicting Policies

Memorandum of Understanding

If a provision of these Policies conflicts with any provision of a valid collective bargaining agreement
between the District and a recognized employee arganization, the provision of the collective bargaining
agreement that is in confiict shall apply to employees covered by that collective bargaining agreement.

State Law

Where a conflict exists between items stated in these Rules and California state law, the state statutes
shall prevail.

K. Applicability of Policies
These Policies apply to all categories of employees of the District unless a specific section or provision
excludes them. Independent contractors, volunteers, and board members are not employees.

L. Amendment and Revision of Policies

The District retains the full discretion to modify these Palicies at any time in accordance with the
law. Any modifications involving a term or condition of employment are subject to the meet and confer
process with designated representatives of the affected employee group{s).

M. No Contract Right

These Personnel Policies or Rules (“Policies” or "Rules") do not create any contract right or any express
or implied contract of employment.

N. Violation of Policies

Violation of a provision(s) of these policies shall constitute grounds for disciplinary action including, but
not fimited to, dismissal, rejection, demotion, reduction in salary, suspension, or written reprimand. A
violation shall not make disciplinary action mandatory but shall be considered as appropriate in view of
all the circumstances, or as set farth in applicable MOU.

Page 11
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 99 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 2. Definition of Terms

Page 12

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 100 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Definition of Terms

1

10.
11.
12,

13.

14.

Acting/Interim Appointment — an employee who is appointed to a different classification for a
limited and/or temporary period of time. Acting/Interim appointments may occur for reasons
such as a position is temporarily vacant due to a suspension, demotion, termination, or
authorized leave of absence.

Acting/Interim Pay — additional compensation for temporary assignment to a positionin a
higher classification (appointments to lower classifications may not receive acting/interim pay).
Acting pay may not be pensionable in CalPERS.

Administrative Leave Types—

a. Administrative Leave: a temporary leave of absence with pay initiated by the District
during a disciplinary action proceeding or investigation. This leave does not accrue and,
when used, is not charged against any leave balance.

b. Management/Administrative Leave: paid time off provided as a benefit to FLSA-exempt
employees in lieu of overtime compensation as recognition that such employees may be
required periodically or routinely to work long or irregular hours, and to attend various
meetings and functions outside of normal business hours to fulfili their responsibilities.
Often, this type of leave is referred to simply as “Administrative Leave.”

Advancement — a salary increase of one or more steps within the limits of the pay range
established for a classification.

Allocation — the assignment of a single position to the proper classification in accordance with
the specifications for that class.

Applicant - an individual who has completed and submitted a formal application for
employment with the District, in accordance with established procedures.

Appointing Authority — the General Manager or his/her designee, who has the final authority to
appoint or remove a person from a position of employment within the District service.

The District Board is the appointing authority for the General Manager.

Appointment — the offer and acceptance of a position in the District, either on a regular or
at-will basis.,

At-Will - the status of those employees who serve at the pleasure of the appointing authority
and may be dismissed without cause or right of appeal, as provided by California Labor Code
section 2922. This includes the General Manager, probationary employees, contract employees
employed under an individual employment contract, emergency employees, project employees,
temporary employees, and volunteer personnel.

Business Day — any day in which normal business operations are conducted.

Calendar Day —a 24-hour day as listed on the calendar.

Class Specification — a written job description of a classification, setting forth factors and
conditions which are essential characteristics of positions in the classification.

Classification or Class — a group of positions with sufficiently similar duties, responsibilities,
authority, and minimum qualifications for employment to permit combination under a common
title and equitable application of common standards of selection, compensation, transfer, and
promotion.

Classification Series — A group of two or more job classifications that are closely related in duties
and where the differences involve required education and experience, complexity, degree of
responsibility, and other similar factors. A class series typically includes entry, journey, and/or
advanced journey level classes.

Page 13
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 101 of 230



15,

16.
17.

18.

19.

20,

21,

22.

23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

28,

29.

30.

31

32

33.

34,

35.
36.

37.

38.

Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Compensation - The salary, wage, allowances, benefits, and other forms of valuable
compensation earned by, or paid to, any employee by reason of employment with the District.
Compensation Plan — the assignment by the District Board of salary ranges to each position.
Continuous Service - the employment without an uncredited break or interruption of service of
an employee in a probationary or regular status.

Contract Employee —an employee hired by written agreement with the District for a specific
term and under conditions wholly contained within the employment agreement. The General
Manager is a contract employee.

Day - a calendar day unless specified as a working/business day.,

Demotion - the voluntary or involuntary change in the status of a regular employee from a
position in one classification to a position in another classification having a lower maximum rate
of pay.

Department - An organizational unit with responsibility for the carrying out a function or variety
of functions under the supervision of a Department Head.

Department Head - The head of a department or multiple departments. (i.e., AGM, Director of
Administration, Director of Finance, Director of Ops, or as designated by the General Manager).
Disciplinary Action - The dismissal, demotion, reduction in pay, suspension, or letter of
reprimand of an employee for punitive reasons.

Discharge or Dismissal - the involuntary separation of an employee from District service.
District - Joshua Basin Water District.

Emergency Appointment — an employee hired for the period of an emergency. An emergency
employee serves at-will.

Employee — an individual who is legally employed by the District and is compensated through
the District payroll.

Examination — the process by which the Human Resources Department determines the
qualifications of applicants for employment in a classification

Exempt Employee —an employee who is not entitled to overtime under the Fair Labor Standards
Act {FLSA) because they qualify for one of the exemptions from the overtime provisions of the
FLSA.27.

Non-Exempt Employee — an employee who is entitled to earn overtime under the Fair Labor
Standards Act.

Full-Time Employee - An employee who fills an authorized District position and works regularly
scheduled 40-hour workweek.

Grievance - A formal action usually involving some aspect of the District Rules and Regulations
wherein the employee feels there has been a violation of a rule, regulation, policy, or practice.
DOvertime — compensation that is either paid at the rate of time and one-half pursuant to the
Fair Labor Standards Act or an applicable memorandum of Understanding (MOU) or salary
resolution.

Part-Time Status/Position — a position or status of an employee that works less than 40-hours
per week and is compensated on an hourly basis.

Personnel Officer - The General Manager.

Performance Evaluation - An evaluation conducted by the supervisor/manager of an employee's
job performance within the assigned position.

Position — a job with a combination of regularly assigned duties and responsibilities requiring the
full-time or part-time employment of one individual.

Probationary Employee — an employee who has to serve a probationary period prior to
appointment to a permanent position. Upon successful completion of the probationary period, a
probationary employee becomes a regular employee.

Page 14

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 102 of 230



39.

40.

41.

42,

43,
44,

45,

46.

47.

48.

49.

50.
51.
52.
53.

54.

55.

56.

57.

58.

Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Probationary Period — a working test period that is part of the selection process and during
which an employee is required to demonstrate to the District’s satisfaction his/her qualifications
for the position to which he/she has been appointed by actual performance of job duties.
Probationary Status — the status of an employee during the probationary period. An original
probationary employee serves at-will and may be rejected and separated without cause or right
of appeal. A promotional probationary employee may be rejected from the promotional
position and may be returned to his/her previous position without cause or right of appeal.
Project Employee — an at-will employee who is hired in either a full-time or part-time for a
prescribed period of time to complete a project.

Promotion — the advancement of an employee from a position in one class to a position in
another class having a higher maximum rate of pay.

Protected - Certain rights are protected by law.

Provisional Appointment — an appointment to a permanent position of a person who possesses
the minimum qualifications established for a particular classification and who has been
appointed to a position in that class in the absence of available eligible candidates. A provisional
appointment may not exceed six (6) months. An employee receiving a provisional appointment
will have at-will status in the position.

Reclassification - the movement of an employee from a position in one class to a position in
another class as the result of the District’s determination that the duties and requirements of
the employee’s position have significantly changed over time and are inconsistent with the
assigned classification. Reclassification may be to a position at a higher, lower, or lateral level.
Regular Employee/Regular Status— a full-time or part-time position and which is expected to
exist regularly. Regular employee status is after successfully passing the probationary period.
Reinstatement — the re-employment without examination of a former regular or probationary
employee.

Rejection — the involuntary separation from District service of an employee who does not
successfully complete the probaticnary period in a position and who does not have regular
status in another position in a different classification.

Relative — any person who is related by blood, marriage, or domestic partnership within the
third degree. Specifically, spouses, registered domestic partners, child, step-child, parent,
grandparent, grandchild, brother, sister, half-hrother, half-sister, aunt, uncle, niece, nephew,
step-relatives, or in-laws of those enumerated by marriage or domestic partnership.
Reprimand - a verbal or written censure made as a disciplinary action.

Resignation - the voluntary separation of an employee from District service.

Salary Schedule — the District's schedule of classification salary ranges.

Salary Range — one or more specific salary rates, having a percentage relationship to one
another, assigned to a classification on the salary schedule.

Salary Review Date — the date on which a probationary or regular employee is eligible, on the
basis of satisfactory job performance for a prescribed period, for a merit salary increase within
the salary range established for the position the employee occupies.

Salary Step — one of the established levels of pay within a prescribed salary range, usually
designated by a number.

Suspension — the temporary separation without pay of an employee from District service for
purposes of disciplinary action.

Temporary Position — a full-time or part-time position of limited duration. Employees filling
temporary positions do not acquire regular status and may be dismissed at the pleasure of the
appointing authority without cause or right of appeal.

Termination — the separation of an employee from District service because of retirement,

Page 15
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 103 of 230



59.

60.

61,

62.

63.

Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

resignation, death, or dismissal.
Transfer — a change of an employee from one position to another position in the same class or in
another class having the same maximum salary rate, involving the performance of essentially
similar duties and requiring substantially the same minimum qualifications.
Vacancy — an authorized position that is not occupied by an employee having either a
probationary or regular appointment to the position.
Work Shift - the number of working hours per day required of an employee occupying a
particular position.
Working Day —a day on which an employee is scheduled to work. For the purposes of appeal or
grievance rights under these Rules, where there is a difference in work schedules between a
department head and an employee, working days should be counted based on the employee’s
schedule.
Y-Rating — A salary rate authorized by the General Manager, which allows the employee to
retain a salary above the top step of the salary schedule for his/her classification. This is a
process by which an employee’s salary is not decreased when either:

a. the employee is reassigned to a classification with a lower range on the salary schedule

or

b. the salary range for the employee’s classification is set to a lower range on the salary
schedule.

Y-rating will automatically end once future increases bring the employee's new salary range
up to a level where the employee’s Y-rated salary falls within the new salary range.

Page 16
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 104 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 3. Employee and Non-Employee Classifications

Page 17

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 105 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. At-Will Employee

An at-will employee is one who serves at the pleasure of the appointing authority, has no property right
in continued employment, and has no right to any pre- or post-disciplinary procedural due process or
evidentiary appeal. At-will employees include any of the following:

a) General Manager

b) Temporary employees
¢) Probationary employees
d) Emergency Appointments

B. Probationary Employee

A probationary employee is one who is serving a probationary period at the outset of initial employment
with the District, or at the outset of a transfer; or a promotion to a higher classification.

During the probationary period, a probationary employee serves at the pleasure of the appointing
authority, has no property right in continued employment, and has no right to any pre- or
post-disciplinary procedural due process or evidentiary appeal. A probationary employee serving in the
initial probationary period is an at-wilt employee.

C. For-Cause Employee

A for-cause employee is one who has satisfactorily completed the initial probationary period and cannot
be disciplined except when the District has cause to do so. A for-cause employee has a property right in
continued employment and has the right to pre- and post-disciplinary procedural due process and an
evidentiary appeal for certain types of disciplinary actions that result in a significant deprivation of
property.

D. Full-Time Regular Employees

A full-time regular employee is one who has successfully completed their probationary period and
whose position is budgeted and scheduled to work at least 40 hours per week. Full-time employees
receive all benefits provided in these Policies unless otherwise provided in an MOU, salary resolution, or
an employment agreement approved by the District's Board. Benefit eligibility may depend on the
length of continuous service. Benefit eligibility requirements may also be imposed by the plans
themselves or by law.

E. Part-Time Regular Employees

A part-time regular employee is one who has successfully completed their probationary period and
whose position is budgeted and scheduled to work less than 40 hours per week. Part-time employees
may have different rights to leave and other benefits under the law or these Policies, depending on the
number of hours they work unless otherwise provided in an MOU, or an employment agreement
approved by the District's Board.

F. Temporary Employees

A temporary employee is an at-will employee who is hired to perform a specific task or to be employed
for a temporary period of time. Temporary employees are limited to six months on the job for full-time

Page 18
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 106 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

employment or not to exceed 999 hours or 125 working days in a fiscal year.

At the District’s sole discretion, it may choose to use an outside temporary employment agency or go
through the regular recruitment process to fill an open temporary position. Current regular employees
who are interested in the temporary position must apply through the District's regular recruitment
process.

A temporary employee serves at-will and at the pleasure of the appointing authority, has no property
right in continued employment, and has no right to any pre- or post-disciplinary procedural due process
or evidentiary appeal.

Temporary employees are not eligible for vacation, floating holidays, or any other benefits except those
mandated by applicable law. Temporary employees are eligible for 24 hours of paid sick leave per year.

G. Exempt and Non-Exempt Employee

Employees whose jobs are governed by the FLSA are either "exempt"” or "non-exempt." Non-exempt
employees are entitled to overtime pay. Exempt employees are not. Most employees covered by the
FLSA are non-exempt. Some jobs are classified as exempt by definition. For most employees, however,
whether they are exempt or non-exempt depends on {a) how much they are paid, (b) how they are paid,
and (c) what kind of work they perform.

The requirements to determine this status are outlined in the FLSA Regulations (promulgated by the U.S.
Department of Labor). See the Director of Administration if you have questions.

H. Independent Contractor

An independent contractor is not an employee and serves solely pursuant to a contract that has been
formed and approved as required by District purchasing policies and procedures. An independent
contractor cannot be used to perform any part of the District's regular and customary work.

I. Volunteer

A volunteer is not an employee, but instead is an individual who provides services to the District for civic
or philanthropic reasons and receives no compensation or benefits other than nominal fees and
reimbursement of expenses. A volunteer serves at-will and at the pleasure of the appointing authority,
has no property rights, and has no right to any pre- or post-disciplinary procedural due process or
evidentiary appeal.

J. Rehired Employees

Employees who are rehired following a break in service in excess of one (1} year, other than an
approved leave of absence, must serve another probationary period, whether or not such a period was
previously completed. Such employees are considered new employees from the effective date of their
re-employment for all purposes, including the purposes of measuring benefits, unless otherwise
approved by the General Manager.

Page 19
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 107 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 4. Classification Plan

Page 20
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 108 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Purpose

The Classification Plan includes a list of classifications with accurate job descriptions for each position.
The Classification Plan standardizes titles, each of which is indicative of a definite range of duties and
responsibilities and has the same meaning throughout the District.

B. Preparation of the Plan

The General Manager shall determine the duties and responsibilities of all positions in the District with
the assistance of Human Resources and the affected department heads.

The Classification Plan defines each position with a job description including title; a description of typical
duties and responsibilities; and a statement of the education, training, experience, and other
qualifications to be required of applicants and incumbents of the position.

Suggested amendments and revisions of the plan by any interested party shall be submitted to the
General Manager.

C. New Positions

It shall be the duty of the General Manager to establish new job classifications, subject to approval by
the Board of Directors. Each new position shall be included in the Classification Plan prior to filling the
vacancy.

D. Reclassification

A position determined by job analysis to have changed substantially over time in terms of duties and
responsibilities may be reallocated to a new and appropriate classification upon recommendation of the
department head and review and approval of Human Resources. Final approval must be granted by the
General Manager or his/her designee. An employee who is reclassified is not required to complete a
new probationary period.

E. Use of Classification Titles

Classification titles are to be used in all personnel, accounting, budget, appropriation, and financial
records. No person shall be appointed to or employed in any regular position under a title not included
in the Classification Plan. Other unofficial “working titles” may be used in the course of business to
indicate authority, status in the organization, or administrative rank, subject to the approval of the
department head and the concurrence of the Human Resources Department. No unofficial “working
title” shall be used to purposefully work someone out of class.

F. Use of Class Specifications

Class specifications (job descriptions) are to be interpreted in their entirety and in relation to others in
the Classification Plan. Particular phrases or examples are not to be isolated and treated as the full
definition of the class. Specifications are intended to be descriptive and explanatory of the kind of work
performed, and not necessarily inclusive of all duties performed by all employees in the classification.

Page 21
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 109 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

G. Use of the Classification Plan
The Classification Plan is to be used as follows:

1. A guide in recruiting and examining candidates for appointment and promotion.
In determining lines of promotion.

In determining salary to be paid for various types of work.

In determining personnel staffing in departmental budgets.

In providing uniform job terminology understandable by all District officials, employees, and the
general public.

H. Working Out-of-Class

No employee shall be required to perform duties, more than 50% of their working time, which is not
closely related both in kind of work and in level of responsibility to the duties normally assigned to
positions in the employee's classification, except on a short-term basis. For purposes of this section,
"short term or temporary or emergency basis" means 25 consecutive working days. If an employee is
performing duties that would normally be assigned to another classification (i.e., works “out-of-class”)
for an extended period of time (in excess of 25 consecutive working days), the Human Resources
Department will evaluate whether a reclassification, reassignment of duties, Acting and/or Interim
appointment is appropriate.

Gl e

If an Acting or Interim appointment is appropriate, the District and employee will meet to discuss the
terms of the Acting or Interim appointment. Such terms shall be documented in writing, then agreed to
and signed by the General Manager and the affected employee.

If an employee is given an Acting or Interim appointment, the employee may be eligible to prospectively
(after 25 working days) receive additional compensation in the form of Acting of Interim Pay, in
accordance with the provisions of the applicable MOU and/or salary resolution.

I. Changes to Class Specifications

The following procedures shall apply for changes to Class Specifications.

Major/Substantive Revision Definition - This is defined as duties being
added/changed/revised/updated, that results in changes to the job scope, job title, and/or salary
adjustments.

* Major/Substantive changes to existing class specifications {aka - job descriptions) are subject to
the meet and confer process, when applicable, with the appropriate representatives of
recognized employee organizations.

« The department head or General Manager shall meet to discuss substantive changes to existing
class specifications for affected unrepresented employees.

s The General Manager, or his/her designee can make changes to document formatting or minor
revisions. These inconsequential changes are not subject to the meet and confer or board
approval pracess.

Page 22
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 110 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Revision Process for Represented Positions

Minor Revisions
1. Make the revisions to the description with the employee, supervisor, and/or manager
involvement.

2. Meet and confer with the union. After union concurrence,
3. Send to the General Manager for approval.
4. The General Manager has the authority to adopt the newly revised description.

Major/Substantive Revisions or new Classifications
1. Create the new classification or make the revisions to the description with the employee,
supervisor, and/or manager involvement.
Send to the General Manager. After General Manager approval,
Meet and confer with the union. After union concurrence,
Send to the appropriate committee.
After committee review, send the job description to the Board of Directors.
6. After Board approval, formally adopt the job description.

Revision Process for Unrepresented Positions

Gl 52 L0

Minor Revisions
1. Make the revisions to the description with the employee, supervisor, and/or manager
involvement.

2. Send to the General Manager for approval.
3. The General Manager has the authority to adopt the newly revised description.

Major/Substantive Revisions or new Classifications
1. Create the new classification or make the revisions to the description with the employee,
supervisor, and/or manager involvement.
Send to the General Manager.
After General Manager approval, send to the appropriate committee.
After committee review, send the job description to the Board of Directors.
After Board approval, formally adopt the job description.

s

Page 23
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 111 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 5. Compensation Plan

Page 24
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 112 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Preparation of Plan

A Compensation Plan (aka Salary Schedule) covering all positions in the District is in place, showing the
minimum and maximum rates of pay. In arriving at salary ranges, consideration shall be given to
prevailing rates of pay for comparable work in public and in private employment, including
consideration of conditions of work; current costs of living; suggestions from department heads; the
District’s ability to recruit and retain good employees; internal equity; and the District's financial
condition and policies. The District may conduct studies considering the factors set forth above.

B. Adoption of Plan

The District Board will adopt the Compensation Plan at least annually.

C. Format of Plan

All positions shall be placed on a salary range containing a designated number of salary steps with
increments of approximately 2.5% percent between steps. Each step in a range shall be numericalty
identified from the lowest step (designated as 1) to the highest step.

Page 25
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 113 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 6. Recruitment and Selection Policy

Page 26

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 114 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Recruiting & Selection Process

The District is committed to employing the best-qualified candidates while engaging in recruitment and
selection practices that comply with all applicable employment laws. It is the policy of the District to
provide equal employment opportunity to all applicants and employees.

Authorization from the General Manager is required to initiate any action for any vacant position,
including recruitment expenditures, advertising, interviewing, and offers of employment. The General
Manager will determine if a vacant position will be filled with a regular or temporary employee.

For regular positions, the District will post job openings internally for a period five (5) business days via
email announcement. After the internal announcement, the District may choose to advertise externally.
External announcements may be posted on the District's website and other locations Human Resources
deems appropriate.

Job announcements will include:

¢ The title and pay range for the position;

s The nature of the work to be performed and the essential job duties of the position;
s The minimum qualifications, including whether the job is a promotional position;

» The last date that Human Resources will accept applications, if applicable;

s Any other information as determined in the discretion of Human Resources.

B. Promotional & Transfer Opportunities

The District supports internal promotions or transfers whenever possible and practicable. Current
employees in good standing, who meet the qualifications and eligibility requirements below may apply.

If the General Manager has determined that a position will be filled with a regular employee, the District
will post the job opening internally for a period five (5) business days via email announcement.

Qualifications & Eligibility Requirements for Internal Candidates

» Employees may apply for any posted position as long as they meet the following eligibility
requirements*:

1. Most recent performance evaluation rating must be a Meets Expectations or above.
2. Meet the minimum qualifications, as stated in the job description.
3. Have not been subject to disciplinary action in the last 12 months.

*Exceptions to these eligibility requirements must be reviewed and approved by the
General Manager.

+ Employees must submit the standard job application on or before the closing date. All qualified
internal candidates will be scheduled for testing and/or interview. Supervisor approval is not
required to submit an application if the employee meets all eligibility requirements.

» Promotion means to be appointed regularly to a position with a salary range that exceeds the
salary range of the existing position. Employees who are promoted into a new position shall
receive a salary increase to the next highest step in the new classification that is at least 5%
above their current salary.

Page 27

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 115 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

o Promoted or transferred employees must complete a six-month probationary period and may
be extended one time by mutual agreement of the District and the employee for up to an
additional six months. If an employee is unsuccessful, a {6) month break shall apply before an
employee is eligible to reapply for other opportunities. At any time during the probationary
period, an employee may be returned to their previous position without due process; and the
employee will be provided an explanation far the return to their original position.

¢ Promotions and transfers shall typically take effect within two weeks and generally no later than
four weeks after an employee’s acceptance. The first date of the status change shall commence
at the heginning of a pay period. Factors such as the urgency to fill the position, status of the
employee’s present workload, and difficulty in filling the employee’s present position are to be
considered in determining the effective date.

» Typically, the employee’s salary will not change due to transfer unless the position is considered
a promotional transfer, in which case the employee will be eligible to receive a promotional
salary increase.

B. Applications

Job applications shall require information describing an individual’s training, experience, and other
pertinent information as deemed necessary to assess qualifications for the job. Applicants may be
required to provide supplementary information, including but not limited to: answers to job-related
questions; resume; licenses; certifications; diplomas; letters of recommendation; and references. All
applications must be completed in full and signed, physically or electronically, by the person

applying. Applications which are not fully completed and signed may be rejected. Should an applicant
be appointed to a position, the supplemental information shall hecome a part of the individual's
permanent employment records.

C. Disqualification of Applications

Applications may be disqualified and rejected for reasons including, but not limited to: the

applicant does not meet the minimum qualifications for the position; the applicant submits an
application after the deadline; the applicant submits an application that is incomplete; the applicant is
physically unfit to perform the duties of the position with or without reasocnable accommodation; the
applicant has made any false statement of any material fact; the applicant has attempted to practice any
deception or fraud in the application or selection process; or for any material cause, which in the
judgment of the District, would render the applicant unsuitable for the position, including a prior
resignation or termination from employment with the District.

D. Employment Examinations

The Human Resources Department will determine the manner and methods of administering
employment examinations. The qualifications of the applicant will be evaluated and examined by using
one or more examination techniques as deemed appropriate for the position by the Director of
Administration.

Examination techniques may include but are not limited to: application review; supplemental
questionnaires; written tests; oral test; performance tests; physical agility tests; evaluations of prior
training and performance, experience and/or education, evaluation of work samples or daily work
performance; interviews; working style assessments; practical exercises; file review; or any combination

Page 28
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 116 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

thereof. The content of all examinations will be job-related and designed to test knowledge, skills or
abilities that help predict successful completion of job duties.

1. The content of all examinations will be kept confidential prior to the administration of the
examination. All applicants who are invited to the examination will be notified of the nature of
the examination.

2. An applicant with a disability may request an accommaodation in an examination process.
Following receipt of a request for accommodation, Human Resources may require additional
information, such as reasonable documentation of the existence of a disability.

3. Failure in one part of the examination, or the failure to meet established standards described in
the job announcement, may be grounds for declaring such applicant as failing in the entire
examination or as disqualified for subsequent parts of an examination. Each applicant will be
notified whether they will continue in the examination process.

4. Applicants who meet the minimum qualifications and pass all examinations may be subject to a
background and/or reference check.

E. Types of Appointments

The General Manager will make all appointments except for those classifications that report to the
governing body. The District Board will make appointments for those classifications that report to it.

The General Manager or his/her designee has the discretion to decide in what manner a vacancy shall
be filled. Vacancies may be filled by reinstatement, promotion, transfer, demotion, or the appointment
of a temporary employee.

Regular Appointments

Any person (internal or external) meeting the requirements specified in the job announcement may be
eligible to compete in the examination process. All applicants must apply through the regular application
process.

Promotions

Promotional recruitments may be used to fill vacancies when determined by the General Manager to be
in the best interests of the District. When opportunities occur within the organization, promotions and
transfers will be based upon an employee's qualifications, performance, and the following eligibility
requirements including:

s The most recent performance evaluation overall rating must be “satisfactory” or above.
»  Meet the minimum qualifications as stated in the job description.
s Have not been subject to disciplinary action in the last 12 months,

Exceptions to these eligibility requirements must be reviewed and approved by the General Manager.

Temporary Appointments

A temporary employee is a full-time or part-time employee whao is hired for a limited duration, typically
not to exceed 999 hours worked in a fiscal year. The employee serves at-will and is not entitled to
benefits, except as required by law.

Page 29
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 117 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Contract Appointments

An employee hired by written agreement with the District for a specific term and under conditions
wholly contained within the employment agreement. Contract employees shall be entitled to only those
benefits, rights and privileges as outlined in the employment contract. The General Manager is a
contract employee.

Emergency Appointments

The General Manager may employ such persons as may be needed for the period of an emergency
which threatens life, property, or the general welfare of the District, without regard to the regulations as
to recruitment and appointments in these Palicies.

Acceptance of Appointment

Any person accepting an appointment shall report to the Director of Administration or his/her designee
on the date designated by Human Resources, Otherwise, the applicant shall be deemed to have declined
the appointment.

F. Targeted Recruitment and Selection Process

In an effort to streamline the District’s hiring procedures, the District has established a targeted
recruitment and selection process, the use of which may be authorized by the General Manager on an
as-needed basis. A targeted recruitment and selection process involves direct solicitation to specific
individuals and/or professional organizations to seek out prospective candidates who are believed to be
highly qualified for a particular position.

Human Resources is authorized to use a targeted recruitment and selection process on those specific
occasions when the General Manager determines it is in the best interests of the District to do so. Any
individua! hired through a targeted recruitment and selection process shall meet all requirements
expected of any District employee hired through a traditional recruitment process, including meeting
the minimum education and experience qualifications of the job classification, and successful
completion of a background investigation, physical examination, and administrative screening. In
implementing a targeted recruitment and selection process, the General Manager and District staff shall
encourage diversity of the pool of job applicants when feasible and shall ensure compliance with the
District’s Equal Employment Opportunity policy.

G. Notification

Each applicant will be notified of their status at each step in the examination process.

H. Disqualification

An applicant may be disqualified during or after the examination process for any reason set forth in
Disqualification of Applications.

J. Background Check Policy and Procedure

Background checks may be conducted on all candidates for employment and on all employees, who are
promoted, as deemed necessary by the General Manager.

Page 30
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 118 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

The District will not extend an offer of employment to a candidate until it receives clear results from a
thorough preliminary background check. Unless required by law, the preliminary background check will
not include a criminal conviction check or motor vehicle history search.

All candidates must complete an authorization and release for the District to obtain the preliminary
background checks described below. This authorization and release are provided by completing, signing,
and submitting an official District application,

Preliminary background checks:

s Prior Employment Verification: confirms applicant's employment with the listed companies,
including dates of employment, the position held and additional information available
pertaining to performance rating, reason for departure, and eligibility for rehire. This verification
will be run on the past three employers or the previous five years, whichever is greater.

* Personal and Professional References: calls will be placed to individuals listed as references by
the applicant.

» Educational and Certification Verification: confirms the applicant's claimed educational
institution, including the years attended and the degree/diploma received, and/or
certifications.

The following additional preliminary background search will be required if applicable to the position.
Candidates must complete an authorization and release form prior to the District obtaining a consumer
credit report. If a consumer credit report will be sought, each applicant will be provided with notice of
the specific reason under Labor Code § 1024.5 for obtaining the report prior to the request.

¢ Credit History: confirms candidate's credit history. This search will be run for positions that
involve {1) a managerial position, {defined as an employee who qualifies for the executive
exemption from overtime pay under Industrial Welfare Commission Order 4); (2} a position that
involves regular access to other persons’ bank or credit card account information, Social security
numbers, and/or dates of birth for any purpose other than the routine solicitation and
processing of credit card applications in a retail establishment; (3) a position in which the
person is or would be a named signatory on Joshua Basin Water District 's bank or credit card
account, or authorized to transfer money or enter into financial contracts on the District’s
behalf; or (4} a position that involves regular access to $10,000 or more of cash of the District, a
customer, or client, during the workday,

Post Conditional Offer background checks:

If, after receiving clear results from a thorough preliminary background check, and the District decides
to make a conditional offer of employment to a candidate, the offer will be conditioned upon the
candidate successfully completing post-offer background checks, which includes an ID verification,
criminal conviction check, and, if applicable, a motor vehicle history search, a physical, and/or drug
screening.

If the District extends a conditional offer of employment, the candidate must complete an authorization
and release form for the 1D Verification and Criminal Conviction Check, a supplemental questionnaire for
criminal convictions, a DMV pull notice form, and the physical and/or drug screen consent form.

* ID Verification: validates the applicant's Social Security number, date of birth and former
addresses.

Page 31
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 119 of 230



L]

Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Criminal Conviction Check: The District will not request or consider any of the following;:

o Convictions that were sealed, expunged, dismissed, or statutorily eradicated;

= Arrests not followed by convictions or for which a pretrial diversion program was
successfully completed;

o Any juvenile convictions (including any information concerning or related to an arrest,
detention, processing, diversion, supervision, adjudication, or court disposition that
occurred while the person was subject to the process and jurisdiction of juvenile court
law);

o Non-felony convictions for marijuana-related offenses that are two (2) or more years
old.

The following additional background search will be required if applicable to the position:

Motor Vehicle Records: This search provides a report on an individual's driving history in the
state requested and will only be run when driving is a requirement of the position. If the
applicant has a criminat conviction(s) that can be legally evaluated, the District will consider the
following factors:

o The nature and gravity of the offense;

o The time since the conviction;

o The nature of the job position; and

o Whether hiring, transferring or promoting the applicant would pose an unreasonable

risk to the business, its employees or its customers and vendors.

Physical: A physical exam will assess the applicant's ability to perform the duties of a job with or
without accommaodation.

Drug and Alcohol Screening: Certain positions require applicants to take and pass a drug and/or
alcohol test following a conditional offer of employment. The categories of jobs subject to
pre-employment drug and/or alcohol testing include but is not limited to: positions with driving
duties, positions that require commercial driver’s licenses subject to DOT regulations, and
safety-sensitive positions that have public safety implications, such as operating heavy trucks or
machinery.

K. Job Offer

After a candidate has completed all steps of the selection process to the District’s satisfaction, the
Human Resources Department may extend to a candidate an official offer of employment.

L. New Employee Orientation

As a new employee, you will be provided an orientation that will include: a meeting with the Director of
Administration or his/her designee to complete new hire paperwork; review available benefits; review
the Employee Handbook and general policies/procedures, a tour the facility; an introduction with each
department head and learn about their specific department(s); concluding with an initial meeting with
your manager and supervisor. Training will be provided for each position including basic training as
outlined in the New Employee Orientation Checklist.

Page 32
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 120 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 7. Probationary Period

Page 33
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 121 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Probationary Period

Purpose

The purpose of the probationary period is to ensure an extended period for observation and evaluation
before an employee obtains regular status.

The probationary period shall be regarded as a part of the testing process and shall be utilized for
observing the employee’s work, for confirming the employee’s suitability for the position, and for
rejecting any probationary employee whose performance does not meet the District's expectations and
required standards of work.

Prohationary Period

Unless otherwise specified by a memorandum of understanding, contract, or salary resolution:

1. Original appointments shall be subject to a probationary period of nine (9) months of actual and
continuous service,

2. All transfers or promaotions shall be subject to a probationary period of six (6} months of actual
and continuous service.

Probationary periods end on the first day of the pay period following the expiration of the probationary
period. The probationary period can be extended by the District at the discretion of the General
Manager or his/her designee.

At-Will Status During Probationary Period: A probationary employee may be rejected at any time
during the probationary period with or without cause or reason, without notice or appeal or grievance,
and without any rights set forth under the Grievance Policy.

B. Successful Completion of Probation

Prior to the end of the probationary period, the probationary employee’s supervisor/manager shall
submit the employee's performance evaluation and other appropriate documentation designating
successful completion of the probationary period to Human Resources.

C. Rejection of Probationary Employee
Rejection of Original Appointment Probationary Employee

During the initial probationary period, an employee may be rejected at any time by the department
head, with approval of the General Manager, for failing to successfully complete the probationary
period, without cause and without the right of appeal.

Rejection of Transferred or Promotional Probationary Employee

An employee rejected during a transfer or promotional period may be reinstated (as set forth in
applicable MOU or salary resolution) to their previous position unless they have been discharged for
cause or the employee resigned. If an employee is rejected, a six (6) month break shall apply before an
employee is eligible to reapply for other opportunities. At any time during the probationary period, an
employee may be returned to their previous position without due process.

Page 34

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 122 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

D. Extension of Probation

The probationary period can be extended by the District at the discretion of the General Manager or
his/her designee.

Extension Due to Leave of Absence or Modified Duty

Any leave of absence with or without pay shall cause the employee's probationary period to be
extended by the number of days of such leave.

Any modified duty assignment resulting from an employee's temporary inability to perform the essential
functions of the job shall cause the employee's probationary period to be extended by the number of
days of such modified-duty assignment.

Page 35

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 123 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 8. Compensation & Performance

Page 36
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 124 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Attendance Policy

Introduction

The District relies on you to consistently provide high quality, cost-effective services to the ratepayers.
You must routinely interact with other staff, members, vendors, and the general public to effectively
meet these objectives. Good attendance is essential to providing these objectives and is an indicator of
effective employee performance.

It is recognized that you will have periodic absences for illness or personal matters, but recurring and
excessive absences and/or tardiness adversely affects productivity, morale, workflow, and service and
directly impacts the District’s ability to meet its challenging goals.

The professionalism that you bring to your position and the District is valued, and it is anticipated that
you will manage your own good attendance. There are occasions, however, when attendance guidelines
are beneficial and necessary to direct employees and managers.

The guidelines are intended to be straightforward and concise. They are subject to management
discretion and allow for flexibility in addressing individual attendance situations. Your manager will
consider State and Federal laws, family and medical leave issues, the demands of different work units,
the District's policy, your performance, your attendance history, and individual circumstances when
assessing appropriate steps to correct attendance problems.

The District intends to maintain a positive environment that supports its goals while recognizing
individual needs and circumstances, If attendance issues arise, please speak with your
supervisor/manager who can discuss the impact of your attendance on the District’s goals and your
individual performance. Please note that it is your responsibility, however, to understand the guidelines
in this Attendance Policy.

The District may utilize a system of corrective action, at its sole discretion, in cases of misconduct or
unacceptable performance, including absenteeism. If the number of absences within the most recent
rolling twelve {(12) month period, regardless of the reason, is excessive, you may be subject to corrective
action, at the discretion of the District, to make you aware of problems and to create an action plan to
resolve issues. The attendance policy of the District will be followed only to the extent allowed by law
and is not meant to circumvent or abrogate any existing leave policy contained in the MOU if applicable,
any leave policy in this handbook, existing provisions of the FEHA, ADA, ADEA, or other state, or federal
law, and/or regulation.

Absence

"Absence" is defined as the failure of an employee to report for work when he or she is scheduled to
work. The two types of absences are defined below:

* Excused/Scheduled Absences are discussed and excused in advance of the absence, by the
supervisor/manager, for such events as vacation, medical appointments, military service, family
activities, jury duty, funerals, and other happenings which cannot be scheduled outside of
regular work hours and the employee has sufficient accrued paid time off accruals to cover the
absence, if use of accruals are required for the particular absence {i.e., jury duty and
bereavement are not considered accruals).

® Unexcused/Unscheduled Absences are not discussed and excused in advance, by the
supervisor/manager, for such events as a family member or employee illness, family

Page 37
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 125 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

emergencies, transportation emergencies, and household emergencies such as flooding, and/or
the employee does not have sufficient accrued paid time off accruals to cover the absence.

Employees who utilize paid sick time for up to three (3) days in a year {calculated from the
employee’s anniversary date} for the care of themselves, a dependent, being a victim of a crime,
or any other incident outlined in the California Healthy Family Workplace Act shall not be
subject to an unexcused absence.

Excessive Tardiness, Excessive Absenteeism, and Abuse of Leave

® Excessive tardiness occurs when an overtime-eligible employee who, without authorization, is
late to work or late to return from breaks/meal periods. For purposes of this policy, this
means (5) tardies in a year, or {3) three consecutive tardies.

® Excessive absenteeism occurs when the number of unexcused/unscheduled absences exceeds
three {3) unexcused absences during a year or (2) two consecutive unexcused absences in a row.

Excessive tardiness or absenteeism may be grounds for discipline, up to and including termination.
Abuse of leave is a claim of entitlement to leave when the employee does not meet the requirements
for taking the leave, and may be grounds for discipline, up to and including termination. Should the
District suspect that there is an abuse of leave by an employee, the District may require that the
employee submit a physician’s certificate to support the absence.

Unauthorized Absence is Prohibited

Arriving late to work or leaving early in connection with scheduled wark times, breaks, or meal periods is
prohibited, absent authorization. An overtime-eligible employee who fails to timely notify the
supervisor of any absences as required by this Policy, or who is not present and ready to work during all
scheduled work times will be deemed to have an unauthorized tardy or absence and will not receive
compensation for the period of absence.

Job Abandonment

An employee who fails to report to work for three {3) consecutive workdays without reasonable cause
shall be considered as having voluntarily resigned as a result of job abandonment. An employee
separated for job abandonment will be given an opportunity to explain the absence and failure to notify
the District. The employee will be reinstated upon proof of justification for the absence, such as severe
accident, severe iliness, or false arrest. No employee has a right to an evidentiary appeal for separation
as a result of job abandonment.

B. Rest, Breaks, and Meal Periods

Meal Period

A 30-minute or one (1) hour non-compensated meal period will be provided to all overtime-eligible
employees who work at least a five-hour workday. Employees are responsible for taking their meal
period at a time designated by the supervisor. The length of the meal period will depend on the work
schedule (5/8 or 4/10}, department needs, and/or operational needs.

Page 38

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 126 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Rest Period

A 15-minute compensated rest period will be provided to all overtime-eligible employees for each
four-hour period of service. The rest period shall be taken at a time designated by the employee’s
supervisor. Rest periods may not be combined to shorten the workday or to extend the meal period.

Lactation Break Time

An overtime-eligible employee who wishes to express breast milk for her infant child during her
scheduled work hours will receive additional unpaid time beyond the 15-minute compensated rest
period. (Labor Code § 1030; 29 USC § 207(r).) Those desiring to take a lactation break must notify a
supervisor prior to taking such a break. Breaks may be reasonably delayed if they would seriously
disrupt operations. (Labor Code § 1032.}) Once a lactation break has been approved, the break should
not be interrupted except for emergency or exigent circumstances.

Private Location - Lactation Break Time

The District will make reasonable efforts to accommodate employees by providing an
appropriate location to express milk in private. The District will attempt to find a location in
proximity to the employee’s work area, and the location will be other than a toilet stall. (Labor
Code § 1031; 29 USC § 207(r).) Employees occupying such private areas shall either secure the
door or otherwise make it clear to others through signage that the area is occupied and should
not he disturbed. All other employees should avoid interrupting an employee during an
authorized break under this section, except to announce an emergency or other urgent
circumstance. Authorized lactation breaks for employees assigned to the field may be taken at
the nearest appropriate private area.

Storage of Expressed Milk - Lactation Break Time

Any employee storing expressed milk in any authorized refrigerated area within the District shall
clearly label it as such. No expressed milk shall be stored at the District beyond the employee’s
workday/ shift.

C. Timekeeping

Timekeeping

All departments shall keep daily attendance records of employees which shall be reported in the payroll
system in the form and on the dates specified by the Finance Bepartment.

FLSA - Exempt Employee Timekeeping

If an exempt employee works less than half of the hours of their normal workday {i.e., the exempt
employee works three (3) hours of their eight (8) hour workday), they will be required to use their paid
time off accruals {vacation, sick, floating holiday, administrative leave) for time not worked due to
personal reasons.

If an exempt employee works mare than half of the hours of their normal workday (i.e. the exempt
employee works seven (7) hours of their eight (8) hour workday), they will not be required to use paid
time off accruals for time not worked due to personal reasons. All time off must be approved by the
employee's supervisor. Exempt employees are expected to consistently work their full workweek.

Page 39

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 127 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Should this policy become problematic due to frequent and/or unapproved excessive use, the employee
will be counseled and if needed disciplined.

Advance Request for Permission to Deviate from Regular Work Hours

An overtime-eligible employee is required to seek advance permission from his or her supervisor for any
foreseeable absence or deviation from regular working, break, and mealtimes.

Notification of Unforeseen Late Arrival or Absence

Employees who are unexpectedly unable to report for work as scheduled must notify his or her
immediate supervisor within thirty {30) minutes after the beginning of the employee’s scheduled work
time. The employee must report the expected time of arrival or absence. If the immediate supervisor is
not available, the employee must notify the department head.

D. Work Week

Work Week
The workweek begins at 12:00 a.m. on Saturday and ends at 11:59 p.m. on the following Friday.

Hours of Work

Woarking hours and meal break periods of all personnel will be set by the General Manager.

® Conventional Schedule {5/8's): The conventional work schedule for full-time employees shall be
forty hours over five consecutive workdays per week. The conventional workday shall be eight
hours of work in a workday. Hours of work are dependent upon department and operational
needs, not all positions are eligible for the conventional workweek schedule.

®  Four-Ten Alternate Work Schedule {4/10): The 4/10 alternate work schedule may be

implemented for employees at the discretion of the General Manager.

®* Normally, administrative/office employee’s 4/10 workweek hours are Monday through
Thursday from 7:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m.

®*  Normally, field operations employee’s 4/10 workweek hours are Monday through
Thursday 6:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.

E. Basis of Compensation

Full-time Regular, Probationary, and Acting Appointments
An employee having a regular, probationary or acting appointment that is on a full-time basis shall be
paid bi-weekly, based on the hourly rate specified in the compensation plan.

e The hourly rate of pay is specified in the compensation plan.
e The annual rate is the hourly rate muitiplied by two-thousand and eighty (2080) hours.
e The monthly rate is the annual rate divided by twelve {12) months.

Other Appointments

Temporary, provisional, part-time, and emergency employees shall be compensated at an hourly rate,
paid bi-weekly.

Page 40

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 128 of 230



Joshua Basin Water Disfrict - Employee Handbook

Application of Salary Ranges

Employees occupying a position in the District shall be paid a salary or wage within the range established
for that position’s classification in accordance with the compensation plan.

F. Payment of Wages

Pay Days

All employees of the District are paid every other Friday for work performed during the previous
two-week pay period. If a regular payday falls on a holiday, employees will be paid on the workday
before the holiday.

Paychecks can be received either by regular payroll check or direct deposit. Regular payroll checks can
be picked up in the Finance Department.

If you observe an error on your check, please report it immediately to your supervisor.

Direct Deposit

The District offers direct payroll deposit. You may begin and stop automatic direct payroll deposit at any
time. To begin automatic direct payroll deposit, you must complete a form {available from the Human
Resources department) and return it to Human Resources at least fourteen {14) days before the pay
period for which you would like the service to begin. You should carefully monitor your payroll deposit
statements for the first two pay periods after the service begins.

To stop automatic payroll deposit, complete the form available from the Human Resources department

and return it to Human Resources at least fourteen (14) days before the pay period for which you would
like the service to end. You will receive a regular payroll check on the first pay period after the receipt of
the form, provided it is received no later than fourteen (14} days before the end of the pay period.

G. Overtime

Overtime

Overtime is all hours an overtime-eligible employee actually works aver 40 hours in his ar her
designated workweek, unless otherwise designated in an applicable MOU or salary resolution.

Only actual hours worked will be counted toward the 40-hour threshold for purposes of calculating the
Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) overtime pay; paid leave will not be counted. Overtime-eligible
employees who are directed to work overtime must do so.

Remote Access for Overtime-Eligible Employees

If an overtime-eligible employee is granted remote access, they shall not perform work outside their
normal working hours, unless the employee is on-call, on approved overtime, or the supervisor approves
such work in writing. £xamples of prohibited remote work include but are not limited to checking emails
at home, performing work in the morning before the start of their norma! shift, running work errands
after their shift end, etc.

Prior Approval Required for Overtime

Overtime-eligible employees are not permitted to work overtime except as directed and authorized by
their supervisor, or in case of emergency, as determined by the District. Working overtime without

Page 41

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 129 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

prior authorization or approval is grounds for discipline. In emergency situations that necessitate
working overtime, the employee must notify a supervisor as soon as possible, and in no event later than
the end of that day upon which the emergency occurred. If the supervisor denies the request to work
overtime, the employee must abey the supervisor’s directive and cease working. Failure to follow
these overtime approval procedures may subject the employee to disciplinary action, up to and
including termination, for violating the overtime approval procedures.

Accurate Time Reporting

All employees must accurately report all work time to the nearest five minutes.

No Volunteering of Work Time

All time spent for the benefit of the District must be reported as hours worked on time records so that
the employee is paid for all work. Qvertime-eligible employees may not "volunteer” work time to
perform duties that are the same or similar to their stated or regular job duties. Employees have no
authorization to work without compensation. No supervisor has authority to request overtime-eligible
employees to volunteer work time.

H. Salary & Merit Eligibility Dates

Salary Review Date

Salary review dates coincide with employee performance evaluations. Performance evaluations are
presented at the end of the employee's probation period and then annually thereafter within one week
before or after January 31.

Merit Increase Eligibility

Consideration of a merit increase is hased upon the results of the performance evaluation as set forth in
the Performance Evaluation Policies in this handbook or in accordance with the provisions of the
applicable salary resolution and/or MOU.

Salary adjustments shall be made at the start of the pay period following the employee’s salary review
date unless otherwise authorized by the General Manager.

I. Salary in Other Circumstances

Special Salary Adjustments

Notwithstanding anything in these Policies to the contrary, in order to correct gross inequities or to
reward outstanding achievement and performance, the General Manager, upon recommendation of the
department head, may adjust the salary rate of an incumbent of a particular position to any step within
the salary range for that class. If the incumbent is a member of a recognized bargaining unit, the
increase in salary is subject to meet and confer.

Salary on Promotion

An employee who is promoted shall be assigned to the lowest step of the new salary range which allows
an increase of approximately five percent (5%) over the employee's current salary at the time of
promotion. The department head may recommend assignment to a higher salary step based on special
circumstances, subject to approval by the General Manager. The promotion date will be effective at the

Page 42

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 130 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

beginning of an established pay period.

Salary on Demotion

An employee who is demoted shall have their salary set at a salary step in the range for a lower class as
follows:

» Involuntary Demotion - Salary may be set at any salary rate which is less than employee’s salary
rate at the same time of demotion. If the involuntary demotion is a result of reclassification and

the salary of the employee is greater than the highest step of the new pay range, the employee
will be “Y-rated.”

* Voluntary Demotion - Salary will be set at the highest salary rate which does not exceed the
employee’s salary rate at the time of demotion.

s Next Merit Increase - An employee may be eligible for the next merit increase in accordance
with their next performance evaluation.

= Probationary Period - An employee wha is demoted shall not be required to serve a new
probationary period, except that if demoted to a classification in which the employee has no
previous experience, a probationary period of twenty-six {26) weeks will be required.

Salary on Transfer

Typically, the employee’s salary will not change due to transfer unless the position is considered a

promotional transfer, in which case the employee may be eligible to receive a promotional salary
increase.

J. Additional Compensation

Employees may be eligible for the following types of additional compensation in accordance with the
applicable salary resolution and/or MOU:

e Acting or Interim Pay
s Call Back Pay
e Standby Duty

s Leave Cash-Out

K. Payroll Deductions

Purpose

The District complies with applicable laws and will make only required or authorized deductions from

employees’ wages. Amounts withheld vary according to earnings, marital status, and the number of
exemptions claimed.

Eligibility

This policy applies to all employees.

Page 43

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 131 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Procedures

The following deductions, if applicable, will be made from employees’ gross wage payments:
« Deductions to pay the employee portion of local, state and federal taxes.
+« Deductions to retirement plans such as CalPERS.

+ Authorized deductions in writing by the employee, including deductions to cover insurance
premiums or payments for other employee benefits.

» Deductions required pursuant to a withholding order for support, an earnings assignment order,
earnings withholding order, or other similar court order.

» Deductions required pursuant to a wage garnishment order.

o Note: A garnishment is a court order requiring the District to remit part of an
employee's wages to a third party in payment of a just debt. Because garnishments
involve the District in its employees’ private financial affairs, it is requested that you
handle your finances appropriately.

All deductions will be itemized on employees’ paycheck stubs. Employees with questions regarding any
deductions taken from their paychecks should immediately contact Human Resources.

M. Changing Your Employee Information

The District is required by law to keep current all employees' names and addresses on file.

Employees are responsible for notifying the District within 30 days in the event of a name or address
change. Submit a Change of Address form within 30 days of any employee information changes.

You are solely responsible to notify the Director of Administration of changes in your personal status
including, but not limited to:

e Name

o Marital status

» Address and/or telephone number
»  Number of eligible family members
= Emergency contact information

e Changes to deferred compensation*
s Tax payroll deductions*

* For changes to your 457 contributions, submit a 457 deferred compensation contribution form. Due to
457 plan guidelines, the effective date cannot be earlier than the beginning of the following month.

*For changes on your tax withholdings, submit a W4 Federal Tax form or DE4 CA Tax form. The District
will make an effort for requested changes to be effective for the current pay period. However, due to
the timeliness of submission, the change may not take effect until the pay period following submission.

Page 44

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 132 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

N. Performance Evaluations

The General Manager will prescribe and implement a system for assessing the work performance of
employees. The performance appraisal process provides a means for discussing, planning, and reviewing
the performance of each employee. Performance appraisals are considered in granting merit increases,
promotions, transfers, demotions, discharges, and other disciplinary actions. It is critical that
supervisors/managers are objective in conducting performance reviews and in assigning overall
performance ratings.

Performance Evaluation Intervals

Regular Employees

All regular employees will receive an annual performance evaluation annually within one-week
(before or after) January 31*. Annual evaluations rate the preceding calendar year.

Probationary Employees

Initial probationary employees will participate in an informal performance evaluation meeting
with their supervisor/manager upon the third (3rd) and sixth (6th} month subsequent to the
date of hire.

Initial probationary employees will receive a formal performance evaluation nine (9) months
subsequent to the date of hire.

Initial probationary employees who successfully complete their probation, shall convert to the
January 31* review date upon completion of the probationary period.

Promoted or transferred employees will receive a formal performance evaluation six (6) months
after the promotion or transfer date and shall convert to the January 31 review date upon
competition of the probationary period.

Performance Evaluation Meeting

The supervisor/manager will meet with the employee to discuss the performance

evaluation. The employee shall sign the formal performance evaluation to acknowledge its
contents and that they have met with their supervisor/manager to discuss the evaluation. The
employee’s signature shall not mean that he or she endorses the contents of the evaluation.

The employee may comment on the evaluation in a written statement, which will then be
placed with the evaluation in the employee’s personnel file. The written statement must be
submitted within ten (10) working days after the employee receives the evaluation.

A request for reconsideration of the evaluation may be made utilizing steps outlined in an
applicable MOU or salary resolution.

Any employee receiving a Not Meeting Expectations rating will be given a time period of ninety
{90) days to bring their performance up to a Meets Expectations level or they will be subject to
further disciplinary action up to and including termination.

Page 45

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 133 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Performance Evaluation Merit Increases

Any merit increases awarded as part of a performance evaluation will take effect on the first pay
period following January 31%, or, if applicable, the first pay period following the date of
completion of their probationary period.

Page 46

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 134 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 9. Employee Benefits

Page 47

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 135 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Benefits Overview

The District offers a broad, comprehensive set of employee benefit programs to supplement your
regular wages. Examples of insured benefits are group insurance plans such as Medical, Dental, Vision,
and Life insurance. Examples of uninsured benefits are vacation, sick, and holiday pay. These
supplemental benefits increase the employee compensation package by as much as 40%.

Benefit eligibility may be dependent upon your employee classification (i.e. full-time versus part-time)
and on length of continuous employment. Benefit eligibility requirements may also be imposed by the
plans themselves.

The District will provide benefits as set forth in the applicable MOU and/or salary resolution. For
information regarding employee benefits and to answer any questions contact Human Resources.

B. Group Insurance Plans

The District provides group medical, dental, vision, life, LTD, and Employee Assistance Program plans for
eligible employees and eligible dependents on the first day of the month following one month of
continuous employment.

The District will provide contributions toward group insurance premiums as set forth in the applicable
MOU and/or salary resolution.

® Persons Eligible: Regular full-time employees working a minimum of 40 hours per week and
their eligible dependents.

®* An eligible dependent is defined as the following:
®*  Spouse;
¢ Children to their 26th birthday including children placed in the home for adoption;

¢ Unmarried children who were enrolled before age 26 and are incapable of
self-sustaining employment due to physical or mental condition. A physician must
certify in writing within 60 days this condition and it is subject to carrier approval.

® Children eligible for coverage as a result of a valid qualified medical child support order.

® Grandchildren if claimed as a deduction on employee’s IRS tax return.

* Domestic partner as defined by the State of California for state registration
requirements.

® Those designated according to the law.

Eligibility must be proven to enroli dependents (i.e., birth certificate, marriage license, State of CA
Declaration of Domestic Partnership {NP/SF DP-1 etc.). It is mandatory to report changes in dependent
status within thirty (30) days of the event (such as adding a dependent due to birth or adoption of a
child, marriage, or removing a dependent due to divorce or death).

C. COBRA

The Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (COBRA) was enacted to protect
employees and their eligible family members by allowing them to continue their group health insurance
under the employer's plan at affordable group rates. Employees are notified at hiring of their rights
under this law and it is the employee’s responsibility to notify the District of any qualifying event

Page 48

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 136 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

{defined below) within 60 days of the event. Specifics of COBRA include:

1.

2.

Qualifications: Any employee/eligible family member who loses regular group eligibitity because
of a qualifying event is eligible for enrollment under COBRA.

Qualifying Event: Qualifying event is defined by COBRA regulations and includes loss of coverage
due to: termination of employment; reduction of hours; death of employee; employee's
Medicare entitlement; divorce or legal separation; child ceasing to be eligible; bankruptcy of
employer; and the expiration of leave. It is the employee’s or eligible family member’s
responsibility to inform the District within 60 days when a qualifying event takes place.

The District will send written notification, upon notification to the District, to the
employee/eligible family member of their right to elect continued coverage, the election period,
and premium payments.

Cost: The employee/eligible family member must pay a full monthly premium for each coverage
selected plus a 2% administrative charge to the District by the first day of each month that the
premium(s) are due.

Coverage Available: At the time of the qualifying event, whichever health insurance(s) the
employee/dependent is enrolled in will be considered the coverages available.

Open Enroliment Purpose: COBRA continuees have the same rights under the plan as active
employees. This includes rights during open enroliment periods. When an open enrollment
period occurs, COBRA continuees must be informed of their rights. The Open Enrollment
Notification should inform COBRA continuees of the open enrollment period, the options
available during the open enrollment period and the monthly premium rates for those options.
It defines COBRA continuees as possible electees, electees and continuees, Possible electees are
individuals in their 60-day election period; electees are individuals who have elected but have
not yet paid; continuees are individuals who have elected and paid.

Special Note: There can be no interruption of coverage under COBRA.

Employee Notification: Because of the complexity of COBRA regulations, the District may at its
sole discretion contract with an outside firm to carry out the notification, payment, and
explanation of COBRA.

D. Retirement

CalPERS

The District has contracted with the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) in order
to provide retirement benefits to employees. The District and CalPERS members are subject to the
benefits and regulations as prescribed by CalPERS.

Due to changes in the law, and the implementation of the Public Employee's Pension Reform Act
(PEPRA) effective January 1, 2013, (PEPRA), the District has two tiers of employees:

Persons Eligible: Regular full-time employees, part-time employees reaching the minimum hour
requirement, and employees who are already CalPERS members. All employees are required to
submit a Reciprocal Self-Certification Form to Human Resources within 10 days of their date of
hire.

Employee Contribution*:

o Classic: 7% of regular bi-weekly earnings (overtime earnings are not included).
PEPRA: Varies based upon annual CalPERS actuarial report. The contribution is based
upon regular bi-weekly earnings {overtime earnings are not included).

*The employee contribution percentage subject to regulations as prescribed by CalPERS.

Page 49

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 137 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

* Emplover Contribution: Varies according to experience rating.

e Vesting Provisions: You become vested after completion of five years of public service, be
it with Joshua Basin Water District or another public employer who participated in
CalPERS. Vesting means funds may be left on deposit for future retirement. Should you
leave the District and wish to withdraw your contributions, you may request a refund from
CalPERS. The employer contributions are only paid upon retirement.

+ Benefits Provided: Your minimum retirement age depends on your retirement formula:
Classic 50 or PEPRA 52. There is no maximum refirement age. Your retirement benefit is
based on a retirement formula using your total service credit, your age at retirement, and
your highest average annual compensation during any consecutive 12- or 36-month period
throughout your career at a CalPERS covered employer. You may have more than one
retirement formula based on your membership date, your membership category, and each
of the employers you have worked for that contract with CalPERS. For more information,
visit www.calpers.ca.gov.

e Unused Sick Accruals upon Retirement: The District's CalPERS contract allows you to
convert any unused sick leave hours to service credit when you retire. You must retire
within 120 days from your last day of employment for this to apply.

For more information refer to the CalPERS website, the CalPERS contract with Joshua Basin Water
District, and/or Human Resources.

Social Security

The District participates in Social Security. The District and employees are subject to the benefits and
regulations as prescribed by the Social Security Administration.

Tax-Deferred Compensation Program

The District provides the opportunity for all employees to enroll in a payroll tax deferral plan called,
"Deferred Compensation 457". All contributions to this plan are made by the employee on a voluntary
basis. Contributions are made by payroll deduction. Such amounts deducted are not included currently
in your taxable income. Thus, if you elect to participate in this plan and have amounts deducted from
your pay, you will see a reduction in salary, but not to the extent of the total amount deducted. You may
contribute into the plan the annual maximum allowed by law.

The District may provide contributions towards the 457 plan for eligible employees as set forth in the
applicable MOU and/or salary resolution.

E. Worker's Compensation

The District provides workers' compensation coverage. The cost of this coverage is completely paid for
by the District. This coverage protects you if you are injured or disabled on the job. It also provides
medical, surgical, and hospital treatment in addition to payment for loss of earnings that result from
work-related injuries. Compensation payments begin from the first day of your hospitalization or after
the third day following the injury if you are not hospitalized.

If you are injured while working, you must immediately report such injuries to your manager, or another
manager, regardless of how minor the injury might be. If you have any questions regarding workers'
compensation coverage, you should contact the Director of Administration. Workers’ Compensation
leave will run concurrently with other appropriate leaves such as Family Medical Leave.

Page 50

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 138 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Coordination of Benefits

Accrued Sick Leave may be used for the three-day waiting period, and to bring the employee’s
compensation up to, but not greater than, the employee’s regular gross pay, at the discretion of the
General Manager. Employees needing follow-up medical appointments will be charged the time off from
their accumulated Sick Leave. Any overpayment of benefits will require reimbursement to the District.

Accrual of Leaves Continues and Holidays While on Paid Leave

During the time the employee is in paid status while absent from work by reason of injury or illness
covered by Workers’ Compensation, they shall continue to accrue sick leave, vacation, other leave
benefits, and paid holidays as though they were not on leave of absence.

Unpaid Leave and Continuation of Health Care Benefits

Any employee subject to this Policy who exhausts their sick, vacation, floating holidays, and other
accruals while absent from work by reason of an injury or illness covered by Workers’ Compensation
may receive an unpaid leave of absence and continuation of health care benefits consistent with state
and/or federal law.

F. External Employee Training - Training Programs, Seminars,
Conferences, Lectures, Workshops, Meetings, etc.

Purpose

The District recognizes the mutual benefits derived from personal growth and increased work
competence when employees attend training programs, seminars, conferences, lectures, workshops,
cross-training activities, and/or meetings that provide specific training in subjects directly related to
District operations or to the employee's position (or one to which he or she may reasonably aspire).

Eligibility - The eligibility provisions below apply only to non-represented employees, as Tuition
Reimbursement for represented employees is outlined in their respective MOU.

To request attendance for an external event, an employee must have successfully completed
probation {(unless the training is a job requirement) and not have any disciplinary action within the last
12 months. Department heads may determine that attendance to an external educational event is
necessary to the employee's joh function, at which time, the Department head, with the General
Manager's approval may waive the disciplinary provision.

Procedure - The procedures and additional requirements below apply to alf employees.

Attendance in external employee training, whether required by the District or requested by individual
employees, requires written approval. Employee attendance at authorized outside activities will be
considered hours worked for non-exempt employees and will be compensated in accordance with
normal payroll practices.

To obtain approval, a written training request form detailing all relevant information, including date,
hours, location, cost, expenses, and the nature, purpose, and justification for attendance. Requests must
be approved in advance by the employee’s supervisor, the Director of Administration, and are subject to
budgetary restrictions.

Page 51

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 139 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Additional Requirements
» The employee is responsible for registration, arranging transportation and lodging, if needed,
and ordering of any necessary materials.
o Itis the employee's responsibility to provide your supervisor and the Director of Administration
with transcripts/certificates after completion of the training.

Reimbursement for Training Programs, Seminars, Conferences, Lectures, Workshops, Meetings, etc.

For attendance at events required or authorized by the District, customary and reasonable expenses will
be reimbursed upon submission of proper receipts. Acceptable expenses generally include registration
fees, materials, meals, transportation, and parking. For more information refer to the staff
reimbursement policies and discuss with your supervisor in advance.

NOTE: While the District generally encourages all employees to improve their knowledge, job skills, and
promotional qualifications, external education and/or training does not qualify for reimbursement
under this policy unless prior written approval is obtained as described previously, even if such sessions
generally may lead to improved job performance.

G. Off Duty Education - Tuition Reimbursement

Purpose

The District believes that formal education has a positive impact on an employee’s contribution to the
District, the District supports self-development and educational efforts by providing reimbursements for
many of the expenses associated with continuing education courses.

Eligibility - The eligibility provisions below apply only to non-represented employees, as Tuition
Reimbursement for represented employees is outlined in their respective MOU.

Participation in the program is strictly voluntary. Full-time, regular employees are eligible for benefits
under this policy. Employees may pursue a degree or take individual courses at approved and accredited
educational institutions under this program, provided the course of study is related to the employee’s
current position or a probable future assignment, and the District approves the course(s). Items that are
eligible for reimbursement include tuition, books, required fees, and parking.

Participating employees must have successfully completed probation, not have any disciplinary action
within the last 12 months and must be employed at the District during the time the course is started and
completed.

The course of study shall not interfere with the employee’s performance of his/her employment
responsibilities.

All tuition reimbursements received by an employee in the 12 months preceding a voluntary
termination of employment will be required to be repaid to the District.

Employee’s receiving a federal or state veteran’s educational benefit are not eligible for this program.

Procedures - The procedures below apply to all employees.

1. To obtain approval, any employee wishing to apply for tuition reimbursement must submit a
District Tuition Reimbursement form before the start of the course. The form will detail all
relevant information, including course start and end dates, name of the educational institution,
location, cost, anticipated expenses, and the nature, purpose, and justification for attendance.

Page 52

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 140 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

2. Requests must be approved in advance by the employee’s supervisor. The Director of
Administration must approve the course of study and related costs before the start of the
course based on the availability of funds and the appropriateness of the course content.

3. Once the course is completed, the employee must present evidence of course completion with
evidence of the final grade (i.e., transcripts) and supporting expense documentation for all
eligible items in which reimbursement is being requested (i.e., receipts for expenditures).
Reimbursement requests must be submitted no later than 30 days after completion of the
course(s). Reimbursement will not be made on requests submitted more than three (3) months
after completion of the course(s).

Reimbursement

Reimbursement benefit caps are as set forth in the applicable MOU and/or salary resolution. The
amount of eligible reimbursement shall be determined on the following basis, or equivalent, for the
course grade, received:

» Grades “C” or higher and Passes in a pass/fail course(s) = 100% refund subject to budgetary
caps.
e Grades below a “C” or a Fail in a pass/fail course will not be eligible for reimbursement.

An annual tuition reimbursement budget may be set by the board each fiscal year. The approved budget
will be apportioned in two equal parts for courses completed in the six-month periods between July —
December, and fanuary — June. Tuition reimbursement requests will be considered in the order they are
received. In the event approved tuition reimbursement requests exceed available budgeted funds, the
employee will not be eligible for reimbursement for the expenses that exceed the budget. However, at
the discretion of the General Manager, reimbursements may be delayed, and approval of new requests
deferred until sufficient funds are available in the next six-month period or the next fiscal year.

NOTE: While the District generally encourages all employees to improve their knowledge, job skills, and
promotional qualifications, external education and/or training does not qualify for reimbursement
under this policy unless prior written approval is obtained as described previously, even if such sessions
generally may lead to improved job performance.

H. Employee Certifications

All full-time, regular employees required by job pasition to obtain or maintain an operation certificate
issued by the California State Water Resources Control Board, or the American Water Works
Association, will be reimbursed for the tuition, books, and courses associated with obtaining and
maintaining said certificate, in accordance with the Tuition Reimbursement policy.

If the District pre-pays for tuition, books and/or other course required costs, and the employee does not
sit for and pass the certification test within three (3) testing cycles, the District may require
reimbursement by the employee. Similarly, if the District pre-pays for an employee to attend a
certification test preparation class or seminar and the employee’s attendance is canceled for personal
reasons, the District may require reimbursement by the employee.

The actual cost for the certification will be 100% percent reimbursed by the District. The District will not
reimburse for certification tests that an employee does not pass. No late fees will be reimbursed for
certifications not renewed in a timely manner.,

Employees who do not obtain or maintain certifications required by the position may be subject to
disciplinary procedures, up to and including termination.

Page 53

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 141 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

I. Employee Recognition and Awards Program

Purpose

The District strives to recognize individuals and groups for superior achievements which reinforce the
District’s goals and abjectives for performance improvement and staff development.

Policy

By recognizing the truly significant contributions of its employees, the District endeavors to build and
maintain a highly motivated workforce and contribute to employee job satisfaction. Awards are based
on budget availability and the final approval of the General Manager. Contingent on availability of funds,
the District will administer the Employee Recognition and Awards Program in accordance with the
following categories, eligibility requirements, and procedures. A line item in each year's budget will
establish maximum annual expenditures, as approved by the Board.

Definition

This policy describes the Employee Recognition and Awards Program. Employees may be recognized for
substantial District or job-related contributions in the areas defined below.

Performance Award Categories

The Outstanding Service Award - Recognizes a substantial contribution to the District.

Examples: Performing duties of a substantial nature, often for an extended period; sustained
dedication to quality service for internal/external customers; creating efficiencies that save the
District’s resources; creating effective work procedures that increase overall performance;
substantial leadership skills that lead to the success of a major District activity.

The Safety Award - Recognizes when employees go beyond the call of duty to maintain a safe
workplace.

Special Achievement Award Categories

The Professional Goal Attainment Award

Recognizes a staff member who has achieved a job-related educational or professional goal such
as completing a formal program of study or to earning an industry-recognized certification.

Milestone Anniversary Award

Recognizes the contributions, knowledge, and experience of long-term employees. In
appreciation of this dedicated service, the District recognizes employees as they reach milestone
anniversaries of employment. Active employees become eligible for this award in the year in
which they complete 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, and every five years of service thereafter,

Retirement Award

In appreciation of this dedicated service, the District recognizes employees as they retire.
Retirement recognition awards are given upon retirement after completion of 20 years of
employment without a break in service.

Page 54

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 142 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Eligibility

Performance Award Categories

In order for employees to be eligible for the Performance Award Category, they must have
successfully completed probation, must be on active service, and not have had a formal
disciplinary action within the preceding 12 months of the award date.

Special Achievement Award Categories

In order for employees to be eligible for the Special Achievement Category, they must have
successfully completed probation and must be on active service.

Procedures - Human Resources (HR) oversees the administration of the Employee Recognition and
Awards Program. Awards will be presented by the supervisor and the General Manager. Special
achievement awards will be presented during a District-wide meeting or event closest to the date of
achievement. The General Manager may arrange for a special award presentation. Awards will be
documented and placed in the awarded employee’s personnel file.

1.

2.
3.

The supervisor must complete the award recommendation form and submit it to HR. The
supervisor may recommend the award type.
Award Types:

a. Performance Award Category: May include a certificate, trophy, paid time off,
cash award, step increase, and/or another comparable award type.

b. Special Achievement Category: May include a certificate, trophy, and/or another
comparable award type {$150 max value)

Completed forms will be submitted by HR to the General Manager for final approval.

After General Manager approval, HR will coardinate the award recognition process.

J. Long Term Disability Insurance (LTD)

The District provides and pays 100% of the premium for long-term disability insurance for regular
full-time employees.

1.
2.

~

Eligible Employees: Regular full-time employees.

Waiting Period: The employee will be enrolled in the LTD program the first of the month
following 30 days of continuous employment.

Benefits Provided: Long term disability insurance provides you with income protection if your
disability continues beyond the 90-day elimination period. Check the policy for detailed
information. Note these benefits are taxable. Any overpayment of benefits will require
reimbursement. This long-term disability plan may be restrictive to income from other sources.
Check the policy for further information.

Benefit Percentage: 60% percentage of a person’s income insured for benefit. (Example:
Employee earns $5,000 per month and receives 60% of this amount in a disability benefit $5,000
X .60% = $3,000 monthly benefit.)

Benefit Period: Most LTD policies pay benefits until normal retirement age-provided the
claimant continues to meet the definition of disability.

Employee Contribution: None.

Employer Contribution: Total cost for the employee.

Where to File Claims: As provided by the carrier or see the Director of Administration.

Page 55

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 143 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 10.1 Paid Leaves

Page 56

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 144 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Vacation Leave

Vacation Leave

Eligible employees accrue vacation leave while in paid status in accordance with the provisions of the
applicable MOU and/or salary resolution.

Limitations on Vacation Leave Accrual

Vacation leave accruals are credited as they are earned each pay period. No employee may accrue more
than the equivalent of two times the employee’s annual vacation leave accrual rate. When an
employee reaches the equivalent of two times their annual vacation accrual rate, they shall cease
earning vacation leave until their leave balance falls below the equivalent of two times the employee’s
annual vacation leave accrual rate. Vacation leave will not accrue during leaves of absence unless
required by law.

Scheduling and Use of Vacation Leave

Vacation leave may not be used until it is earned. The employee and their supervisor/manager will
schedule the times when an employee may take vacation leave. The scheduling will be based on the
employee’s preference and the District's operational needs. An employee shall provide a minimum of
one week’s written advance notice, unless waived by the supervisor, when requesting vacation time
off. The District may, at its discretion, require an employee to use accrued vacation.

Accrued vacation leave may be used in a minimum of quarter (1/4) hour increments.

Leave greater than ten (10) days business days must be approved by the General Manager, and upon
the discretion of the General Manager, may need to be requested under the Leave of Absence policy.

Compensation In-Lieu of Vacation

Although all employees are encouraged to use their accrued vacation, an employee may be granted
compensation in lieu of vacation at full pay with the approval of the General Manager.

All of the following terms must be satisfied in order to qualify for compensation in lieu;

® Compensation in lieu may be granted one (1) time per calendar year. Under special
circumstances such as an unforeseen emergency, a second request in a calendar year may be

granted, with approval from the General Manager. No more than two (2) per calendar year is
permitted.

®*  The employee must have taken forty (40) hours paid vacation within the preceding twelve
months of the request; and

* At least forty (40) hours of vacation accruals remain in the employee’s vacation account balance
after the compensation in lieu is deducted from the accrual balance.

Approved compensation-lieu hours will be deducted from the employee’s vacation accruals,

Unused Vacation Leave Upon Separation

Any employee separating from the District who has accrued vacation leave shall be paid for all accrued
vacation at their rate of pay at the time of separation

Page 57

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 145 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

B. Holidays

Regular Employees are eligible to receive holiday pay for beginning after their 1st day of employment.

e New Year's Day (January 1}

+  Presidents' Day (Third Monday in February)

o Memorial Day (Last Monday in May)

¢ Independence Day (July 4)

» Labor Day (First Monday in September)

e Veteran's Day (November 11}

e Thanksgiving Day (Fourth Thursday in November)
Christmas Eve {December 24)

Christmas Day (December 25)

New Year's Eve (December 31)

Three (3) Floating Holidays {Discretion of Employee)

If a holiday falls on a Sunday, the Monday following shall be treated as the holiday. If a holiday falls on a
Friday or Saturday, the preceding workday shall be treated as the holiday.

Holiday Pay Eligibility

To be eligible for holiday pay, the employee must be a Regular Employee who is scheduled to work on
the day on which the holiday is observed. The regular employee shzll be paid the number of hours the
employee was scheduled to work had it not been a holiday.

Full-Time Regular Employee Example: A regular employee is scheduled to work ten (10) hours
on the observed holiday will receive ten (10) hours of holiday pay, or the employee is scheduled
to work eight (8) hours on the observed holiday will receive eight (8) hours of holiday pay.

Part-time Regular Employees who are regularly scheduled to work on a holiday shall receive
holiday pay or floating holiday pay on a pro-rated basis by comparing their regularly-scheduled
hours to a full-time (40 hour) per week schedule. For example, if a part-time regular employee is
regularly scheduled five (5) hours per day Monday — Thursday (twenty 20 hours per week), the
employee would be entitled to receive five (5) hours of paid holiday time for an observed
holiday, or fifteen (15) hours of floating holiday time per calendar year.

Effect of Holiday on Vacation Leave

if one or more holidays fall within an approved vacation leave, such holiday shall not be charged as
vacation leave.

Floating Holidays

Regular Employees who are entitled to holidays receive three (3) floating holidays per calendar year.
Floating holidays must be used during the calendar year they are granted. Floating holiday time does not
carry-over. Any floating holiday time not used within the calendar year will be cashed out in January of
the following year.

Floating Holidays may be used in a minimum of quarter (1/4) hour increments. Floating Holidays may be
taken at the discretion of the employee, but he/she must have the prior approval of the supervisor,
subject to the same criteria used to approve other accrued time-off requests.

Page 58

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 146 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

New Regular full-time and part-time employees whose date of hire is on or before June 30 shall accrue
three (3) floating holidays for that calendar year. New Regular full-time and part-time employees whose
date of hire is on or after July 1 shall accrue 1-1/2 floating holidays in their first calendar year, and three
(3) floating holidays in the following calendar year and thereafter.

"In Lieu Of” Holidays

Employees who participate in an alternative workweek schedule may be entitled to take an "in lieu of"
holiday, if a paid holiday falls on or is observed on a day that is an employee’s regular day off (RDO). In
all cases, the employee’s supervisor must approve and track the “in lieu of” holiday arrangement,

The “in lieu of” holiday is administered the following ways:

® For overtime-eligible employees, the “in lieu of” holiday must be taken within the same
workweek as the observed paid holiday and must be approved by the employee’s supervisor.

® For FLSA exempt employees, the “in lieu of” holiday should be taken within the same pay period
as the paid holiday. Under special circumstances, overtime-exempt employees may be given
permission by their supervisor to take the “in lieu of” holiday during the pay period directly
preceding or succeeding the holiday. Note- the RDO remains the same for timekeeping
purposes, it is the holiday that moves creating the “in lieu of” holiday.

C. Sick Leave

Purpose

The District recognizes that employees will need days off from work from time to time to address their
medical needs, the medical needs of a family member, or reasons permitted by law.

Purposes for Sick Leave

Sick leave is paid leave from work that can be used for the following purposes:

* The diagnosis, care or treatment (including preventive treatment) of an existing health condition
for the employee or the emplayee's family members to include:

o Achild (regardless of age), including a biological, adopted or foster child; legal ward; or a
child to whom the employee stands in loco parentis; a biological, adoptive or foster parent;
stepparent; legal guardian of an employee; the employee's spouse or registered domestic
partner; or a person who stood in loco parentis when the employee was a minor child; a
spouse; a registered domestic partner; a grandparent; a grandchild; and a sibling.

® An employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking to:

o i.) obtain or attempt to obtain a temporary restraining order or other court assistance to
help ensure the health safety or welfare of the employee or his or her child; or ii.) obtain
medical attention or psychological counseling; services from a shelter; program or crisis
center; or participate in safety planning or other actions to increase safety.

Sick Leave Accrual Rates & Terms

Accrual & Carryover rules for Different Categories of Employees:

® Regular full-time employees accrue eight {8) hours of sick leave for each calendar month of paid
status (3.69 hours accrued each pay period). Accrued sick leave carries over from year to year.
No accrual limit applies.

® Part-time or temporary employees are provided a lump sum of twenty-four (24) hours of sick

Page 59

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 147 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

leave at their date of hire and each year thereafter on their anniversary date. Unused sick leave
does not carry over to subsequent years.

Sick Leave Use

Sick leave provided by the District is available for use upon hire. Sick leave may not be used until it is
earned. Accrued sick leave may be used in a minimum of quarter {1/4) hour increments.

Sick Leave Request:

To request to use sick leave if the need for leave is foreseeable, an employee must give the
supervisor/manager reasonable advance notice. If the need for sick leave is not foreseeable, the
employee shall provide notice of the need for the leave as soon as practicable.

If the employee is to be absent on sick leave for more than one day, the employee must keep their
supervisor/manager informed each day as to the date the employee expects to return to work and the
purpose of the leave. Failure to request sick leave as required by this policy without good reason may
result in the employee being treated as absent without leave.

Certification

A certificate from a health care provider may be required, by the District, for any sick leave in excess of
three (3) working days. The certificate shall cover all days for which sick leave is taken. The District may
require additional certificates for longer periods of absence, or for repeated absences, as determined at
the discretion of the General Manager.

The District may require employees to provide a physician's certification to support any absence that
involves the illness of the employee or their family member if the District suspects that there is an abuse
of sick leave by the employee.

All employees who use paid leave to address issues related to domestic violence, sexual assault or
stalking, and who cannot provide advance notice of their need for leave must provide certification of the
need for leave within a reasonable time thereafter.

Sick Leave on Separation from Employment

Unused sick leave is not cashed out upon termination, resignation, retirement, or other separation from
employment. Unused sick leave may be converted to retirement service credits only as may be
permitted under applicable retirement system laws and regulations.

Leave Use more than ten (10) Business Days

Absences greater than ten (10) business days must be requested under the Leave of Absence Policy.

Sick Leave Reinstatement:

If an employee separates and is rehired within one year from separation, may have unused accrued sick
leave reinstated, up to a maximum 40 hours.

D. Administrative/Management Leave

Employees who are exempt from FLSA overtime will receive forty {40} hours paid
administrative/management leave each calendar year. Additional leave may be authorized by the
General Manager or District Board. Administrative/Management leave must be used during the calendar
year in which it is received as it does not carry-over to the subsequent year. Unused
administrative/management leave will be paid out in January of the following year. Newly hired or
newly promoted employees who are exempt from FLSA overtime will receive a prorated amount of

Page 60

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 148 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

administrative/management leave for the year in which they are hired.

E. Jury and Witness Duty Leave
Purpose

The District encourages all employees to accept their civic responsibilities and supports employees in
the performance of these duties. The District provides leave to eligible employees who are called to
serve as jurors or who are summoned to appear as witnesses in a judicia!l proceeding, pursuant to a
subpoena or other court order.

Eligibility

All employees shall notify the District as soon as practicable of the need for leave under this policy when
they are called to jury service or summoned to witness duty, including providing appropriate
documentation.

Pay

Regular full-time employees are eligible to receive their regular pay for time served on a jury or to
appear as a witness in a judicial proceeding. Part-time and temporary employees will be excused from
work serve jury duty or to appear as a witness in judicial proceedings, however, they are not eligible to
receive their regular pay.

Procedures

Employees requesting leave under this policy should comply with the following requirements:

® On receiving a jury summons, subpoena or other court order requiring an appearance in a
judicial proceeding as a witness, the employee should notify their supervisor/manager.
Employees must submit appropriate documentation, including a copy of the jury summons,
subpoena or other court order with a completed Time Off Request form as soon as practicable.

® Employees must report for work during their regularly scheduled work shift when they are
relieved from jury duty.

® The employee must surrender the jury pay to the District, independent of any mileage
reimbursement if the employee's personal vehicle is used. If a District vehicle is used, the
mileage reimbursement will be surrendered to the District.

F. Bereavement Leave
Objective

The Bereavement Leave Policy establishes uniform guidelines for providing paid time off to employees
for absences related to the death of immediate family members,

Eligibility
Active regular fuli-time employees are eligible for benefits under this policy.
Procedures

A regular full-time employee who wishes to take time off due to the death of an immediate family
member should notify their supervisor/manager as soon as possible. If an employee leaves work early
on the day, they are notified of the death, that day will not count as bereavement leave.

Page 61

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 149 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

In addition to bereavement leave, an employee may, with their supervisor's approval, use available
accruals from vacation, floating holiday, or administrative leave (if applicable} for additional approved
time off as necessary. Employees may be required to provide documentation with regard to their
bereavement leave.

Bereavement pay is calculated based on the base pay rate at the time of absence for the hours the
employee was normally scheduled to work.

Paid bereavement leave will be granted according to the following schedule:

* Employees are allowed up to four {4) working days off from regularly scheduled duty with
regular pay.
®* Employees are allowed up to four {4) hours of bereavement leave to attend the funeral of a

fellow employee or board member provided such absence from duty will not interfere with
normal operations of the District.

“Immediate family” consists of the following: employee’s spouse, domestic partner, child, stepchild,
parent, grandparent, grandchild, brother, sister, mother/father-in-law, son or daughter-in-law, brother
or sister-in-law, legal guardian, or custodial child, or the same relatives of a domestic partner.

Under special circumstances, the General Manager may authorize bereavement time for the death of an
individual not specified as an employee’s immediate family member, as herein defined.

G. Military Leave - Regular Employee

Military leave will be granted in accordance with the provisions of state and federal law. Military orders
must be presented to your immediate manager and arrangements for leave made as early as possible
before departure.

Regular full-time employees on temporary military leaves of absence will be paid their normal wages for
up to ten (10) working days per calendar year.

Should you either voluntarily or involuntarily leave your employment to serve in the armed services, you
shall be entitled to reinstatement according to State and Federal law in effect at the time of your release
from active service.

H. Inclement Weather

In the event the General Manager deems it necessary to close the District due to inclement weather,
department heads will be phoned, and they will contact employees. You should make the effort to come
into work unless you are notified otherwise. If you are unable to do so, you need contact your
supervisor/manager, or department head.

If the District is officially closed through a management decision, you will be paid for the day with no
effect on your paid time off. If, however, the District is not closed and you do not come to work, you
shall be required to use your available paid leaves (other than sick leave) or make other arrangements
with your supervisor/manager.

Page 62

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 150 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

I. Time Off to Vote

Any employee, if he or she does not have sufficient time outside of working hours to vote, may request
up to two hours of paid leave either at the beginning or end of scheduled working hours to enable him
or her to vote. The employee must request time off to vote from his or her supervisor at least two days
prior to election day.

J. Organ or Bone Marrow Leave (Statutory)
Purpose

The District provides eligible employees up to 30 days in a 12-month period of paid leave to donate an
organ to another person, and up to five days in a 12-month period of paid leave to donate bone marrow
to another person.

Eligibility
To be eligible, employees must have been employed with the District for 90 days immediately preceding

the commencement of leave. Additionally, the District may require written certification that the
employee is a bone marrow or organ donor and that the procedure is medically necessary.

Employees will be required to use up to two (2) weeks of their earned accruals for leave to donate an
organ, and up to five {5) days of their earned accruals for leave under this policy to donate bone
marrow.

Procedures

Employees requesting leave under this policy should comply with the following requirements:

1. Employees should request leave under this policy with as much advanced notice as practicable.,

2. Insupport of their request for leave under this policy, employees should complete a leave
request form and provide Human Resources with appropriate written certification that they are
an organ or bone marrow donor and that there is a medical necessity for the donation.

3. During leave under this policy, the District will maintain coverage for employees and their family
members who participate in the District's group health plan on the same terms as if the
employees had continued to work. If applicable, employees should make arrangements to pay
their share of health plan premiums while on leave. In some instances, the District may recover
premiums it paid to maintain health coverage or other benefits for employees and their families.
Use of leave under this policy will not result in the loss of any employment benefit that accrued
prior to the start of the leave. Employees should consult the applicable plan document for ali
information regarding eligibility, coverage, and benefits.

4. Upon returning from leave under this policy, employees will typically be restored to their
positions, or to equivalent positions, with equivalent pay, benefits, and other employment
terms and conditions.

Employees with questions regarding this policy should contact Human Resources.

K. Paid Administrative Leave

The District has the right to place an employee on leave with full pay for non-disciplinary reasons at any
time when the General Manager has determined that the employee’s and/or District best interests
warrant the leave. The employee does not have the right to appeal the decision to be placed on
administrative leave with pay.

Page 63

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 151 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 10.2 Leave of Absence Policies (LOA)

Page 64

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 152 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Leave of Absence Rules

Leave of Absence

Several types of non-statutory unpaid leaves of absence are available to eligible employees under the
Districts' policies. The types of leaves that are available include family and medical leave (FML),
pregnancy disability leave (PDL), personal, and military.

Summary of Rules

A summary of the rules and restrictions applicable to all unpaid leaves of absence is provided below:

1

Absences of more than ten (10) business days must be requested under the Leave of Absence
policy. An exception may be made if the requested time off is for leave {other than sick leave), is
in excess of ten (10} business days, but less than twenty {20) business days, with the approval of
the General Manager.

All Leave of Absences in this section are considered "unpaid/inactive status," regardless if wage
replacement is utilized.

Unpaid/Inactive status: You may be eligible to use your earned accruals for wage replacement
(i.e., use of sick, vacation, or other earned accruals) during the leave of absence, however,
utilizing accruals during a leave of absence does not change the status of the leave from
Unpaid/Inactive to Paid/Active.

Accruals: All accruals including sick, vacation, floating holiday, administrative, etc. will not accrue
for the period of the leave of absence.

Holiday Pay: If a paid holiday falls during the period you are on leave of absence, you will not be
eligible for the holiday pay.

Reminder: The period that you are on a leave of absence, even if wage replacement is utilized, is
not considered time worked for purposes of calculating overtime, earning accruals, receiving
paid holidays, or other paid status benefits. When you return from a leave of absence, the
eligibility and accrual dates will be adjusted forward to reflect the period of the leave. An
exception would be if the time off is forty {40} hours or less during the two-week pay period.
Health Insurance: You will be required to pay for the entire cost of group health insurance for
the period of any FML or any statutory leave of absence beyond the end of the third calendar
month following the month in which the leave begins. You will be required to pay for the entire
cost of group health insurance for any personal leave of absence for the entire period of the
personal leave beyond the end of the calendar month in which the leave begins. For employee's
who have exceeded the District's group health maintenance period and for personal leave of
absences, employee's will be offered COBRA to continue their group health insurance. COBRA is
at 102% cost to the employee. For a personal leave of absence, you must arrange for all
necessary payments with the Financial Department before your leave commences.

Disability Insurance, SDI, etc.: If the employee is receiving benefits from a paid disability plans
such as Worker’s Compensation, State Disability (SDI), or supplementat disability insurance, the
employee must notify the District of the award date, amount of benefit received, and any
changes that may occur during the leave. if the employee uses their accruals to supplement
partial wage replacement benefits, they must not receive more than he/she would normally
earn at work.

Returning From Leave of Absence: When you are placed on pregnancy disability, family or
military leaves of absence, the District guarantees reinstatement to the same or similar job with
the same or similar duties, pay, and location unless it would substantially undermine the

Page 65

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 153 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

District's authority to operate the business safely and efficiently.

10. Personal Leave: When you are placed on a personal leave of absence, an effart will be made to
hold your position open for the period of the approved leave. However, the District will not
guarantee reinstatement after a personal leave of absence.

11. The District will attempt to reasonably accommodate employees who are released for partial or
modified duty by their treating physician.

Misrepresentations: Misrepresenting reasons for applying for a leave of absence may result in
disciplinary action, including possible termination.

B. Family and Medical Leave (FML)

Employers with 50 or more employees within a 75-mile radius are statutorily required to offer
FMLA/CFRA. The District is not statutorily required offer leave benefits under FMLA/CFRA.

Purpase

The District generously offers this discretionary FML benefit to its employees, though not required to do
50. The purpose of the FML is to provide you with the right to take time off from work to bond with a
child, to care for a family member, or to recover from a serious illness without jeopardizing your job.

Eligibility
A Regular Employee is eligible for FML if the employee:

® waorked for the District for at least 12 months; and
* worked at least 1,250 hours in the past 12 months.

Amount of Leave

12 weeks / 60 days / 480 hours of non-statutory unpaid leave in a 12-month period for family care
respansibilities and for the employee’s own serious medical condition.

Calculating the 12-month period

The 12-month period is measured rolling-forward from the date the leave begins. Successive 12-month
periods commence on the date of an employee’s first use of such leave after the preceding 12-month
period has ended. Under most circumstances, leave under federal and state law will run concurrently (at
the same time) and the eligible employee will be entitled to a total of 12 weeks of FML in the designated
12-month period. Leave to care for a covered servicemember is for a maximum of 26 workweeks during
a 12-month period.

Procedures

Requested leaves must be submitted before the leave begins. See the Director of Administration for
appropriate forms and specific information. When leaves are foreseeable, the employee must provide at
least 30 days advance notice. If the leave is not foreseeable, the employee must provide notice as soon
as practicable.

If the leave is based on the expected birth, placement for adoption or foster care, or planned medical
treatment for a serious health condition of the employee or a family member, the employee must notify

Page 66

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 154 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

the District at least 30 days before leave is to begin. The employee must consult with his or her
supervisor regarding scheduling of any planned medical treatment or supervision in order to minimize
disruption to the operation of the District. Any such scheduling is subject to the approval of the health
care provider of the employee or the health care provider of the employee’s child, parent, or spouse. If
the employee cannot provide 30 days’ notice, the District must be informed as soon as is practical.

Leave may be taken for one or more of the following reasons:

® The birth of the employee’s child, or placement of a child with the employee for adoption or
foster care;

®* To care for the employee’s spouse, registered domestic partner, child, parent, grandparent,
grandchild, sibling, or parent-in-law who has a serious health condition;

® For aserious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform his or her job;

* For any “qualifying exigency” (defined by federal regulation) because the employee is the
spouse, son, daughter, or parent of an individual on active military duty (or has been notified of
an impending call or order to active duty) in the Armed Forces in support of a contingency
operation; or

* Anemployee who is the spouse, son, daughter, parent, or next of kin of a covered

servicemember shall be entitled to a total of 26 workweeks of leave during a 12-month period
to care for the service member.

Leave for Employee’s Own Health Condition

Reasons for leave may involve the following:

® “Inpatient care” of at least one day

* Period of incapacity of more than three days, followed by treatment by a healthcare provider
® Treatment of chronic condition

®* Treatment for substance ahuse

® Pregnancy-related treatment

If the FML request is made because of the employee’s own serious health condition, the District may
require, at its expense, a second opinion from a health care provider that the District chooses.

If the second opinion differs from the first opinion, the District may require, at its expense, the
employee to obtain the opinion of a third health care provider designated or approved jointly by the
employer and the employee. The opinion of the third health care provider shall be considered final and
binding on the District and the employee.

The District requires the employee to provide certification within fifteen {15) days of any request for
FML, unless it is not practicable to do so. The District may require recertification from the health care
provider if additional leave is required. (For example, if an employee needs two weeks of FML, but
following the two weeks needs intermittent leave, a new medical certification may be requested and
required.) If the employee does not provide medical certification in a timely manner to substantiate the
need for FML, the District may delay approval of the leave, or continuation thereof, until certification is
received. If certification is never received, the leave may not be considered FML.

Page 67

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 155 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

If an employee cites his/her own serious health condition as a reason for leave, the employee must
provide a certification for the health care provider stating;

® Date of commencement of the serious health condition;
® Probable duration of the condition, and

* |nability of the employee to work at all or perform any one or more of the essential functions of
their position because of the serious health condition.

The District will require certification by the employee’s health care provider that the employee is fit to
return to his or her job. The physician must stipulate whether employee can perform essential functions
with or without accommodation. Failure to provide certification by the health care provider of the
employee’s fitness to return to work will result in denial of reinstatement for the employee until the
certificate is obtained.

Leave to Care for a Family Member

If the leave is needed to care for your sick child, spouse, parent, grandparent, grandchild (18 years old or
younger unless a legally dependent adult grandchild), sibling, or parent-in-law, the employee must
provide a certification from the health care provider stating:

® Date of commencement of the serious health condition;

®  Probahle duration of the condition;

® Estimated amount of time for care by the health care provider; and

® Confirmation that the serious health condition warrants the participation of the employee.

Spouses Both Employed by the District

When both parents are employed by the District and request simultaneous leave for the birth or
placement for adoption or foster care for a child, the District will not grant more than a total of 12
workweeks combined FML leave for this reason.

Leave Related to Military Service

A leave taken due to a “qualifying exigency” related to military service must be supported by a
certification of its necessity. A leave taken due to the need to care for a service member shall be
supported by a certification by the service member’s health care provider.

Use of Accrued Leave

® [f the employee is on FML for the employee's own or serious medical condition or to care for
family members serious medical condition, the employee shall use sick leave. If the sick leave is
exhausted, the employee shall use vacation, floating holiday, or other accrued leaves. (check
this for legality)

¢ If the employee is receiving benefits from a paid disability plan such as Worker’s Compensation,
State Disability (SDI}, or supplemental disability insurance, the employee shall use sick leave to
supplement any wage replacement benefits. if the sick leave is exhausted, the employee shall
use vacation, floating holiday, or other accrued leaves to supplement any wage replacement
benefits. All wage replacement benefits used shall not exceed 100% of what the employee
would normally earn at work.

Page 68

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 156 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

® Ail requests for wage replacement must be made in writing (email is acceptable) to the Director
of Administration before the close of the relevant pay period(s). If such request is not received
timely, the District will use first use floating holiday, administrative/management leave (if
applicable), and then vacation accruals.

Maintenance of Health Benefits

The District will maintain coverage under any group health benefit plans for the duration of the leave
{for a maximum period of three (3) calendar months following the month in which the leave begins) on
the same terms as if he or she had continued to work. Employees that normally receive cashback from
the difference in health benefit premiums from the Cafeteria Plan, will not receive the cashback during
FML leave.

For any benefit plan costs in excess of the District's health benefits contribution, the employee must
continue to make any normal contributions to the cost of the health insurance premiums. Payment
contributions can be made through payroll deduction or by direct payment to the District. Employee
contribution rates are subject to any change in rates that occurs while the employee is on leave.
Depending on the particular plan, the District will inform the employee whether the premiums should
be paid directly to the carrier or to the District.

In some instances, the District may recover premiums it paid to maintain health coverage or other
benefits for employees and their families. If the employee fails to return to work after the leave; the
reason for the failure to return is something other than the continuation, recurrence or onset of a
serious health condition, or other circumstances beyond the employee’s control.

Use of leave under this policy will not result in the loss of any employment benefit that accrued prior to
the start of leave under this policy.

Reinstatement for employees on FML

The District guarantees reinstatement to the same or similar job with the same or similar duties, pay,
and location unless granting such leave would substantially undermine the District’s ability to operate
the business safely and efficiently. Employees on FML will be credited with all service prior to the
commencement of their disability, but not for the period of their disability.

An employee who returns to work for at least 30 days is considered to have “returned to work.”

C. Pregnancy Disability Leave (Statutory)

Purpose

The District provides female employees with job-protected unpaid leave, up to four months, for
disabilities relating to pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions (meaning a physical or mental
condition intrinsic to pregnancy or childbirth).

Eligibility
All employees who experience disabilities relating to pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions

{meaning a physical or mental condition intrinsic to pregnancy or childbirth) may request leave or a
reasonable accommodation under this policy.

Page 69

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 157 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Amount of Leave

For the purposes of leave under this policy, “four months” mean the number of days the employee
would normally work within four calendar months (one-third of a year equaling 17 1/3 weeks), if the
leave is taken continuously, following the date the pregnancy leave commences.

Employees who take time off for pregnancy disability leave and who are eligible for FML will also be
placed on FML that runs at the same time as their pregnancy disability leave,

Procedure

* Reguest PDL: you must notify your manager and the Director of Administration as soon as
possible, at least 30 days in advance if foreseeable. The written notice should specify the
commencement date of the leave, the expected duration of the leave, and be accompanied by a
signed physician's certification statement. The District has ten calendar days to respond to the
request. The Director of Administration will provide appropriate paperwork that coincides with
FML.

® (Certification: The request for pregnancy disability leave must be supported by a written
certification from the attending physician stating that: 1) the employee is disabled from working
by pregnancy, childbirth or a related medical condition; 2) the date on which the employee
became disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or a related medical condition; and 3) the estimated
duration or end date of the [eave.

Use of Accrued Leave

An employee who is granted a PDL is required to utilize accrued sick leave concurrently with the leave
taken under this policy. If sick leave has been exhausted, the employee may request use of vacation,
floating holidays, or other earned accruals.

if SDi benefits have begun, the employee may choose to supplement those benefits with accrued paid
sick leave. For any portion of the leave that occurs after all sick leave benefits have been exhausted, the
employee may choose to use other accrued leaves such as vacation or floating holidays. The employee is
responsible to inform the District of which leaves they choose to use.

Use of wage replacement accruals and SDI benefits combined may not exceed 100% of regular pay.

All requests for wage replacement must be made in writing (email is acceptable) to the Director of
Administration before the close of the relevant pay period(s).

Maintenance of Health Benefits

The District will maintain coverage under any group health benefit plans for the duration of the leave
(maximum of 17 1/3 weeks for PDL) on the same terms as if he or she had continuved to work.
Employees that normally receive cashback from the difference in health benefit premiums from the
Cafeteria Plan, will not receive the cashback during FML leave.

For any benefit plan costs in excess of the District's health benefits contribution, the employee must
continue to make any normal contributions to the cost of the health insurance premiums. Payment
contributions can be made through payroll deduction or by direct payment to the District. Employee
contribution rates are subject to any change in rates that occurs while the employee is on leave.

Page 70

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 158 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Depending on the particular plan, the District will inform the employee whether the premiums should
be paid directly to the carrier or to the District.

In some instances, the District may recover premiums it paid to maintain health coverage or other
benefits for employees and their families. If the employee fails to return to work after the leave; the
reason for the failure to return is something other than the continuation, recurrence or onset of a
serious health condition, or other circumstances beyond the employee’s control.

Use of leave under this policy will not result in the loss of any employment benefit that accrued prior to
the start of leave under this policy.
Reinstatement For employees on PDL

The District guarantees reinstatement to the same or similar job with the same or similar duties, pay,
and location unless granting such leave would substantially undermine the District’s ability to operate
the business safely and efficiently. Employees on PDL will be credited with all service prior to the
commencement of their disability, but not for the period of their disability.

An employee who returns to work for at least 30 days is considered to have “returned to work.”

D. New Parent Leave Act (Statutory)

Purpose

An eligible employee can take NPLA to bond with a new child within one year of the child’s birth,
adoption or foster care placement.

Eligibility

An employee is eligible for NPLA if the employee:

® worked for the District for at least 12 months; and
® worked at least 1,250 hours in the past 12 months.

Amount of Leave

12 work weeks

Procedure

® You must notify your manager and the Director of Administration as soon as possible, at feast 30
days in advance if foreseeable. The written notice should specify the commencement date of
the leave, the expected duration of the leave, and the expected return date. The District has ten
calendar days to respond to the request.

Use of Accrued Leave

This leave is unpaid. The employee can choose to use accrued sick, vacation, floating holidays, or other
earned leave, if desired.

All requests for wage replacement must be made in writing {(email is acceptable) to the Director of
Administration before the close of the relevant pay period(s).

Page 71

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 159 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Maintenance of Health Benefits

The District will maintain coverage under any group health benefit plans for the duration of the leave
{for a maximum period of three (3) calendar months following the month in which the leave begins) on
the same terms as if he or she had continued to work. Employees that normally receive cashback from
the difference in health benefit premiums from the Cafeteria Plan, will not receive the cashback during
NPLA leave.

For any benefit plan costs in excess of the District's health benefits contribution, the employee must
continue to make any normal contributions to the cost of the health insurance premiums. Payment
contributions can be made through payroll deduction or by direct payment to the District. Employee
contribution rates are subject to any change in rates that occurs while the employee is on leave.
Depending on the particular plan, the District will inform the employee whether the premiums should
be paid directly to the carrier or to the District.

In some instances, the District may recover premiums it paid to maintain health coverage or other
benefits for employees and their families. If the employee fails to return to work after the leave; the
reason far the failure to return is something other than the continuation, recurrence or onset of a
serious health condition, or other circumstances beyond the employee’s control.

Use of leave under this policy wili not result in the loss of any employment benefit that accrued prior to
the start of leave under this policy.

Reinstatement

For employees on NPLA the District guarantees reinstatement to the same or similar job with the same
or similar duties, pay, and location unless granting such leave would substantially undermine the
District’s ability to operate the business safely and efficiently. Employees on NPLA will be credited with
all service prior to the commencement of their leave, but not for the period of the leave.

An employee who returns to work for at least 30 days is considered to have “returned to work.”

E. Military Spouse Leave (Statutory)

Regular Employees that work more than 20 hours per week and have a spouse in the Armed Forces,
National Guard, or Reserves that have been deployed during a period of military conflict are eligible for
up to 10 unpaid days off when their spouse is on leave from military deployment. Employees must
request this leave in writing to the Director of Administration within two business days of receiving
official notice that their spouse will be on leave. Employees requesting this leave are required to attach
to the leave request written documentation certifying the spouse will be on leave from deployment. At
the employee's request, they may use accrued paid leaves, other than sick leave.

F. School Activity Leave (Statutory)

School or Licensed Day Care Activity Leave

Any employee who is a parent, guardian, stepparent, foster parent, grandparent, or person who stands
in loco parentis to one or more children who are in kindergarten or grades 1 through 12, or who are in a
licensed childcare facility, shall be allowed up to 40 hours each school year, not to exceed eight hours in
any calendar month of the school year, to: participate in activities of their child’s school or licensed
childcare facility; find, enroli, or re-enroll a child in a school or with a licensed childcare provider; or to

Page 72

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 160 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

pick up a child due to a childcare provider or school emergency. The employee must provide
reasonable advance notice to his/her supervisor of the planned absence. The employee must provide
documentation from the school or licensed childcare facility as verification that the employee
participated in school or childcare facility activities on a specific date and at a particular time. If both
parents, guardians or grandparents having custody work for the District at the same District work site,
only the first parent requesting will be entitled to leave under this provision.

Child Suspension Leave

Any employee who is the parent or guardian of a child in grades 1 through 12 may take time off to go to
the child’s school in response to a request from the child’s school, if the employee gives advance notice
to his or her supervisor. A school has the authority to request that the parent attend the child’s school
if the child has: committed any obscene act; habitually used profanity or vulgarity; disrupted school
activities; or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority of school personnel.

School activity leave is unpaid unless the employee uses paid leave other than sick leave.

G. Victim of Crime Leave (Statutory)

In accordance with state law, an employee who is a victim crime as defined in California Labor Code is
entitled to take time off from work to seek relief {such as a temporary restraining order) or other
assistance to help safeguard the health, safety, or welfare of the employee, and/or immediate family
member including their spouse, child, sibling, or parent. The employee must provide reasonable
advance notice of the intent to take leave for this reason (unless advance notice is not feasible), and the
employee must provide a copy of the notice for each scheduled proceeding. The leave is unpaid unless
the employee elects to use accrued vacation, sick, or other paid leave.

H. Personal Leave of Absence

General

Employees who have been continuously employed with the District for at least one (1) year, may, due to
special circumstances, request a personal leave of absence without pay, for a reasonable period of time
up to forty-five {45) calendar days. Requests for leaves of absence will be considered on the basis of
length of service, performance, responsibility level, the reason for the request, whether other
individuals are already out on leave, and the expected impact on the District.

Requests

A request must be submitted in writing and be approved in writing by the General Manager before leave
begins. A request for an extension of a leave of absence must be submitted in writing and approved in
writing by the General Manager before the extended period begins. It is your responsibility to report to
work at the end of the approved leave. If you fail to report to work on the day after your leave expires,
you will be considered to have voluntarily resigned.

Status of Employee Benefits During A Personal Leave:

The District does not pay for group insurance premiums during any portion of a nonstatutory, unpaid
leave of absence beyond the end of the manth in which the leave begins. Accordingly, the premiums
beyond that point for such coverage are your complete respaonsibility and offered through COBRA. In
order to keep the insurance in force, premiums for the period of the leave must be paid according to the
schedule outlined in the COBRA notification form.

Page 73

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 161 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Use of Accrued Leave

An employee who is granted a Personal Leave of Absence is required to utilize accrued paid accruals
{wage replacement) concurrently with the leave taken under this policy. Use of sick leave accruals will
only be authorized if the personal leave of absence if for the employee's own serious health condition or
to care far their family member as described in the FML policy.

All requests for wage replacement must be made in writing {(email is acceptable) to the Director of
Administration before the close of the relevant pay period(s). If such request is not received timely, the
District will first use floating holiday, administrative/management leave (if applicable), and then
vacation accruals.

A Personal Leave of Absences is considered unpaid, regardless if wage replacement is utilized. All

insurance and retirement benefits, sick leave, and vacation credits will not accrue for the period of the
leave.

l. Reinstatement

Under most circumstances, upon return from FML, PDL, NPLA, Military leave, an employee will be
reinstated to his/her original job or to an equivalent job with equivalent pay, benefits, and other
employment terms and conditions. However, an employee has no greater right to reinstatement than if
he or she had been continuously employed rather than on leave.

For example, if an employee on FML would have been laid off had he or she not gone on leave, or if the
employee’s job is eliminated during the leave and the no equivalent or comparable job is available, then
the employee would not be entitled to reinstatement. In addition, an employee’s use of FML will not
result in the loss of any employment benefit that the employee earned before using FML.

J. Carryover

Leave granted under any of the reasons provided by FML and/or NPLA will be considered as part of the
12-workweek entitlement in a 12-month period; PDL provides a 17 1/3 workweek (693 hours)
entitlement in a 12-month period. The period is measured forward from the date any employees first
leave begins. Successive 12-month periods commence on the date of an employee’s first use of such
leave after the preceding 12-month period has ended. No carryover of unused leave from one 12-month
period to the next 12-month period is permitted.

K. Fit-for-Duty Exam

If leave taken was for the employee's own serious health condition, and the employee’s health care
provider imposed certain job restrictions on a return to work notice (i.e. ability to lift a certain amount
of weight), the employee may be required to submit for a fitness-for-duty exam before an employee
returns to work. This exam is intended to ensure the employee is safely ahle to return to work.

L. Catastrophic Leave Donation Policy

Policy

Employees may contribute a portion of their accrued sick leave to another employee when such
employee or their immediate family member has suffered a catastrophic injury or illness.

Page 74

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 162 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Eligibility

This policy applies to all regular full-time and part-time employees of the District. This program does not
apply to temporary employees or elected officials.

Procedure

For such a contribution to take place the following conditions shall apply:
Recipient Employee

* The recipient’s own leave accruals must be exhausted first in order to be eligible for catastrophic
leave wage replacement;

® (Catastrophic leave is subject to the availability of the funds available within the bank;
® (atastrophic leave cannot be used with any leave in conjunction with Warkers’ Compensation;

® (atastrophic leave must be used in conjunction with the leaves the recipient is qualified for
under the Leave of Absence policies.

Contributing Employees

® Donations to the bank may not drop the donor’s remaining accrued balances below forty (40)
hours for vacation or eighty (80) sick leave. Any leave that is donated is irrevocable;

¢ Donations must be made in whole hour increments, with two (2) hours being the minimum
donation from any employee;

® The contribution will be based on the contributing employee’s dollar value which will be
adjusted proportionally to the receiving employee's rate;

¢ Donations that are not used will remain in the Catastrophic Leave Sharing Bank for future
requests.

Page 75

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 163 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 11. Safety and Health

Page 76

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 164 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Safe Workplace Policies
Iliness Injury Prevention Program (lIPP)

The District greatly values the safety and health of all of its employees and is committed to providing a
safe and healthful workplace. This will be accomplished through the establishment, implementation,
and maintenance of an effective Injury & lliness Prevention Program (lIPP). Please refer to the District's
IIPP or talk to your supervisor for more information.

Heat lliness Prevention Program (HIPP)

The District greatly values employee health and safety. Employees who work outside are be exposed to
extreme temperatures or adverse working conditions, particularly in the summer months. All
supervisors/managers are trained in the recognition and prevention of heat iliness. Employees who
work outside are encouraged to frequently drink water. Employees who waork outside are also allowed
and encouraged to take a cool-down rest in the shade of at least five minutes (in addition to the time
needed to access the shade) when needed to protect themselves from overheating. These preventative
cool-down rests are paid time. Please refer ta the District's HIPP or talk to your supervisor for more
information.

Ergonomics

The District encourages safe and proper work procedures and requires all employees to follow safety
instructions and guidelines. It is our intention to reduce exposure to ergonomic hazards through
modifications to equipment and process and employee training. Any necessary, reasonable adjustments
to minimize workplace repetitive motion injuries will be considered and made. If you require any
adjustments or have any concerns or questions about ergonomics, be sure to discuss the matter with
your supervisor/manager or the Director of Administration.

B. Return to Work

in an effort to minimize serious disability due to on-the-job and off-the-job injuries and illnesses and to
reduce workers’ compensation costs (if applicable), the District has developed a Return-to-Work
program.

This policy is consistent with the District’s responsibilities under the Americans with Disabilities Act to
provide reasonable accommodations to persons with disabilities. Managers will assist by directing the
employee to appropriate care and assisting in proper reporting of the injury or iliness while maintaining
a positive and constant flow of communication with the injured worker. They will also assist in arranging
work which meets “light duty” restrictions, as needed, to reduce lost time. The District management
staff will work with the workers' compensation carrier {if applicable) and the physician to assist with the
assessment of the employee’s ability to return to work. Together they will actively encourage the
treating physician to release the injured worker to work as soon as possible.

By this joint effort, the District will help the injured/ill worker recover at a more rapid rate, gain
production for wages paid, minimize the employees’ wage loss, and reduce workers’ compensation
costs.

Page 77

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 165 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

C. Security

Security

Security is important to everyone. You are asked not to discuss District security, security services,
security devices, or protective measures with any individual not employed by the District. Additionally,
neither the District nor its insurance carriers take any liability for your personal belongings. You are
encouraged to secure personal belongings to the best of your ability. The building is secured with
electronic security keypads for access before and after hours. You will be given a confidential code, not
to be shared with anyone. Since the District retains the right to search its property or facilities at any
time {including employee-assigned desks, files and computer systems), if you have anything of a private
nature that you wish not to be subjected to discovery during such searches, these items should be kept
in your personal briefcase, purse, or lunch bag.

Awareness & Notification

Be aware of persons loitering for no apparent reason in parking areas, walkways, entrances and exits,
and service areas. Report any suspicious persons or activities to your supervisor/manager or law
enforcement when necessary. Secure your desk or office at the end of the day. When called away from
your work area for an extended length of time, do not leave valuables and/or personal articles in or
around your workstation that may be accessible. The security of facilities, as well as the welfare of our
employees, depends upon the alertness and sensitivity of every individual to potential security risks. You
are required to immediately notify your supervisor/manager when unknown persons are acting in a
suspicious manner in or around the facilities, or when keys, security passes, or identification badges are
missing. Do not share passwords, security codes, ar other security information with anyone other than
the District assigned IT personnel.

The Districts' workplace security program is described in detail in the lllness and Injury Prevention
Program (IIPP).

Bomb Threats and/or Threatening Calls

Should you receive a threatening phone call, remain calm and try to write down the exact wording of
the emergency/threat. Be sure to notify a manager immediately, and if appropriate, phone 9-1-1. Follow
the procedures outlined in the District Emergency Response Plan (ERP).

D. Disaster Service Worker

Purpose

All regular District employees are designated by law as “Disaster Service Workers” (“DSW"). In the event
of a declaration of emergency, any employee of the District may be assigned to perform activities either
within or outside their regular scope of duties for the purpose of promoting the protection of public
health and safety or the preservation of life and property.

All District employees performing duties as a DSW shall be considered to be acting within the scope of
disaster service duties while assisting any unit of the organization or performing any act contributing to
the protection of life or property or mitigating the effects of an emergency.

Page 78

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 166 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Respanse

What to do in_an Emergency

If you are at work:

During a declared emergency while at work, report immediately to your supervisor/manager, or
department head and follow instructions pursuant to the District's disaster plan.

If you are at home:

During a declared emergency while you are at home, first ensure the safety of yourself and your
family, then call your respective supervisor. If you cannot get in contact with your
supervisor/manager, contact a department head or the General Manager for instructions. If
phone lines and other communication methods are down for more than one (1) hours following
a major disaster, immediately report to the District's EOC.

E. Driving on the Job

Purpose

The District maintains a Driving Record Review Program. As part of this program, it has enrolled in the
Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) Employer Pull Notice Program. This is a free service for public
agencies that provides driver record reports on employees, applicants, temporary employees, and
volunteers.

Policy
Driving on the Job

Those who operate vehicles (District or personal) on District business shall possess and maintain a valid
California driver’s license.

Those who operate vehicles (District or personal) on District business shall comply with all District rules
and traffic laws regarding the operation of motor vehicles; including that all vehicle occupants wear
their seat belts.

Those individuals without a valid driver’'s license will not be allowed to operate a District vehicle or drive
on District business.

Driving Records

Pull Notice driving records are reviewed at least annually for all those who operate vehicles (District or
personal) on District business.

Infraction(s) indicated on the driving record will be reviewed using the following factors: the nature and
gravity of the offense; the time since the conviction; and the nature of the job position. If the individual
poses an unreasonable risk to the District, its employees, or its customers and vendors driving privileges
may be revoked. If driving is an essential job function of the position, and the employee cannot be
reasonably accommodated, this may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.

If the employee’s license is suspended or revoked, and driving is an essential job function of the
position, and the employee cannot be reasonably accommodated, may result in disciplinary action up to
and including termination.

Page 79

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 167 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Cellular Phone or Device Safety

The use of cellular phones while driving on District business is considered a dangerous distraction and is
prohibited. If your job requires you to keep your cell phone turned on while driving, you must safely pull
off the road and stop before conducting business. Under no circumstances may a driver initiate or
answer a cellular phone call or text message while driving a vehicle on District time.

Traffic Violations

If an employee receives a traffic violation while operating a District vehicle or while driving a personal
vehicle on District business, they must report it to the Director of Administration no later than the next
regularly scheduled working day. Employees will be personally responsible for any traffic citation
incurred with the exception of citations issued for faulty District equipment, any other “fix it” ticket
beyond the employee’s control such as improper District vehicle maintenance, or any other employer
caused citation.

Accidents

If an accident should occur while operating a District vehicle or while driving a personal vehicle on
District business, the employee must stay with at the scene {unless it is unsafe to do so, such as the
employee is injured and needs medical attention) until a traffic accident report is prepared by the local
law enforcement agency. The accident must be brought to the attention of the General Manager as
soon as practicable.

If law enforcement determines a report is not required, the employee shall collect information from the
involved parties including but not limited to insurance documentation, driver’s license information,
names and contact information of all parties involved, including witnesses at the scene.

F. District Uniforms
Mandatory District Uniforms

All field employees are required to wear District-provided uniforms. The purpose of the uniform is to
both protect the employee and present an identifiable, professional, and neat image to the

public. Uniforms are provided to all field employees and the value thereof will be allocated to employee
earnings for applicable CalPERS and taxation purpases, in accordance with State and Federal law. The
value of uniforms is as set forth in the applicable MOU and/or salary resolution.

Uniforms shall be worn during working hours in accordance with the following:

1. Pants - Eight pairs of uniform pants are provided by the District annually.

2. Shirts - Twelve uniform shirts are provided by the District annually. Shirts are an identifiable part
of the uniform and must be worn during your paid working hours. District logos shall be on all
uniform shirts.

3. Jackets - Approved lightweight and heavy jackets will be provided and shall be worn when an
employee chooses to wear something that covers his/her approved shirt. If heavier gear than
that provided by the District is required for severe weather conditions, employees may provide
their own jackets with supervisor approval.

4. Hats - The District will provide uniform hats for field personnel. Wearing a hat is strongly
recommended especially to help prevent heat illness-related issues. However, hats are not
required.

Page 80

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 168 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Uniforms should be purchased each year in July. The provision for uniforms is not a clothing allowance
to be used at the employee's discretion. Supervisors/managers will ensure uniform purchases do not
exceed the annual approved budget without prior approval from the General Manager. Uniforms are to
be returned as part of the exit process when the employee separates from employment.

Uniform Standards

It is the employee's responsibility to launder, maintain, and ensure that the condition and appearance of
the uniforms are free from excessive fading, stains, holes, or unkempt appearance.

Additional uniforms may be provided during the year (at the discretion of the supervisor) if the uniforms
have sustained excess wear and tear due to variations in job functions. 1t is the employee's responsibility
to wear proper PPE to ensure safety and to avoid prematurely damaging District provided uniforms. It is
the employee's responsibility to inform their supervisor should replacements be needed.

District provided uniforms are not to be worn outside paid working hours except while traveling to and
from work. The running of basic errands after work before going home shall not be a violation of this
policy (basic errands do not include the purchase of alcohol or cannabis products).

Voluntary Uniforms

The office staff is not required to wear uniforms, however, at the employee's discretion and cost, they
may choose to purchase clothing with the District logo. Maintenance and presentation standards are to
be consistent with the uniform standards set forth above and the District's Dress Code policy.

At the District's discretion, the District may purchase District logo'ed items for office employees to wear
to when representing the District.

G. Safety Boot Policy

All Field employees are required to wear lace-up (no pull-on or zipper insert) protective footwear with a
minimum ankle support of five inches while performing normal District activities. In addition, protective
footwear must meet the requirements of the American National Standards (ANSI) standards: ASTM
F2412-2005, ASTM F 2413-2005 as referenced by the Occupational Safety and Health Act {OSHA).

The District will provide a boot allowance as provided in an MOU or applicable salary resolution each
calendar year for eligible field employees.

Under certain conditions where protective footwear is damaged or is deemed to be unsafe, and the
employee has already exhausted his/her annual boot allowance, the supervisor/manager, with the
concurrence of the General Manager, may authorize reimbursement for an additional pair of protective

footwear up to the amount of the annual boot allowance or the actual costs of the footwear, whichever
is less.

Employee responsibility: Except under the circumstance described above, the employee will be
responsible for the difference between the cost of the protective footwear and the amount of the
annual boot allowance.

The employee will be responsible for wearing protective footwear during working hours.

Page 81

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 169 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

The employee will be responsible for the reasonable care and maintenance of his or her protective
footwear.

The employee will be responsible for informing the supervisor when protective footwear needs to be
replaced.

When safety boots are not billed directly to the District, but rather the employee incurred the expense,
the employee must complete a reimbursement form. The reimbursement form and original receipt of
purchase must be submitted to their immediate supervisor within 30 days of purchase.

Page 82

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 170 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 12. Employee Relations

Page 83

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 171 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Code of Ethics

This section applies to all officials and employees of the District.

1.

Each official and employee has an obligation to meet the highest ethical and professional
standards and to enhance the public’s respect and trust for the District and its operations.
Employees of the District have responsibilities unique from their counterparts in private
industry. Employment with the District carries an obligation of personal integrity and conduct
that serves to establish public respect, confidence, and trust.

Employees represent the District and the quality of District service is judged through their
performance and conduct. The ratepayers of Joshua Tree have the right to expect that District
employees will provide services in an efficient, thorough and courteous manner. It is intended
that the rules and procedures which follow will assist employees in maintaining high ethical
standards and proper job performance, and in avoiding potential conflicts of interest both in
fact and appearance.

4. The District, as a condition of employment, expects to receive from the employee:

® |nitiative and a conscientious effort to perform productive waork.

® Cooperative, positive, responsive, and courteous relations with fellow employees,
supervisars/managers, subordinates, and the public.

* A continuous effort to strive for greater knowledge and skill on the job in order to
maintain performance at a high level.

* Compliance with all policies, regulations, rules of conduct and ordinances established by
the District.

® Responsible work habits demonstrated by:

¢ Dependability, promptness, reliable attendance, and performing required duties
competently.

* Keeping informed of developments and matters affecting job performance,
® Being flexible and adaptable to change.
® Accepting constructive suggestions and criticism.

* Neat and clean grooming and attire appropriate to the job assignment. Prescribed
uniforms and safety equipment must be worn where applicable.

® Effectively implementing the official policies of the District when serving in their official

capacity with customers, clients, and the public and/or when identifying themselves as
District employees in the course of their work.

B. Rules of Conduct

Employees are expected to conduct themselves in a manner to further the District's objectives. The
following examples are given in order to provide you some guidance concerning unacceptable behavior,
other types of conduct that threaten security, personal safety, employee welfare, and District

operations also may be prohibited and will result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. If
the District chooses to correct an employee who engages in unacceptable behavior, the employee may
be subject to corrective action up to and including termination. Please note that it is impossible to
provide an exhaustive list of behaviors that are not acceptable. The following is therefore intended to
simply provide some examples:

Page 84
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 172 of 230



d L) e

10.
11.
2.

13.
14.

15.

16.
17.

18.
18.

20.
21.
22,
23.

24,

25.
26.

27.
28,

Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Poor performance, inefficient or careless performance of job responsibilities or inability to
perform job duties satisfactorily, sleeping or malingering on the job, or an intentional slowdown of
work;

Unavailability for work {i.e. excessive absenteeism or tardiness) and/or violation of District
punctuality and attendance policies. (Absences protected by state or federal law do not count as
violations of this policy. Protected paid sick time under California law does not count as a violation
of this policy);

Failing to obtain permission to leave work for any reason during normal working hours, not
including meal periods;

Failing to observe working schedules, including rest and lunch period;

Working overtime without authorization or refusing to work assigned overtime;

Violation of dress standards;

Misuse of the District’s monies;

Conducting personal business during working hours and/or using District property for personal
matters;

Making or accepting personal telephone calls of more than three minutes in duration during
working hours, except in cases of emergency or extreme circumstances;

Installing unauthorized software in the District’'s computer(s) and/or server system;
Misuse of electronic systems {email, internet, fax, computers, mobile devices, etc.);

Disclosing anything of a personal or confidential nature concerning a customer or employee unless
the specific work duties require the giving or exchanging of such information;

Committing a fraudulent act or a breach of trust under any circumstances;

Willful failure to report to supervisor any significant omissions, errors or mistakes or accidental
damage affecting work assignment, property or equipment;

Falsification of forms, records, or reports including, but not limited to, timesheets, employment
applications and member records;

Giving false or misleading information during the application and/or selection process;

Recording the work time of another employee or allowing any other employee to record your
work time, or falsifying any timecard, either your own or another employee's;

Theft of property of the District, an employee, a customer, supplier, contractor, or visitor;

Unauthorized possession or removal of property, records, or other materials without prior
authorization;

Unauthorized opening of or tampering with mail, locks, doors, cabinets, etc.;
Unauthorized duplication of keys;
Failing to exercise proper custodial responsibility of District keys or property;

Permitting another person to use your assigned keys or security codes to enter District property
without authorization;

Deliberate or willful destruction or damage to property, records, materials, etc. of the District, an
employee, customer, or visitor;

Unauthorized use or misuse of District equipment, time, materials, or facilities;

Possessing or bringing firearms, weapons, open containers of alcohol, marijuana or illegal drugs or
chemicals on or to the District’s property and/or violating the District's drug and alcohol policy;
Reporting to work under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol and/or marijuana;

Smoking in restricted areas;

Page 85

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 173 of 230



29.

30.

31.

32.

33.
34,
35.

36.

37.

38.

39,
40.
41.

42.

43.

44.

Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Non-compliance with safety or health rules or practices or engaging in conduct that creates a
safety or health hazard;

Sexual harassment or other unlawful harassment of an employee, contractor, vendor, visitor
and/or violating the District's anti-harassment or equal employment opportunity policies;

Failure to immediately report the loss of a California driver's license due to suspension,
withdrawal, forfeiture or confiscation by any court of law or by the California Division of Motor
Vehicles. This rule applies only to those employees who must maintain such a license as a
condition of their employment;

Failure to report involvement in an accident occurring on the District’s premises, or involving the
District’s equipment, or giving false information in accident or insurance reports;

Failing to promptly report work-related injury or illness;

Soliciting or accepting tips or gifts for District services;

Soliciting, collecting funds, circulating, or posting literature of any nature on District property
without authorization;

Failure to withdraw from and/or to report outside activities or interests which are a conflict of
interest of the District;

Threatening, intimidating, and/or the inability to get along with co-workers,
supervisors/managers, vendors, customers, visitors and/or Board Members;

Causing, creating, or participating in a disruption of any kind during working hours on District
property;

Provoking a fight or fighting during on District property;

Participating in horseplay or practical jokes on District time or on District premises;

Any action indicating a disrespect or disregard for the District, its employees, its vendors,
suppliers, or customers;

Insubordination, including but not limited to failure or refusal to obey the orders or instructions of
a supervisor or member of management, or the use of abusive or threatening language toward a
supervisor or member of management, or other disrespectful conduct toward a manager;

Using discourteous conduct or abusive treatment; using threatening, intimidating, inappropriate
language at any time on District premises;

Engaging in conduct or behavior that is detrimental to the good reputation of the District or would
adversely impact the public opinion of the District.

C. Reasonable Accommodation

Reasonable Accommodation

Absent undue hardship or direct threats to the health and safety of employee(s), the District provides
employment-related reasonable accommodations to:

1.

qualified individuals with disabilities, both applicants and employees, to enable them to perform
essential job functions {Gov. Code § 12940{m)); and

employees with conditions related to pregnancy, childbirth, or a related medical condition, if
she so requests, and with the advice of her health care provider (Gov. Code § 12945(3)(A)); and
employee victims of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking to promote the safety of the
employee victim while at work (Labor Code § 230(f}{4)); and

employees who request reasonable accommodation to address a conflict between religious
belief or observance and any employment requirement (Gov. Code § 12940(1)).

Page 86

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 174 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Supporting Documentation or Certification

Reasonable Medical Documentation of Disability

If the disability or the need for reasonable accommodation is not obvious, the District may
require the individual to provide reasonable medical documentation confirming the existence of
the disability and the need for reasonable accommodation, along with the name and credentials
of the individual’s health care provider. If the individual provides insufficient documentation,
the District will:

1) explain the insufficiency;

2) allow the employee or applicant to supplement the documentation; and

3) pursue the interactive process only to the extent that the request for reasonable
accommodation is supported by the medical documentation provided. (2 Cal.Code Regs
§ 11069(c){2) & {d).)

Medical Certification Indicating the Need for a Reasonable Accommedation or Transfer Due to
Pregnancy or Related Conditions

If a pregnant employee, or an employee with a pregnancy-related condition, requests a
reasonable accommaodation or transfer due to pregnancy, the District will provide the employee
with notice of the need for a medical certification within two business days after the employee’s
request for accommodation. A medical certification confirming the need for a reasonable
accommodation, including transfer, is sufficient if it contains: a description of the requested
accommodation or transfer; a statement describing the medical advisability of the
accommodation or transfer due to pregnancy; and the date that the need for the
accommodation or transfer will become necessary and the estimated duration of the
accommodation or transfer. (2 Cal.Code Regs § 11050(b)}{3).)

Certification of Victim Status

An employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking and who requests
an accommodation to provide for his or her safety while at work must provide both of the
following:

a) a written statement signed by the employee or an individual acting on the employee’s
behalf, to certify that the accommodation is to address victim-safety concerns while at
work; and

b) a certification demonstrating the employee’s status as a victim of domestic violence,
sexual assault, or stalking, which can be in the form of: a police report indicating the
employee’s victim status; a court order separating the perpetrator from the employee
or that the employee has appeared in court for that purpose; or documentation from a
medical professional or counselor that the employee is undergoing treatment for
physical or mental injuries or abuse resulting from an act of domestic violence, sexual
assault, or stalking. (Labor Code § 230(f)(7).)

Fitness for Duty Examinations
Applicants

After a conditional offer of employment has been extended to an applicant, the District may require

Page 87

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 175 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

the applicant to submit to a fitness for duty examination that is job-related; necessary for efficient
operations of the agency; and required of all applicants for the job classification. (Gov. Code §
12940(e) &({f).) An applicant or employee who is required to pass a medical and/or psychological
examination will be notified of his/her right to obtain a second opinion at his/her expense and that
he/she may submit such second opinions for consideration. (2 Cal.Code Regs § 11071(b}(2).)

Current Employee

Human Resources may require an employee to submit to a fitness-for-duty examination to
determine if the employee has a disability and is able to perform the essential functions of his or her
job when there is significant evidence that:

1) the employee’s ability to perform one or more essential functions of his or her job has
declined; or

2) could cause a reasonable person to question whether an employee is still capable of
performing one or more of his or her essential job duties or is still capable of performing
those duties in a manner that does not harm him or herself or others. The District shall be
obligated to provide cause and ane or more examples prompting a fit-for-duty exam. {Gov.
Code § 12940(e) &(f).)

Role of Health Care Provider

The District may request the applicant’s or employee’s health care provider to conduct a
fitness for duty exam on the applicant or employee, or may request a District-selected health
care provider to do so at the District's expense. The District will allow an employee paid time
off to attend the exam. The District will provide the health care provider with a letter
reguesting a fitness for duty examination and a written description of the essential functions
of the job. The examination will be limited to determining whether the applicant or
employee can perform the essential functions of his/her position and any work restrictions
and/or functiona! limitations that apply to the applicant or employee. The health care
provider will examine the employee and provide the District with non-confidential
information regarding whether:

1} the applicant or employee has a disability within the meaning of the California Fair
Employment and Housing Act;

2) the applicant or employee is fit to perform essential job functions;

3} workplace restrictions or functional limitations apply to the applicant or employee, and the
duration of the work restrictions or functional limitations;

4} there are any reasonable accommodations that would enable the employee to perform
essential job functions; and

5) the employee’s continued employment poses a threat to the health and safety of him or
herself or others.

Should the health care provider exceed the scope of the District's request and provide
confidential health information, without valid consent of the applicant or employee, the
District will return the report to the health care provider and request another report that
includes only the non-confidential fitness for duty information that the District has
requested. (2 Cal.Code Regs § 11069(c) & (d).)

Authorization for Use of Medical Information

During the course of a fitness for duty examination, the District will not seek or use information

Page 88

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 176 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

regarding an employee’s medical history, diagnoses, or course of treatment without an employee’s
written authorization.

Medical Information from the Employee or Applicant

If an employee or applicant submits medical information to the District from his or her own health care
provider, Human Resources will not forward that information on to the health care provider who
conducted the examination for the District, without the employee or applicant’s written

authorization. Upon receipt of the written authorization, Human Resources will request the
District-paid health care provider to determine whether the information alters the original fitness for
duty assessment.

D. Interactive Process

An interactive good faith communication process between the District and a disabled employee is
required in selecting an appropriate reasonable accommodation, if one exists. This is a timely individual
process where management and the employee discuss the request and effective reasonable
accommodation(s).

When to Initiate the Interactive Process
In general, the District will initiate an interactive process when:

1) anapplicant or employee with a known physical or mental disability or medical condition
requests reasonable accommadation(s); or

2) the District otherwise becomes aware of the need for an accommodation through a third party
(e.g. a doctor’s note requesting an accommodation), or by observation of the employee’s work:
or

3) the District becomes aware of the possible need for an accommodation because the employee
with a disability has exhausted workers’ compensation leave, FML leave, or other leave rights,
but the employee and/or the employee’s health care provider indicate that further
accommodation is still necessary for recuperative leave or other accommodation; or

4) an employee disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions requests a
reasonable accommodation or transfer based on the advice of her health care provider; or

5) an employee with a physical or mental disability, regardless of cause, fails to return to work
following pregnancy disability leave; or

6) anemployee-victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking requests a reasonable
accommodation(s) for his or her safety at work; or

7) an employee requests an accommodation to address a conflict between religious belief,
observance, or practice and any employment requirement; or

8) an employer is aware of the need for a reasonable accommaodation for an employee’s or
applicant’s religious beliefs, observance or practices.

Interactive Communication

After the occurrence of any of the above-stated circumstances that trigger the need to conduct an
interactive process meeting, Human Resources will promptly arrange for a discussion or discussions, in
persan or via conference telephone call, with the applicant or employee and his or her designated
representative, (if any). The purpose of the interactive communications will be to discuss in good faith
all feasible potential reasonable accommodations. Human Resources will document these
communications in writing.

Page 89
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 177 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Potential Accommaodations for Applicants or Employees with Disabilities

Depending on the facts of each case, the interactive process analysis will generally begin with a review
of possible reasonable accommodations that would enable the individual to retain his or her current
job. The process will generally then move on to possible reasonable accommodations in other vacant
jobs, for which the individual is qualified, if there is no reasonable accommadation in the current job
that does not cause undue hardship, or that does not present a risk of harm to the individual or
others. The District will consider accommodations that the applicant or employee suggests but has the
right to select and implement any reasonable accommodation that it deems effective. The range of
potential reasonable accommodations includes, but is not limited to:

e making existing facilities used by employees readily accessible to, and usable by, individuals with
disabilities, including: acquisition or modification of equipment or devices, adjustment or
modifications of examinations, training materials or policies, and/or the provision of qualified
readers or interpreters;

s job restructuring;

e part-time or modified work schedules;

¢ paid or unpaid leave of absence of a finite duration that is likely to enable the employee to
return to work at the end of the leave;

¢ preferential consideration to reassignment to a vacant, comparable position, except when such
preference would violate a bona fide seniority system;

e reassignment to a vacant lower-paid position if there is no funded, vacant comparable position
for which the individual is qualified for; or

* reassignment to a temporary position, if the individual agrees.

Potential Accommodations for Employees Affected by Pregnancy and Related Medical Conditions

Depending on the facts of each case, the interactive process will attempt to identify and implement a
reasonable accommeodation that is consistent with the medical certification applicable to the applicant
or employee. Whether an accommodation is reasonable is a case-by-case analysis that takes into
account several factors, including, but not limited to: the employee’s medical needs; the duration of
the needed accommaodation; and the employer’s legally permissible past and current practices. The
range of potential accommodations includes, but is not limited to:

s transfer to a less strenuous or hazardous position for the duration of the pregnancy;

e change in or restructuring of work duties, such as modifying lifting requirements;

e providing more frequent breaks;

s providing seating;

o time off for medical appointments;

s transfer temporarily to a job with equivalent pay and benefits that the employee is qualified to
perform in order to accommodate reduced work schedule or intermittent leave. However, a
reduction in work hours may be considered a form of pregnancy disability leave and deducted
from the employee’s four-month pregnancy disability leave entitlement.

Potential Accommadations for Emplayee-Victims of Domestic Violence, Sexual Assault, or Stalking

Depending on the facts of each individual case, the interactive process analysis will review all possible
accommodations that would enhance the safety of the employee victim at work. In determining what
accommodation is reasonable, the District will consider the exigent circumstance or danger facing the
employee. The District will consider the preferences of the employee to be accommodated, but has the
right to select and implement any accommodation that it deems effective. The range of potential safety

Page 20

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 178 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

measure accommodations includes, but is not limited to:

e transfer, reassignment, modified schedule;

e change in work telephone number;

e change in location of work station, if possible;

¢ installation of locks;

e assistance in documenting domestic viclence, sexual assault, or stalking that accurs in the
workplace;

s the implementation of a safety procedure(s);

¢ adjustment to job structure, workplace facility, or work requirement; and

o referral to a victim assistance organization,

Potential Accommodations for Religious Creed, Religious Dress Practice, or Religious Grooming
Practice

Depending on the facts of each case, the interactive process analysis will review all possible
accommodations that would resolve the conflict between the religious belief or observance and any
employment requirement. The District will consider the preference of the employee or applicant but
has the right to select and implement any accommodation that it deems effective. The range of
potential accommodations includes, but is not limited to:

* job restructuring or job reassignment (but not segregation from other employees or the public);

e modification of work practices, including dress or grooming standards;

o allowing time off in an amount equal to the amount of nan-regularly scheduled time the
employee has worked in order to avoid a conflict with his or her religious observances;

e allowing alternatives to union membership or payment of union dues.

Determination

After the interactive process communications, Human Resources will review the information received,
and determine: whether all available information has been reviewed; whether all potential
accommodations that the applicant or employee has suggested have been considered; whether
additional discussions with the applicant or employee would be helpful; whether the applicant’s or
employee’s preferences have been taken into account; if there is a reasonable accommaodation that
would enable the applicant or employee to perform essential job functions without harming him or
herself or others; and if the accommodations would pose an undue hardship on the District's finances or
operations. Human Resources will inform the applicant or employee of his or her determination in
writing and provide supporting documentation, applicable work examples if any, and reasoning for
making its determination. Human Resources will use their discretion based upon the particular facts of
each case.

Access to Medical Information Regarding Fitness for Duty

Medical records and information regarding fitness for duty, or the need for an accommodation, will be
maintained separately from non-medical records and information. Maedical records and information
regarding fitness for duty and the need for accommodation will be accessible only by Human Resources,
the District's legal counsel, first aid and safety personnel in case of emergency, and
supervisors/managers who are responsible for identifying reasonable accommodations. Medical
records and information contained therein may be released pursuant to state and federal law.

Page 91

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 179 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

E. Workplace Violence and Weapons

Purpose

The purpase of this policy is to (1} promote a safe work environment for all employees;(2) establish and
maintain a workplace that is free from violence, threats of violence, harassment, intimidation, and other
disruptive behavior; and (3) encourage and foster a workplace that is characterized by respect and the
use of acceptable conflict resolution techniques.

Affected Individuals

This policy applies to all District employees whether on District property or off-site if engaged in District
business or if there is a nexus to the workplace. Additionally, all persons who perform any services for
the District, regardless of their employment status, are covered by this policy.

Policy

It is the District's policy to pravide a safe work environment for its employees. The District expects its
employees to maintain a workplace free from violence, threats of violence, harassment, intimidation,
and other disruptive behavior. All employees are responsible for maintaining a safe work environment.

Violence, threats, harassment, intimidation, and other disruptive behavior in the District's workplace will
not be tolerated.

Available conflict resolution techniques, such as problem-solving, grievance procedures and appeals
processes, will be used to appropriately resolve conflicts that arise in our workplace.

The District strictly prohibits persons from possessing weapons including, but not limited to, firearms,
explosives, knives, chemical sprays (e.g., mace, pepper spray), clubs and incendiary devices on District
premises, in District vehicles, in private vehicles parked on District property (except as otherwise
permitted by law), and in the possession of District employees while on duty performing District related
business assignments, unless required for performance of the job. An employee who wishes to carry a
legal chemical spray for purposes of self-defense must gain prior written authorization from the
department head.

Prohibited Conduct

Persons who engage in prohibited conduct will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including
termination, and may also be subject to legal action by law enforcement authorities. A non-inclusive list
of behaviors that are considered unacceptable is set forth below:

a. Causing physical injury to another person.

b. Making threatening remarks, whether with intent to harm or in jest.

¢. Aggressive, hostile or harassing behavior that creates a reasonable fear of injury to another
person or subjects another individual to emotional distress.

d. Intentionally damaging District property or property of another individual.

e. Possession of a weapon while on District property or while on District business, unless required
by the job. (Knives used as work tools and having a blade length of three and one-half (3%)
inches or less are only considered weapons when used or displayed in a threatening manner).

f. Committing acts motivated by, or related to, sexual harassment or domestic violence.,

g. Harassing or threatening phone calls, e-mails, text messages, or notes.

h. Stalking.

Page 92

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 180 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Reporting Procedures

Any person observing an emergency incident that requires the direct intervention of public safety
personnel (i.e. law enforcement or emergency medical services) should immediately call 911.

Any situation involving the commission or threat of violence, harassment, intimidation, other disruptive
behavior, possession of a weapon or any other potentially dangerous situation must be promptly
reported to a supervisor and/or the Human Resources Department. Supervisors/managers are required
to report all such incidents to Human Resources.

Risk Reduction Measures

Employees at Risk

Employees are expected to exercise good judgment and to notify their supervisor/manager or and/or
Human Resources if a co-worker, or other person on District property or business, exhibits behavior that
could be a sign of potentially dangerous situations. Such behavior includes, but is not limited to, the
following:

* Discussing the use of weapons as a means to perpetrate violence against another person.
e Bringing weapons to the workplace.

e Displaying overt signs of resentment, hostility, and/or anger.

¢ Making threatening statements or remarks.

¢ Displaying irrational or aberrant behavior

Hiring
Human Resources takes reasonable measures to conduct background investigations in order to review
candidates' backgrounds and to reduce the risk of hiring individuals with a history of violent behavior.

Enforcement

Reports of threats, threatening conduct, harassment, or any other act of aggression or violence will be
appropriately resolved. In general, this policy will be enforced as follows:

* Any employee determined to have committed such acts will be subject to disciplinary action, up
to and including termination, and may also be subject to legal action by law enforcement
authorities.

* Non-employees engaged in violent acts on District premises will be reported to the proper
authorities and fully prosecuted.

F. Alcohol and Drug-Free Workplace Policy

Purpose

The District recognizes that behavior resulting from the use of alcohol and/or drugs may detrimentally
affect the safety and work performance of its workforce and can present a risk to the health and welfare
of its employees and members of the public.

This provision provides guidelines for the detection and deterrence of alcohol abuse and drug use. It is
the policy of the District to maintain a safe, healthful and productive environment for all employees. To
that end, the District will prohibit any substance abuse (alcohol, illegal drugs, prescription drugs, or
other substance which could impair an employee's ability to safely and effectively perform the functions

Page 93

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 181 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

of the particular job}, which increases the potential for accidents, absenteeism, substandard
performance, poar employee morale or damage to the District’s and/or its employees’ reputation.

Violations of the Alcohol and Drug-Free Workplace Policy by an employee may result in discipline up to
and including termination. Job applicants may be denied employment for violations of this policy.

This provision recognizes the serious duty entrusted to the employees of the District and the knowledge
that drugs and alcohol hinder a person’s ability to perform duties safely and effectively.

Policy
Employees shall not:

1. Report to work under the influence of alcohol or drugs;

2. Possess alcohol or drugs while on duty or assigned standby or utilize such substances while they
are subject to District duty or assigned standby;

3. Sell or provide drugs or alcohol to any other employee or to any person while such employee is
on duty or assigned standby; or

4. Have their ability or work impaired as a result of the use of alcohol or drugs.

While the use of medically prescribed medications and drugs is not per se a violation of this section,
when there is a question regarding an employee’s ability to safely and effectively perform assigned
duties while using such medications or drugs, clearance from a qualified physician will be required.
While it is not the District’s intention to know of every prescription drug an employee uses, it is the
District’s policy that the employee is responsible for notifying their supervisor/manager before
beginning work when taking prescription medications which the employee has been cautioned may
interfere with the safe and effective performance of duties or operation of District equipment.

Employees are required to notify the District of any criminal drug statute conviction no later than five (5)
calendar days after such conviction.

The District has established a voluntary employee assistance program to assist those employees who
voluntarily seek help for alcohol and drug problems. Employees should contact the Human Resources
Department for additional information.

The District reserves the right to search, without employee consent, all areas, and property of which the
District maintains joint control with the employee or full control. The District may only search an area or
property of joint control or full District control with reasonable cause as long as ane of the following
occurs: 1) the area/property is searched in the employee’s presence, 2} the area/property is searched
with the employee’s consent, 3) a valid search warrant has been obtained, or 4) the employee has been
notified that a search will be conducted. If the situation allows, the District will attempt to notify
represented employees before performing a search to allow the employee time to obtain a
representative.

Violations of this section shall be grounds for disciplinary action. Disciplinary action can include, but is
not limited to, supervisor/manager counseling, professional counseling, and discharge from District
service. A manager and/or supervisor/manager may direct an employee to submit to a drug and/or
alcohol analysis when a manager or supervisor/manager has a reasonable suspicion that an employee is
intoxicated or under the influence of drugs or alcohol. Refusal to submit immediately to an alcohol
and/or drug analysis when directed by District management may constitute insubordination and may be
grounds for discipline up to and including termination.

Employees reasonably believed to be under the influence of alcohol or drugs shall be prevented from

Page 94

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 182 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

engaging in further work. The employee will immediately be suspended from duty {with pay} and driven
by a supervisor/manager or Department Head to the District's specified laboratory. Represented
employees shall be entitled to have a representative present.

Application

This section applies to all District employees and all applicants for positions with the District. The policy
applies to alcohol and to all substances, drugs, or medications, legal or illegal which could impair an
employee’s ability to effectively and safely perform the functions of the job.

Management Responsibilities and Guidelines

Managers and supervisors are responsible for consistent enforcement of this policy.

Managers and supervisors may direct an employee to submit to a drug and for alcohol analysis when a
manager or supervisor has a reasonable suspicion that an employee is intoxicated or under the influence
of drugs or alcohol.

Managers and supervisors shall complete reasonable suspicion training every three years.

Reasonable suspicion is a belief based on objective and articulated facts sufficient to lead a
reasonable persan to suspect that an employee is under the influence of drugs or alcohol to the
extent that the employee’s ability to perform the functions of the job is impaired or to the
extent that the employee’s ability to perform their job safely is reduced.

For example, any of the following, alone or in comhination, may constitute reasonable
suspicion:

Slurred speech;

Alcohol on breath;

Inability to walk a straight line;

An accident involving District property;

Physical altercation;

Behavior which is so unusual that it warrants summoning a supervisor or anyone else
with authority;

g. Possession of alcohol or drugs;

h. Information obtained from a reliable person with personal knowledge.

"o a0 oo

Any manager or supervisor directing an employee to submit to a drug and or alcohol analysis should
immediately 1) document in writing the facts constituting reasonable suspicion that the employee in
guestion is intoxicated or under the influence of drugs and 2) contact Human Resources and the
employee’s department head.

Any manager or supervisor encountering an employee who refuses to submit to a drug and/or alcohol
analysis shall remind the employee of the requirements and consequences of this policy. Any employee
refusing to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test shall not be forced to submit to such testing. However, a
refusal will be treated as a positive test for purposes of this policy. The manager or supervisor should
detain the employee for a reasonable time until an authorized District representative or law
enforcement representative can transport the employee to a medical facility or home, as appropriate.

Managers and supervisors shall not physically search employees. Managers and supervisors shall notify
the appropriate law enforcement agency when they have reasonable suspicion to believe that an

Page 95

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 183 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

employee may have illegal drugs in their possession or in an area not jointly or fully controlled by the
District.

Managers and supervisors shall not confiscate, without consent, prescription drugs or medications from
an employee who has a prescription.

Any manager or supervisor who abuses this provision shall be subject to disciplinary action.

Employee Responsibilities
An employee must:

a. Not report to work or be subject to duty while their ability to perform job duties is impaired due
to alcohol or drug use, on or off duty;

b. Not possess or use alcohol or drugs (illegal drugs and legal drugs without a prescription) during
working hours or while subject to duty, or at any time while on District property;

c. Notdirectly or through a third party sell or provide drugs or alcohol to any person or to any
other employee while either the employee or both employees are on duty or subject to being
called;

d. Submit immediately to an alcohol and drug analysis when directed by a responsible District
representative(s);

e. Notify their supervisor, before beginning work, when taking any medications or drugs,
prescription or non-prescription, which may interfere with the safe and effective performance
of duties or operation of District equipment; and

f. Provide within 24 hours of request a current valid prescription for any drug or medication
identified when a drug screen/analysis is positive. The prescription must be in the employee’s
name.

Drug and/or Alcohol Analysis Process

The drug and/or alcohol analysis may test for any substance which could impair an applicant or
employee’s ability to effectively and safely perform the functions of their job, including, but not limited
to prescription medications, hergin, cocaine, morphine and its derivatives, PCP, methadone,
barbiturates, amphetamines, marijuana, and other cannabinoids.

Generally, a urine sample is obtained in accordance with the third-party testing agency procedures.
Alternatively, a blood sample may be obtained at the request of the applicant/employee. Typical
procedures are outlined below, though actual procedures may vary based on the testing agency’s
protocol:

a. At the designated medical facility, the applicant/employee {donor) shall provide proper photo
identification and complete and execute all forms provided by the facility, including a medical
records release form, drug and alcohol consent form, and an acknowledgment of receipt of
notice of privacy practices.

b. The custody and control form is filled out by the testing agency and the donor.

c. The danor prepares for specimen collection by removing any hat, coat, and/or contents of
pockets and washing his/her hands in full view of the testing agency representative.

d. The donor proceeds to the restroom where the testing agency representative places bluing
agent into the toilet bowl and secures all water sources to prevent donor access.

e. The donor is given a bottle to provide a urine sample of at least 30 ml. The donar is instructed to

Page 96

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 184 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

not flush the toilet or wash his/her hands until after the specimen is given to testing agency
representative.

. The testing agency representative checks the specimen for color, odor, contamination,

temperature, and quantity, and documents the relevant information on the custody and control
form.

. In full view of the donor, the specimen is secured in a container and sealed with tamper-evident

tape. The donor certifies the sample on the custody and control form.

. The specimen is delivered by courier to the designated laboratory.
i. The sample container will always be refrigerated or frozen, maintained in a secure location, and

the chain of custody will be maintained.

j. Specimens that are screened “none detected”, are placed in a tray for disposal after two {2)

weeks.

. Positive samples are kept refrigerated until confirmatory analysis. If the result of the conforming

test is “none detected”, the sample is discarded as specified above.

. Paositively confirmed samples are maintained in a locked freezer for one (1) year.
m.A sample of the positive specimen in a quantity suitable for laboratory testing will be provided

to an employee who has submitted a written request to the Human Resources Department
within 90 days of specimen submission.

. A confirmatory analysis after an initial positive result will be conducted with gas

chromatography/mass spectrometry.

Results of Drug and/or Alcohol Analysis

Pre-Employment Physicals

A positive result from a drug and/or alcohol analysis may result in denial of employment of the
applicant.

If a drug screen is positive at the pre-employment physical, the applicant must provide within 24
hours of the request, a valid prescription of the drug identified in the drug screen. If the
prescription is not in the applicant’s name or the applicant does not provide a prescription, or if
the drug is one that impairs the applicant's ability to perform the job duties, the applicant may
not be hired.

Drug and/or Alcohal Testing For Cause During Employment

A positive result from a drug and/or alcohot analysis may result in disciplinary action, including,
but not limited to, counseling, referral, diversion, reprimand, suspension, and discharge.

If the drug screen is positive at any testing, the employee must provide within 24 hours of
request a valid current prescription for the drug identified in the drug screen. The prescriptions
must be in the employee’s name. The employee will be subject to disciplinary action if 1) the
employee does not have a valid prescription, or 2) the prescription is not in the employee’s
name, or 3) the employee has not previously notified their supervisor/manager of the need for
the identified drug.

If an alcohol or drug analysis is positive for alcohol or drugs, the District shall conduct an
investigation to gather facts. Should this investigation indicate disciplinary action is required, it

Page 97

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 185 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

could include but is not limited to, counseling, referral to qualified health care professionals and
or programs, substance abuse diversion, reprimand, suspension, and dismissal. Depending upon
the issues identified in the investigation any of these actions may be taken; progressive
discipline may not be appropriate. The decision to discipline or discharge will be carried out in
conformance with these Rules.

Confidentiality

Laboratory reports or test results shall not appear in an employee’s personnel file. Information of this
nature, however, will be included in a separate confidential medical folder. The employee’s reports or
test results may be disclosed to District management on a strictly need-to-know basis and to the tested
employee upon request. Disclosures, without patient consent, may also occur when: (1) the information
is compelled by law or judicial or administrative process; {2} the information has been placed at issue in
a formal dispute between the employer and the employee; (3) the information is to be used in
administering an employee benefit plan; (4) the information is needed by medical personnel for the
diagnosis or treatment of the patient who is unable to authorize disclosure.

Department of Transportation Anti-Drug and Alcohol Misuse Prevention Program

Employees covered by the Department of Transportation (DOT} Anti-Drug and alcoho! misuse
Prevention Program should review the District's Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy for DOT and Safety
Sensitive Employees.

G. DOT and Safety Sensitive Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy

Employees in safety-sensitive positions and those who are required to maintain Commercial Driver's
Licenses of Class A, B or any license with a hazardous materials endorsement, shall be required to
participate in the Federal Omnibus Transportation Employee Testing Act of 1991.

Pursuant to DOT regulations, the District has implemented six types of drug and alcohol testing for
employees assigned to safety-sensitive positions: {1) pre-employment; (2} reasonable suspicion; (3)
post-accident; (4) random; (5) return-to-duty; and (6) follow-up.

1. Pre-Employment Testing for External Applicants for Certain lobs: All applicants for driving
positions must submit to urine drug tests. A Covered employee/applicant is not required to
submit to a urine drug test if: (1) the district can verify that the Covered Employee has
participated in a valid drug testing program within the preceding thirty (30) days; {2) while
participating in that program, was either tested within the past six (6} months or participated in
a random selection program for the previous twelve (12) months; and (3) no prior employer has
knowledge that the Covered Employee violated any part of the regulations within the last six
months.

2. Reasonable Suspicion Testing: Reasonable suspicion for requiring a Covered Employee to
submit to drug and/or alcohol testing shall be deemed to exist when a covered Employee
manifests physical or behavioral symptoms or reactions commonly attributed to the use of
controlled substances or alcohol. Such conduct must be witnessed by at least one
supervisor/manager trained in compliance with current federal regulations. Should a

supervisor/manager ohserve such symptoms or reactions, the Covered Employee must submit
to testing.

3. Post-Accident Testing: The Covered Employee must submit to drug and alcohol testing and time

Page 98

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 186 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

he/she is involved in an accident where: (1) a fatality is involved; or {2) the covered Employees
receives a citation for a moving viclation arising from the accident, and any party involved
requires immediate treatment for an injury away from the accident scene, or if any vehicle
involved incurs “disabling damage” {i.e. must be towed away). Following any accident, the
Covered Employee must contact the District as soon as possible. The Covered Employee will be
presented with an information card setting forth certain instructions for post-accident drug and
alcohol testing. The Covered Employee shall follow the instructions contained on the
information card as well as any additional instructions from the District or its representatives.

Any time a post-accident drug or alcohol test is required, it must be performed as soon as
possible following the accident. If no alcohol test can be made within eight (8)hours, attempts to
perform an alcohol test shall cease. If testing is not done, the reasons for not testing will be
documented. If no urine collection can be obtained for purposes of post-accident drug testing
within thirty-two {32) hours, attempts to make such collection shall cease.

In the event that federal, state, or local officials conduct breath or blood tests for the use of
alcohol and/or urine tests for the use of controlled substances following an accident, these tests
may meet the requirements of this section, provided the tests conform to applicable federal,
state, or local requirements. The District may request testing documentation from such agencies
and may ask the employee to sign a release allowing the District to obtain such test results.

In the event a Covered Employee is so seriously injured that the Covered Employee cannot
provide a sample of urine, breath or saliva at the time of the accident, the covered employee
must provide necessary authorization for the District to obtain hospital records or other
documents that would indicate the presence of controlled substances or alcohol in the Covered
Employee’s system at the time of the accident.

Random Testing: The District is required to conduct random drug and alcohol testing of Covered
employees. Random selection provides an equal chance for each Covered employee to be
selected each time random selection occurs. Random selections will be reasonably spread
throughout the year. The District will test, at a minimum 25 percent of the average number of
Covered Employee positions in the employer consortium in each calendar year or at a rate
established by the DOT for a given year. The District will select, at a minimum 10 percent of the
average number of Covered Employees positions in the employer consortium in each calendar
year for random alcohol testing, or at the rate established by the DOT for the given year.
Random selection, by its very nature, may result in Covered employees being selected in
successive selections or more than once per calendar year. Alternatively, some covered
Employees may not be selected in a calendar year.

If a Covered Employee is selected at random, for either drug or alcohol testing, a District official
will notify the Covered employee. Once notified, every action the Covered Employee takes must
lead to a collection. If the Covered Employee engages in conduct that does not lead to a
collection as soon as possible after notification, such conduct may be considered a refusal to
test.

Substance Abuse Evaluation, Return to Duty, and Follow-up Testing: Any covered employee
who engages in prohibited conduct shall be provided with the names, addresses, and telephone
numbers of qualified substance abuse professionals (SAPs). If the Covered employee desires to

Page 99

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 187 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

become requalified, the Covered Employee must be evaluated by a SAP and must submit to any
treatment the SAP prescribes. Following evaluation and treatment, if any, in order to become
requalified, the Covered Employee must submit to and successfully complete a return-to-duty
drug and/or alcohol test. Such Covered Employee may also be subject to follow-up testing.
Follow-up testing is separate from and in addition to the District’s reasonable suspicion,
post-accident, and random testing procedures. The schedule for follow-up testing shall be
unannounced and in accordance with the instructions of the SAP. Follow-up testing may
continue for a period of up to sixty {60} months following the Covered Employee’s return to
duty. No fewer than six (6) tests shall be performed on the first twelve {12) months of follow-up
testing. The cost of any SAP evaluation or prescribed treatment shall be borne by the Covered
Employee.

Other Safety-Sensitive Employees

Other Safety-Sensitive employees include those who apply for promotion to, or are in, positions
including, but not limited to, the operation of dangerous or heavy equipment and the handling of
hazardous or otherwise dangerous materials. Such employees may be subject to reasonable suspicion,
random, and post-accident testing as described above.

H. Policy Against Discrimination, Harassment, and Retaliation; and
Complaint Procedure

Purpose

The District has a strong commitment to prohibiting and preventing discrimination, harassment, and
retaliation in the workplace. The District has zero-tolerance for any conduct that violates this

Policy. Conduct need not arise to the level of a violation of state or federal law to violate this

Policy. Instead, a single act can violate this Policy and provide grounds for discipline or other
appropriate sanctions. This Policy establishes a complaint procedure for investigating and resolving
internal complaints of discrimination, harassment, and retaliation. The District encourages all covered
individuals to report any conduct they believe violates this Policy as soon as possible. Any retaliation
against an employee because they filed or supported a complaint or because they participated in the
complaint resolution process is prohibited. Individuals found to have retaliated in violation of this
Policy will be subject to appropriate sanction or disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

Covered Individuals and Scope of Policy

The individuals covered by this Policy are: applicants, employees regardless of rank or title, elected or
appointed officials, interns, volunteers, and contractors. This Policy applies to all terms and conditions
of employment, internships, and volunteer opportunities, including, but not limited to, selection, hiring,
placement, promotion, disciplinary action, layoff, recall, transfer, leave of absence, compensation,
accommodations, and training.

Definitions

Protected Classification

This Policy prohibits harassment, discrimination or retaliation because of an individual's
protected classification. "Protected Classification" includes race, religious creed, color, national
origin, ancestry, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition, genetic information,

Page 100

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 188 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

marital status, sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, age (40 and over), sexual
orientation, military and veteran status, and/or any other basis protected by local, state, or
federal law. {Gov. Code § 12940(a).) This Policy prohibits discrimination, harassment or
retaliation because: 1) of an individual's protected classification; 2) the perception that an
individual has a protected classification; or 3) the individual associates with a person who has or
is perceived to have a protected classification.

Protected Activity

This Policy prohibits discrimination, harassment, or retaliation because of an individual’s
protected activity. Protected activity includes: making a request for an accommodation for a
disability; making a request for accommadation for religious beliefs; making a complaint under
this Policy; opposing violations of this Policy; or participating in an investigation under this
Policy.

Discrimination

This Policy prohibits treating covered individuals differently and adversely because of the
individual's protected classification, actual or perceived; because the individual associates with a
person who is member of a protected classification, actual or perceived; or because the
individual participates in a protected activity as defined in this Policy. (Gov. Code § 12926(0).)

Harassment

Harassment includes, but is not limited to, the following types of behavior that are taken
because of a person's actual or perceived protected classification:

e Speech, such as epithets, derogatory comments or slurs, and propositioning on the basis of
a protected classification. This includes inappropriate comments about appearance, dress,
physical features, gender identification, or race-oriented stories and jokes.

s Physical acts, such as assault, impeding or blocking movement, offensive touching, or
physical interference with normal work or movement. This includes pinching, grabbing,
patting, or making explicit or implied job threats or promises in return for submission to
physical acts.

¢ Visual acts, such as derogatory posters, cartaons, emails, pictures or drawings related to a
pratected classification.

» Unwanted sexual advances, requests for sexual favors and other acts of a sexual nature,
where submission is made a term or condition of employment, where submission to or
rejection of the conduct is used as the basis for employment decisions, or where the
conduct is intended to or actually does unreasonably interfere with an individual's work
performance or create an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment. {Gov.
Code §12940(j); 2 Cal.Code Regs § 11091(b){1).})

Guidelines for Identifying Harassment

Harassment includes any conduct which would be unwelcome or unwanted to an individual of the
recipient’s same protected classification. The following guidelines to determine if conduct is unwelcome
or unwanted should be followed:

* It is no defense that the recipient “appears” to have consented to the conduct at issue by
failing to protest about the conduct. A recipient may not protest for many legitimate

Page 101

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 189 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

reasons, including the need to avoid being insubordinate or to avoid being ostracized or
subjected to retaliation.

» Simply because no one has complained about a joke, gesture, picture, physical contact, or
comment does not mean that the conduct is welcome. Harassment can evolve over
time. Small, isolated incidents might be tolerated up to a point. The fact that no aone has
yet complained does not preclude someone from complaining if the conduct is repeated in
the future.

e Even visual, verbal, or physical conduct between two people who appear to welcome the
conduct can constitute harassment of a third person who witnesses the conduct or learns
about the conduct later. Conduct can constitute harassment even if it is not explicitly or
specifically directed at a particular individual.

e Conduct can constitute harassment even if the individual has no intention to harass. Even
well-intentioned conduct can violate this Policy if the conduct is directed at, or implicates a
protected classification, and if an individual would find it offensive {e.g., gifts,
over-attention, endearing nicknames, hugs).

Retaliation

Retaliation occurs when adverse conduct is taken against a covered individual because of the
individual’s protected activity as defined in this Policy. "Adverse conduct” may include but is not
limited to: disciplinary action; counseling; spreading rumors about a complainant or about someane
who supports or assists the complainant; shunning or avoiding an individual who reports harassment or
discrimination; or making real or implied threats of intimidation to prevent or deter an individual from
reporting harassment or discrimination,

Complaint & Investigation Process

A covered individual who believes he or she has been subjected to discrimination, harassment or
retaliation should first tell the offending person to stop the behavior (if they are comfartable doing so).
The covered individual may make a complaint -- orally or in writing -- to any supervisor, manager, or
department head, without regard to any chain of command. Any supervisory or management employee
who receives a harassment complaint should immediately notify Human Resources. Upon receiving
notification of a harassment complaint, Human Resources will complete and/or delegate the following
steps: (If Human Resources is accused, or o witness to the events ot issue, on individual with higher
authority will complete and/or delegate the following steps.)

1. Authorize and supervise the investigation of the complaint and/or investigate the complaint.
The investigation will usually include interviews with: a) the complainant; b} the accused; and ¢)
other persons who have relevant knowledge concerning the allegations in the complaint.

2. Review the factual information gathered through the investigation to determine whether the
alleged conduct violates the Policy giving consideration to all factual information, the totality of
the circumstances, including the nature of the conduct, and the context in which the alleged
incidents occurred.

3. Report a summary of the determination as to whether this Policy has been violated to
appropriate persons. If discipline or sanctions are imposed, the level of discipline or sanctions
will not be communicated to the complainant.

4. if conduct in violation of this Policy occurred, take or recommend to the appointing authority
prompt and effective remedial action. The remedial action will be commensurate with the
severity of the offense.

Page 102

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 190 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

5. Take reasonable steps te protect the complainant from further harassment, discrimination or
retaliation.

Proactive Approach

The District takes a proactive approach to potential Policy violations and will conduct an investigation if
its supervisory or management employees become aware that harassment, discrimination or retaliation
may be occurring, regardless of whether the recipient or third party reports a potential violation.

The District encourages employees to report any act he or she believes in good faith constitutes
harassment, discrimination or retaliation as defined in this Policy, to his or her immediate
supervisor/manager, or department head, or Human Resources.

Option to Report to Qutside Administrative Agencies

An individual has the option to report harassment, discrimination or retaliation to the U.S. Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission {EEQC) or the California Department of Fair Employment and
Housing (DFEH). These administrative agencies offer legal remedies and a complaint process. The
nearest offices are listed on the Internet, in the government section of the telephone book or
employees can check the posters that are located on District bulletin boards for office locations and
telephone numbers.

Confidentiality

Every effort will be made to assure the confidentiality of complaints made under this Policy to the
greatest extent allowed by law. Complete confidentiality cannot occur, however, due to the need to
fully investigate and the duty to take effective remedial action. An employee who is interviewed during
the course of an investigation is prohibited from attempting to influence any potential witness while the
investigation is ongoing. An employee may discuss his or her interview with a designated
representative. The District will not disclose a completed investigation report except as it deems
necessary to support a disciplinary action, to take remedial action, to defend itself in adversarial
proceedings, or to comply with the law or court order.

Responsibilities

Each non-manager or non-supervisor is responsible for:

1. Treating all individuals in the workplace or on worksites with respect and consideration.

2. Modeling behavior that conforms to this Policy.

3. Participating in periodic training.

4. Cooperating with the District’s investigations pursuant to this Policy by responding fully and
truthfully to all questions posed during the investigation.

5. Taking no actions to influence any potential witness while the investigation is ongoing.

in addition to the responsibilities listed above, each manager and supervisor/manager is responsible
for:

1. Informing employees of this Policy.

2. Taking all steps necessary to prevent harassment, discrimination and, retaliation from occurring,
including monitaring the work environment and taking immediate appropriate action to stop
potential violations, such as removing inappropriate pictures or correcting inappropriate
language.

Page 103

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 191 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Receiving complaints in a fair and serious manner, and documenting steps taken to resolve
complaints.

Following up with those who have complained to ensure that the behavior has stopped and that
there are no reprisals.

Informing those who complain of harassment or discrimination of his or her option to contact
the EEOC or DFEH regarding alleged Policy violations.

Assisting, advising, or consulting with employees and the Human Resources regarding this
Policy.

Assisting in the investigation of complaints involving employee(s) in their departments and,
when appropriate, if the complaint is substantiated, recommending appropriate corrective or
disciplinary action in accordance with these Policies, up to and including termination while
maintaining confidentiality to the greatest degree possible.

implementing appropriate disciplinary and remedial actions.

Reporting potential violations of this Policy of which he or she becomes aware to Human
Resources, regardless of whether a complaint has been submitted.

10. Participating in periodic training and scheduling employees for training.

I. Whistle-blower Protection

Policy

The District prohibits all of the following:

1.

taking any retaliatory adverse employment action against an employee because the employee
has or is believed to have disclosed information to any government or law enforcement agency,
including to the District, if the employee has reasonable cause to believe that the information
discloses a violation of state or federal law, or a violation or noncompliance with a local, state,
or federal rule or regulation (Labor Code § 1102.5(b));

preventing an employee from disclosing information to a government agency, including to the
District, if the employee has reasonable cause to believe that the information discloses a
violation of state or federal law, or a violation or noncompliance with a local, state, or federal
rule or regulation (Labor Code § 1102.5(a});

retaliating against an employee for refusing to participate in any activity that would resultin a
violation of state or federal law, or a violation or noncompliance with a local, state, or federal
rule or regulation (Labor Code § 1102.5(c}); and

retaliating against an employee because the employee’s family member has, or is perceived to
have engaged in any of the protected activities listed in {a)-(c) above.

Policy Coverage

This Policy governs and protects District officials, officers, employees, temporary, or applicants for
employment.

Definitions

(a) “Protected activity” includes any of the following:

Page 104

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 192 of 230



Joshua Basin Waler District - Employee Handbook

® Filing a complaint with a federal or state enforcement or administrative agency that discloses
any information that the employee has reasonable cause to believe violates state or federal law
or a violation or noncompliance with a local, state, or federal rule or regulation.

® Participating in or cooperating in good faith with a local, federal or state enforcement agency
that is conducting an investigation into alleged unlawful activity.

* Testifying in good faith and with reasonable cause as a party, witness, or accused regarding
alleged unlawful activity.

* Associating with another covered individual who is engaged in any of the protected activities
enumerated here.

® Making or filing in good faith and with reasonable cause an internal complaint with the District

regarding alleged unlawful activity.
® Providing informal notice to the District regarding alleged unlawful activity.

® (Calling a governmental agency’s “Whistleblower hotline” in good faith.

¢  Filing a written complaint under penalty of perjury that the District has engaged in gross
mismanagement, a significant waste of public funds, or a substantial and specific danger to
public health or safety. {Labor Code §§ 53296(c) & 53297{d).)

® Refusing to participate in any activity that the employee reasonably believes would result in a
violation of state or federal law, or a violation or noncompliance with a local, state, or federal
rule or regulation. {Labor Code § 1102.5{(c}.)

(b)"Adverse action” may include, but is not limited to, any of the following:

* Real orimplied threats of intimidation to attempt or prevent an individual from reporting
alleged wrongdoing or because of actual or potential protected activity.

* Refusing to hire an individual because of actual or potential protected activity.

® Denying promotion to an individual because of actual or potential protected activity.

®* Taking any form of disciplinary action because of actual or potential protected activity.

® Extending a probationary period because of actual or potential protected activity.

®* Altering work schedules or work assignments because of actual or potential protected activity.

®* Condoning hostility and criticism of co-workers and third parties because of actual or protected
activity.

® Spreading rumors about a person because of that person’s actual or perceived protected
activity.

*  Shunning or unreasonably avoiding a person because of that person’s actual or perceived
protected activity.

Complaint Procedure

An applicant, employee, or temporary employee who feels they have been retaliated against in violation
of this Policy should immediately report the conduct according to the complaint procedure in the
District's Policy Against Discrimination, Harassment or Retaliation so that the complaint can be resolved
fairly and quickly. Supervisors and Managers have the same responsibilities as defined in the Policy
Against Discrimination, Harassment or Retaliation.

Page 105

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 193 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

J. Dress Codes and Other Personal Standards

Employees of the District are required to dress appropriately for the jobs they are performing.
Therefore, failure to follow the dress regulations contained in this section shall be grounds for discipline.

General Guidelines

The general dress code guidelines are as follows:

¢  All clothing must be neat, clean, and in good repair. Employees shall not be financially
responsible for replacement of uniforms and other issued clothing items due to normal wear
and tear during course of employment.

o Prescribed uniforms and safety equipment must be worn.

o Footwear must be appropriate for the work environment and functions performed.

e Hair must be neat, clean and well-groomed.

e Beards, mustaches, and sideburns must be maintained in a neat and well-groomed fashion,

o Jewelry is acceptable except where it constitutes a health or safety hazard.

® Good personal hygiene is required.

e Dress must be appropriate to the work setting particularly if the employee has public contact.

e Any visible tattoos shall not be obscene, sexually explicit, discriminatory to any legally protected
category (including, but not limited to, national origin, race, religion, sex, and sexual
orientation), extremist, and/or gang-related. Any nonconforming tattoos will be covered with
clothing or a bandage while at work.

» For employees working with the public, no objects, articles, jewelry or ornamentation of any
kind shall be attached to or through the skin if visible on any body part including the tongue or
any part of the mouth, with the exception earrings unless such piercing, jewelry, or other
aforementioned item is related to any Bonafide religious organization. Any non-conforming
piercing shall be removed, covered with a bandage, or replaced with a clear, plastic spacer.

e Sweats, dirty or wrinkled, see-through, and/or provocative clothing is prohibited.

If an employee has a question about how any provision of this policy applies to them, the employee
should immediately raise the matter with their supervisor/manager for consideration and
determination.

Departmental Standards

Each department head has the right to set more detailed and stringent dress code guidelines for
employees in their department. The department head may also make exceptions for individual
employees based on a specific job function or special requirements.

K. Information Systems

Purpose
To ensure that District departments have ready access to all relevant data stored in the District's
information system and that the information system is used for authorized District business.

Definition

Page 106

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 194 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

The “information system” includes all District information systems, standalone or networked, including,
but not limited to, desktop and laptop computers, personal digital assistants, electronic mail, landline
and wireless telephones, smartphones, voice mail, compact discs, USB Flash drives, memory cards,
computer tapes and diskettes, audio and video equipment, servers, networks, and any other peripheral
information equipment or medium of information storage. The information system also includes all data
and software applications, or programs created or developed by District employees, which shall be
considered District property.

Policy

It is the District’s policy that the information system shall be used for District business only, unless
otherwise approved by the General Manager, the department head or their designee.

1. No Expectation of Privacy - The information system is District property and employees shall have
no privacy rights related to the system and the information stored therein. The contents of all
communications may be reviewed in the course of business by the General Manager, the
employee’s department head, Human Resources management staff, the Information
Technology staff or consultant, or the employee’s supervisor/manager without the consent of
the sender or recipient.

2. Network Passwords - In order to ensure each user’s security, the District has established rules
for selecting a network password. Passwords selected by users must meet the following
requirements:

An employee shall not share their network password with anyone, excluding the Information
Technology consultant. Every effort should be made to keep an employee’s network password secure
(e.g., passwords should not be written on a piece of paper, sent in an e-mail, or saved in a
non-encrypted file).

Information system equipment is provided to assist an employee in the performance of their job and is
not personal to the employee. Accordingly, management may be granted access to the equipment being
used by the employee or the information stored therein. Management also has the right to disable an
employee’s access to the District’s network, or any other component of the District’s information
system.

Duplication

The District’s software and software manuals shall not be duplicated or reproduced in any manner
unless authorized in writing by the General Manager. Manuals shall remain on-site to prevent
unintentional unauthorized access.

Return of Property

Upon termination of employment, all computer hardware, software, data, and manuals must be
immediately returned to Human Resources.

Personal Equipment and Software

Employees may not bring their own personal information equipment or related peripheral equipment or
any medium of information storage to work for work-related purposes without permission of the
department head. In the event such personal equipment is at work and is being used for work-related
purposes, this entire policy shall apply to the employee’s personal information equipment, as if it were

Page 107

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 195 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

District property. Employees are prohibited from downloading and/or installing any software programs
or applications on their personal device unless authorized in writing by the General Manager.

Violations of Policy

Disciplinary action, up to and including termination, may be imposed for violation of any provision of
this policy.

L. Internet Use

Purpose

The purpose of this policy is to define who is authorized to use District resources for access to the
Internet and to define the acceptable use of the District’s network and associated software and

equipment. Any restriction on use contained in this policy is intended to protect the District and its
resources.

Scope and Applicability

Covered Employees

This policy applies to all employees and all persons retained by the District to provide it with services
{e.g., contractars). As required to perform District business, the General Manager and department heads
may authorize employees or contractors to access the [nternet via District systems and/or equipment.

District Property

Associated security, communications, networking, and computer systems and components used to
access the Internet are owned or operated by the District.

District Rights

The District, as the provider of access to the Internet and associated resources, reserves the right to
specify how those resources will be used and administered. Specifically, the District reserves the right

to:
* Remove a user’s access to the Internet to prevent further unauthorized activity.

* Monitor Internet access for any purpose including, but not limited to, review, audit, and
disclosure of all matters transmitted through the District’s network or placed in its storage.

e Access and retrieve deleted electronic mail (e-mail) and any messages and communications that
are stored in the system.

No Expectation of Privacy

Internet use should not be considered personal to the employee. No employee should have
the expectation of privacy in any e-mail they create, receive, send or delete, in any website
they visit, or in any electronic communication sent through the District’s network. Internet
use is subject to review by District management and members of the public upon request.

In response to information requested under the California Public Records Act, it may be
necessary for the District to examine electronic communications records that users may
consider to be personal to determine whether they are public records that are subject to
disclosure. All communications transmitted via the District’s information systems are subject

Page 108

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 196 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

to monitoring, at the District’s discretion. The District may be required to produce
information transmitted through or stored on its information systems pursuant to a court
order, subpoena, or statute.

Acceptable Use

The District provides designated employees with access to the Internet to share and obtain information
and facilitate the performance of official District business.

District employees must use the official District e-mail system when sending business communications
via e-mail, rather than using a personal e-mail account. Electronic communications should conform to
the same standards of propriety and respect as any other verbal or written communication at the
District. Employees are expected to use common sense and judgment to avoid any communication
which is disrespectful, offensive, or illegal.

Authorized reasons for using the Internet include:

» Communication with professional associations, governments, universities, businesses
and/or individuals associated with the facilitation of District business, research and
education efforts as authorized by the applicable department head.

e Distribution of information to the general public whereby such information is made
available under any District guidelines and policies for the release of information and the
California Public Records Act.

* Incidental communications among authorized users and professional colleagues which
facilitates work assignments and professional development.

* Visiting websites to gather information and perform research as required for the employee's
duties.

= Nominal personal use during authorized breaks and lunch periods, provided that such use
does not interfere with the employee’s job duties and does not violate any provision of this
policy. Examples may include checking and sending personal e-mail and viewing
news-related websites.

¢ Nominal use for employee association activity during authorized breaks and lunch periods
provided that such use does not interfere with the employee’s job duties and does not
viclate any provision of this policy.

Wireless Connections

The District provides WIFI to operate multiple wireless devices. A "guest" WIFI connection may be used
by employees, consultants, customers, and others. However, there should be no expectation of
privacy. District equipment should not be connected to the "guest” WIFI.

Unacceptable Use

The information sources accessible via the Internet are worldwide and are constantly growing in kind
and number. It is not possible for any Internet access provider to fully manage the types of information
accessible by its systems and users, especially with regard to content limitations. Nevertheless, the
District, at its sole discretion, reserves the right to restrict access to any data source. These restrictions
do not constitute an implication of approval of other non-restricted sources.

Without exhausting all possibilities, the prohibited uses of the Internet include, but are not limited to,
the following

Page 109

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 197 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Illegal, fraudulent or malicious activity.

Political activity.

Religious promaotion.

Activity on behalf of or with arganizations or individuals who have no business with the District.

Transmission of material in violation of applicable copyright laws or patents.

The generation, storage, transmission or other use of data or other matter which is abusive,

profane, or offensive to a reasonable person.

e Personal social activity or personal business that is likely to significantly impact the employee's
time or the District’s resources or reflect poorly on the District. Examples may include, but are
not limited to, visiting social networking websites or blogs; performing extensive or frequent
financial transactions; performing work related to the employee’s outside employment; viewing
pornographic material; downloading or uploading software, games, or shareware; or visiting
websites that contain content that is abusive, profane, or offensive to a reasonable person.

* Unauthorized employee association activity, including coordinating job actions and any activity
that that is likely to significantly impact the employee’s time or the District’s resources.

e Any intentional actions that could cause interference to the District’s electronic network or
otherwise interfere with the work of others, such as

e Introduction of, or experimentation with, malicious computer code such as computer worms or
viruses,

¢ The sending of messages that are likely to result in the loss of recipients’ work or system,

* Posting items on the Internet that do not reflect the policies of the District.

e Operating a business through any District Internet link.

e Sending communications, files or programs containing abusive, offensive or harassing
statements, including comments based on age, ancestry, citizenship status, color, creed,
disability (mental or physical), exercise of rights relating to Family Care and Medical Leave,
gender expression, gender identity, genetic information, marital status, medical condition,
national origin, political affiliation {or political beliefs), pregnancy, race, religion, sex, sexual
identity, sexual orientation , veteran status, or any other classification protected by law,
whether actual or perceived.

» Creating, sending, receiving or retaining lewd, obscene or sexually-oriented messages or images

or defamatory comments.

Social Media

Communicating with the ratepayers of Joshua Basin Water District and the public is a priority for the
District. The use of social media provides an effective and efficient way to reach out to a diverse
audience and is a reasonable business use of communicating information. The General Manager will
designate an individual (or individuals) to be responsible for creating, maintaining, updating, and
monitoring social media resources on behalf of the District. The General Manager may authorize access
to social media websites for designated employees for business use only.

Violations and Enforcement

The use of the Internet is a privilege, not a right, which may be revoked at any time for any reason,

Users may be subject to random internal audits of Internet use. Violations of this policy will be evaluated
on a case-by-case basis by the applicable department head, Director of Administration, or General
Manager. A violation may result in disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal, and may include
referral of a case to appropriate authorities for civil or criminal prosecution.

Page 110

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 198 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

M. Communications Equipment

Purpose

The District recognizes the need for telephones, cell phones, smartphones, tablets, and other mobile
devices in the workplace and has established the following policy for their use. The policy is to be used
to establish procedures for their authorization and use in order to contain costs, ensure departmental
and personal accountability/responsibility, comply with Internal revenue service (IRS) regulations and
prevent improper use of these items.

General Provisions

Technology can significantly enhance local service delivery. Cell phones and smartphones are often
practical and economical and can enhance productivity. For those employees who are assigned radios,
issuance of cell phones and smartphones can help reduce radio traffic and ensure that adequate radio
capacity is available when needed. Issuance of a District cell phone and/or smartphone is at the sole
discretion of management. Failure to comply with procedures set forth in this policy may result in the
loss of use of the equipment and/or disciplinary action. Prohibited uses of telephones, cell phones, and
smartphones include, but are not limited to, the following:

* Any illegal use or activity.

e Threats.

s Defamation.

e Obscene, suggestive or offensive messages or communication.
s Commercial promotional purpose.

+ Personal business related to outside employment.

e Violating any District policy.

s Political or religious endorsements or activities.

e Recording of conversation unless allowed by law.

Telephone, cell phone, smartphone, tablet, and other mobile device records and logs are a matter of
public record and may be subject to public records requests/review.
General Telephone Usage

Landline telephones in District facilities are for District business. Personal telephone calls are to be kept
to an absolute minimum. Qccasionally, personal calls may be necessary. Every effort must be made to
limit personal calls to five (5} minutes or less. Frequent and/or repeated personal calls may result in
disciplinary action. Long-distance charges for personal use of office phones must be reimbursed to the
District. Department heads may institute a more stringent policy if appropriate.

Cell phones, Smartphones, Tablets, and other Mobile Devices

Authorization for District-lssued Equipment

Employees are eligible for a District-issued cell phone, smartphone, tablet, or other mobile device if a
valid business need exists. Each department head shall authorize/designate the employee(s) in his/her
department who should be issued District-owned cell phones or smartphones due to business need in
the course of their regular job duties. Issuance of equipment is at the sole discretion of the District and

Page 111

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 199 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

may be revoked at any time. A Electronic Issuance form must be completed, submitted and approved by
the Human Resources Department prior to issuance of equipment.

The following criteria are among those that may be considered before authorization for District
equipment is granted:

» Management — the employee is in 2 managerial role and a critical component of their job
responsibilities, regardless of location and work schedule, is contact with staff, citizens and
other agencies.

e Work Location - the requirements of the job regularly take the employee away from their
primary work location, either to serve the public or to complete work assignments, and the
department head believes a cellular telephone, smartphone, tablet, or other mobile device is a
critical tool for performing the job. Employees who are regularly assigned to a desk with a
landline phone and who do not meet the other criteria will ordinarily not be assigned a cell
phone or smartphone.

e  On-Call or Standby — the employee is either regularly or occasionally scheduled to be on call or
on standby, or is frequently expected to respond to District matters during non-business hours.

Off Duty Use of Cell Phones, Smartphones, Tablets, and other Mobile Devices

Use of a cellphone, smartphone, tablet, or other mobhile devices for work-related purposes, such as
checking and responding to e-mail and engaging in phone conversations, may be considered hours
worked under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA). Employees who are not exempt from the overtime
provisions of the FLSA should obtain advance approval from a supervisor/manager prior to using a cell
phone or smartphone for business purposes while off duty unless the use is considered “de minimis”.

For non-exempt employees, all hours worked must be reported on the employee’s timesheet. If off-duty
time spent on work activities is considered "de minimus" under the FLSA, the hours should not be
reported on the employee timesheet. Since the District’s increment of time for timesheet reporting is
fifteen (15) minutes, hours worked of less than seven and one-half {7.5) minutes per day is considered
de minimis.

Damage, Theft, or Loss of District-issued Equipment

Employees are responsible for maintaining adequate physical protection of the equipment issued to
them by the District. Employees shall immediately notify their department head and Human Resources if
any District-owned cell phone, smartphone, tablet, or other mobile device is damaged, lost or stolen.
Human Resources will review the circumstances surrounding the damage or loss of District equipment.
Should it be determined that the employee was negligent, careless, and/or reckless for the damaged or
lost equipment, the employee may be charged for the repair or replacement cost.

No Expectation of Privacy

Employees should have no expectation of privacy in any correspondence using the District's
communication equipment Or in any message or communication, they create, receive, send or delete
when communication occurs during the course of their job or through District-owned equipment. This
includes phone conversations, voicemail, e-mail, calendars, and documents. Employees should not
communicate their private, privileged, or confidential information via the District’s communication
equipment. Employees who do communicate their private, privileged, or confidential information via
the District's communication equipment will be deemed to have waived any privilege or privacy rights in

Page 112

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 200 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

those communications.

All communications transmitted via the District’s communication systems are subject to monitoring, at
the District’s discretion. In response to the information requested under the California Public Records
Act, it may be necessary for the District to examine electronic communications records that users may
consider to be personal to determine whether they are public records that are subject to disclosure. The
District may be required to produce information transmitted through or stored on its information
systems pursuant to a court order, subpoena, or statute.

In accordance with California law, employees and any other individuals on a phone call will be provided
with notice if the call may be recorded. Employees will be notified if their live phone calls will be
monitored for training or quality assurance purposes.

Persanal Phones in the Workplace

During work hours, employees are required to turn off their personal cell phones /smartphones or
switch them to silent/vibrate mode. Employees who need to use their personal phone to attend to
personal matters should do so during designated breaks or while at lunch, except in the event of an
emergency. Use of a personal phone for personal business must not interfere with work performance.

Hands-Free Phone Use While Driving

All employees who drive either a District vehicle or personal vehicle for District business during work
hours must comply with the State of California’s hands-free driving and no texting laws. These laws
prohibit individuals from using a handheld wireless telephone or writing, sending, or reading a
text-based communication while operating a motor vehicle. The District expects employees to use their
cell phones/smartphones in hands-free mode while driving or after they have pulled off the road and
parked their vehicle. Failure to comply with this law may result in disciplinary action.

Return of District-Issued Equipment

Employees who |eave District service are required to return all District-issued equipment. Employees
who have authorization for District-issued equipment rescinded are required to return all District-issued
equipment.

N. Outside Employment

No employee shall engage in outside employment which is inconsistent, incompatible, in conflict with or
which will lessen their effectiveness as a District employee.

Approval Process

To gain approval for outside employment, an employee must first submit a request in writing with their
department head. Outside employment is not permitted until the employee receives authorization from
the department head and Director of Administration.

Restrictions

No District-owned equipment, vehicles, tools or supplies shall be used by any employee while the
employee is engaged in any outside employment or activity. No work related to outside employment
shall be performed while an employee is being compensated by the District for performing work.
Employees shall not use the influence of District employment for personal gain nor perform work

Page 113

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 201 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

subject to District inspection.

An employee will not engage in outside employment while on Industrial Disability Leave (workers’
compensation leave) status with the District.

Revocation

Approval may be rescinded at any time if, in the judgment of the department head, the outside
employment is inconsistent with, incompatible with, in conflict with, or harmful or unfavorable to the
employee’s duties as a District employee.

0. Gifts or Gratuities

No official or employee shall accept a fee, compensation, gift, payment of expenses or any other thing of
monetary value in any circumstances in which acceptance may result in or create the appearance of any
one or more of the following:

Use of public office and/or employment for personal or private gain.

Preferential treatment of any person.

Loss of complete independence or impartiality.

Making a District decision outside of official channels.

Reduction of public confidence in the integrity of the District and/or its employees.

il £ L

Employees who are designated in the District’s conflict of interest code shall follow all guidelines in
accordance with applicable state law.

P. Customer Relations

Employees are expected to be polite, courteous, prompt, and attentive to every customer. When an
employee encounters an uncomfortable situation that they do not feel capable of handling, the general
manager should be called immediately.

Ours is a service business and all of us must remember that the customer always comes first. Our
customers ultimately pay all of our wages. Remember, while the customer is not always right, the
customer is never wrong.

Customers are to be treated courteously and given proper attention at all times. Never regard a
customer's question or concern as an interruption or an annoyance. You must respond to inquiries from
customers, whether in person or by telephone, promptly and professionally.

Never place a telephone caller on hold for an extended period. Direct incoming calls to the appropriate
person and make sure the call is received.

Through your conduct, show your desire to assist the customer in obtaining the help they needs. If you
are unable to help a customer, find someone who can.

All correspondence and documents, whether to customers or others, must be neatly prepared and
error-free. Attention to accuracy and detail in all paperwork demonstrates your commitment to those
with whom we do business.

Never argue with a customer. If a problem develops or if a customer remains dissatisfied, ask your
supervisor/manager, department head or the General Manager to intervene.

Page 114

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 202 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 13. Staff Expense Reimbursement Guidelines

Page 115

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 203 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Reimbursement of Expenses

Employees must seek authorization prior to incurring a business expense. Employees who have incurred
business expenses are required to submit all receipts with a reimbursement request form to Finance
department na later than the 30th of the moenth in which the expense was incurred. The District will
reimburse employees for substantiated incurred business expenses on or before the 30th of the
following month of the submitted and approved reimbursement request.

If you have any guestions about the District's expense reimbursement policy, contact the Finance
Department.

B. Credit Card and Credit Account Use

Credit card and/or Credit accounts will be issued to specific employees who either travel on a regular
basis on District business or have the need to frequently purchase supplies or services. Credit cards
and/or Credit accounts should be used only for the legitimate approved business of the District, and in
compliance with District policies. Employees who are issued a credit card or credit account is charged
with the safekeeping of the account and must immediately report any suspected comprise.

¢ No personal items may be charged on the business credit card;
e All charges must be in line with District policies and guidelines, or as approved by management;

¢ Receipts must contain an explanation of how the expense is District related if not indicated on
the actual purchase slip; and

e Receipts must be turned in to the finance department within 30 days.

C. Mileage

The mileage reimbursement rate to operate privately-owned vehicles for District business will be the
allowable IRS rate in effect at the time the expense is incurred. The mileage distance should be
calculated from destination to destination. An accurate amount of total mileage must be maintained
and submitted for approval.

Those driving private vehicles on District business will be required to complete one (1) hour of defensive
driving classes every year. You will also be enrolled in the state of California PULL program that monitors
driving records for public employees. In addition, you are required to provide the District with proof of
insurance coverage for your personal vehicle at least annually. You are expected to practice good
defensive driving techniques and operate the vehicle in a safe and responsible manner.,

D. Air Travel

It is a requirement to boak flights timely in order to avoid last-minute charges, unless approved in
advance by management. Employees may make their own reservations. Employees are normally
expected to use the least expensive fare when choosing flights.

E. Car Rentals

The District’s policy is to allow you to rent a mid-size automobile where you get the best rate and most
convenient rental. When renting a car on District business, use your District issued credit card and do
not purchase additional car rental loss and damage coverage as the District's policy already provides this
coverage. Do not accept direct billing if offered because it negates this coverage.

Page 116

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 204 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

F. Meals

The District will reimburse meals using the per diem rates applicable to the region of travel as published
by the US General Services Administration {GSA:
https://www .gsa.gov/travel/plan-book/per-diem-rates).

“Meals” include breakfast, lunch, and dinner occurring due to District business being conducted
out-of-town. Alcohalic beverages shall not be reimbursed.

G. Lodging

The District will reimburse lodging using the per diem rates applicable to the region as published by the
US General Services Administration (GSA: https://www.gsa.gov/travel/plan-book/per-diem-rates).

Employees should always try to get a government rate whenever possible. Management approval is
required for lodging fees that are above $250 per night, exclusive of taxes and fees.

H. Cab/Shuttle

At times it may be more cost-effective and/or convenient to utilize a cab, shuttle, or other services such
as Uber and Lyft from the office/your home to the airport {consider mileage, parking fees, etc.). Please
check these options if appropriate while traveling.

i. Expense Reports

Expense Reports should be submitted within one week of return. Receipts are required for all
expenditures.

Page 117

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 205 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 14. Miscellaneous Policies

Page 118

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 206 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Personnel Records
Request to View Personnel Records

You have a right to inspect or receive a copy of the personnel records that District maintains relating to
your perfgrmance or to any grievance concerning you under Labor Code § 1198.5(a). Certain documents
may be excluded or redacted from your personnel file by law, and there are legal limitations on the
number of requests that can be made.

Any request to inspect or copy personnel records must be made in writing to the Director of
Administration. You can obtain a form for making such a written request from Human Resources.

You may designate a representative to conduct the inspection of the records or receive a copy of the
records. However, any designated representative must be authorized by you in writing to inspect or
receive a copy of the records. The District may take reasonable steps to verify the identity of any
representative you have designated in writing to inspect or receive a copy of your personnel records.

The personnel records may be made available to you either at the place where you work or at a
mutually agreeable location (with no loss of compensation far going to that location to inspect or copy
the records). The records will be made available no later than 30 calendar days from the date the
District receives your written request to inspect or copy your personnel records (unless you/your
representative and the District mutually agree in writing to a date beyond 30 calendar days but no later
than 35 calendar days from receipt of the written request).

Disclosure of personnel information to outside sources, other than your designated representative, will
be limited. However, the District will cooperate with a request from authorized law enforcement or
local, state, or federal agencies conducting official investigations and as otherwise legally required.

Staff access to Personnel Records

Personnel files are confidential and are to be treated as such. Personnel files may not be taken outside
of the main District office.

Access to personnel files is limited to the following:
¢ Human Resources personnel in the course of their normal duties;

e Managers and supervisors, with the written authgrization of the Director of Administration, may
only have access to a personnel file, or limited parts of it, on a2 need-to-know basis;

e Others only as specifically authorized by the Director of Administration, in the course of their
duties, may be allowed access to file information, (i.e. representatives of government or law
enforcement agencies, District auditors, etc.).

B. Employment of Relatives

Purpose

The District regulates the employment and placement of relatives, spouses, and domestic partners so as
to avoid conflicts of interest and to promote safety, security, supervision, and morale.

Page 119

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 207 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Definitions

¢ “Relative” means child, step-child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, brother, sister, half-brother,
half-sister, aunt, uncle, niece, nephew, step-relatives, or in-laws of those enumerated by
marriage or domestic partnership.

* “Spouse” means one of two persons to a marriage, or two people who are registered domestic
partners, as those terms are defined by California law. (Fam. Code § 297 & 300.)

e “Supervisory relationship” means one in which one employee exercises the right or
responsibility to control, direct, reward, or discipline another by virtue of the duties and
responsibilities assigned to his or her District appointment.

Policy

Employment of Relatives

The District shall not employ, appoint, promote, or transfer any person who is a relative of another
District employee except with the express written authority of the General Manager.

Spouses or Domestic Partners or Marriage or Domestic Partnership After Employment

Present employees who marry or become registered domestic partners will be permitted to continue
waorking in the job position held only if they do not work in the same department, do not have a direct
supervisory relationship with one anaother, and are not in job positions involving a conflict of interest.

If any of the above conditions arise, the procedures below shall apply:

C. Guests and Visitors

Visits from friends and family are to be kept to a minimum, in order to preserve an appropriate work
environment. It is extremely important that the impression left with District visitors is that of a
professional organization with the highest standards of conduct.

Emergencies in which children must be in the office for an extended length of time are to be kept to an
absolute minimum. On those occasions when children are present, they should not be allowed to
disrupt others in the workplace. Your child is your respansibility and must be under your direct
supervision at all times. Under no circumstances may children provide work for the District, unless the
child is hired as an employee pursuant to District policies.

The District reserves its right in its sole discretion to deny such a request for reasons including, but not
limited to, the requested guest or visitor has been disruptive in the past, there is a special event
scheduled on the date(s) requested, or the work environment is not appropriate for the visitor or guest
due to safety or other reasons.

D. Parking

Employees may park their vehicles in designated areas, if space permits. If space is unavailable,
employees must park in permissible public areas in the vicinity of the District. Employees may not use
parking areas specifically designated for customers, vendors, or District vehicles. The District is not
responsible for any loss or damage to employee vehicles or contents white parked on District property.

Parking areas may be monitored with video or other surveillance for purposes of protecting District
property only. This surveillance system is in no way intended to provide employees with personal

Page 120

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 208 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

security.

E. Housekeeping

All employees are expected to keep their work areas (i.e. office, cubicle, assigned vehicle, etc.) clean and
organized. People using common areas such as lunchrooms, locker rooms, and restrooms are expected
to keep them sanitary. Please clean up after meals and dispose of trash properly.

F. Bulletin Boards

The District maintains bulletin boards located Main office hallway, main office lunchroom, field office
break area.

Bulletin boards are used to provide information to employees concerning protected union items, events
hosted by employees, fundraising, items for sale.

Employees may not post items on District bulletin boards unless the following conditions are met:

e Postings may be made by District employees only;

e The information to be posted must first be approved by the Director of Administration;
e Postings are limited to 8.5" x 11" in size;

e Bulletin boards will be updated monthly; and

e Posted items will be dated and will he removed after one month.

G. Audio/Video Recordings

Due to concerns regarding the potential for invasion of privacy, sexual or other harassment, and
protection of proprietary or confidential information, employees may not use any audio or video
recording devices while on working time. Employees also may not use any audio or video recordings in
work areas that the District has identified as confidential, secure or private, unless the employee is
engaged in protected activity related to improving the terms and conditions of their employment, such
as documenting health and safety issues.

The District uses or may use video surveillance in public areas (not in restrocoms, locker rooms or
changing areas). The video surveillance does not include sound recording.

H. California Public Records Act Request (CPRA)

The District strives to comply with all applicable laws and provide the public with information as
requested. Therefore, our goal is to respond promptly to any Public Records Request. Any employee
receiving a request from the public for documents is to forward that request to the Executive Assistant
immediately. The Executive Assistant will work with those necessary to fulfill the request. Employees are
not to respond to CPRA requests independently.

I. Outside Relations / Media Contact

Employees may be approached for interviews or comments by the news media. Only people designated
by the General Manager may comment to the media on District matters. All media requests, whether
verbal or written, must be forwarded to the General Manager for handling.

This policy does not limit an employee's right to discuss the terms and conditions of their employment,
or to try and improve these conditions.

Page 121

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 209 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 15. Discipline

Page 122

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 210 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Causes for Discipline

The causes for discipline set standards of conduct for all employees and is not an exhaustive list of all
the grounds that could lead to discipline.

Such performance or conduct may involve but is not limited to:

1.

10.

11.

12,

13.

14.
15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Falsification of District records, including any material entries or omissions of information in an
employment application or other District records.

Being under the influence of or possessing or using alcoholic beverages or illegal drugs or
controlled substances on District premises or while on District business. Consumption of
alcoholic beverages or illegal drugs prior to reporting for a work shift, during a work shift,
including breaks and lunch hours, and including on-call duty time, shall be considered a violation
of this standard.

Failure to submit to a drug or alcohol test after performing the conduct detailed in #2 above.

Failure to enroll in a state-certified alcohol or drug treatment outpatient program after having
been found to be under the influence pursuant to the District’s Alcohol & Drug Policy.

Failure to complete a state-certified alcohol or drug treatment outpatient program after having
been found to be under the influence pursuant to the District’s Alcohol & Drug Policy.

Abuse, damage or destruction of District property due to careless or willful acts.

Failure to observe fire prevention and safety regulations or practices, including reporting
injuries, accidents or unsafe practices or conditions promptly.

Discourteous treatment of the public.
Inability or unwillingness to work in harmony with other employees.

Theft, fraud, carrying personal or concealed weapons or explosives, or violation of criminal laws
on District premises.

Fighting, throwing things, horseplay, practical jokes or other disorderly conduct which may
endanger the well- being of any employee or District operations.

Threatening, intimidating, coercing, using abusive or insulting language, or otherwise interfering
with the performance of other employees.

Insubordination or refusal to comply with lawful instructions or failure to perform reasonable
duties, which are assigned.

Use of District materials, time or equipment for unauthorized purposes or for personal use.

Disorderly or immoral conduct while on duty or while in District uniform, that negatively affects
the image of the District.

Excessive, unexcused and/or repeated absenteeism or tardiness. For purposes of this article,
this means three (3) unexcused absences during a year or two (2} consecutive unexcused
absences in a row or five (5) tardies in a year, or (3} three consecutive tardies.

Operation of the District vehicle in an unlawful manner.

Conviction of a serious crime, including a misdemeanar or a felony, but not including traffic
citations or other infractions not invelving District vehicles.

Failure to immediately follow safe working practices or failure to report promptly an injury

Page 123

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 211 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

within 24 hours of its occurrence.

20. Violation of any of the provisions of the District's Harassment and Discrimination Policy.

B. Types of Discipline

For just cause, the following disciplinary actions may be taken against any employee of the District by
the General Manager or his designee. The District may impose the following types of counseling,
reprimands, and discipline:

Minor Discipline

1

Informal Counseling:

For minor infractions an informal counseling will be provided to an employee to identify: a
failure of appropriate conduct or performance issue; the performance the employee is to
demonstrate in the future; and consequences for failure to correct the behavior or problem.

If the situation does not improve within a reasonable period of time {usually 30 days, depending
on the seriousness of the issue), the employee’s supervisor/manager may repeat the measure,
or use the next step. The employee’s supervisor/manager shall keep a written record of the
date and substance of Informal Counseling, but the record will not become part of the
employee’s personnel file unless the situation leading to the warning is not corrected and more
serious disciplinary procedures are deemed necessary. The written record will be retained in the
supervisor/manager’s file until the completion of the evaluation year, and then may be
documented in the performance evaluation, as the supervisor/manager deems necessary.

Informal Counseling is not subject to the discipline procedures and discipline appeal procedures
below.

Verbal Reprimand:

A verbal reprimand is a verbal direction from a supervisory employee to discontinue
inappropriate conduct or to correct a performance issue. A verbal reprimand will be
documented in writing and retained in the supervisor/manager’s file until the completion of the
evaluation year and then documented in the performance evaluation, as the
supervisor/manager deems necessary.

If the situation does not improve within a reasonable period of time {usually 30 days) the
employee’s supervisor/manager may repeat the measure, or use the next step. A report of the
verbal reprimand shall be placed in the employee's personnel file and this reprimand shall cite
any counseling sessions that may have occurred. The employee has the right to have a written
response attached to the verbal reprimand in the employee’s personnel file, if the employee
submits the response to the Director of Administration within 10 working days after the
reprimand is received.

A verbal reprimand is not subject to the discipline procedures and discipline appeal procedures
below.
Written Reprimand:

A written reprimand is written direction from a supervisory employee to discontinue
inappropriate conduct or to correct a performance issue for more substantial infractions or

Page 124

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 212 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

repeated minor infractions If the situation does not improve within a reasonable length of time
{usually 30 days), the employee’s supervisor/manager may issue repeat reprimands, or take
further action.

A written reprimand will be retained in the employee’s personnel file and documented in the
performance evaluation. The employee has the right to have a written rebuttal attached to the
reprimand in the employee’s persannel file, if the employee submits the rebuttal to the Director
of Administration within 10 working days after the reprimand is received.

A written reprimand is not subject to the discipline procedures and discipline appeal procedures
below.

4. Short-term Suspension From Duty:

For severe infractions or for persistent failure to correct deficiencies, which do not, however,
justify major discipline, minor discipline in the form of a suspension from duty without pay of up
to four working days may be ordered.

Employees who are exempt from Fair Labor Standards Act {FLSA) overtime will only be
suspended as authorized by the FLSA.

A short-term suspension from duty is not subject to the discipline procedures and discipline
appeal procedures below. However, when suspension from duty without pay of four working
days or less is imposed, and the employee has passed his/her probationary period, the
employee is entitled to written notice (including copies of written materials upon which the
notice is based) by the General Manager or designee, of the basis for the suspension without
pay at the time of, or prior to, being suspended without pay. The employee shall not be
entitied to any pre-disciplinary due process rights (i.e., no “Skelly” hearing) norto a
post-disciplinary evidentiary hearing.

The employee shall be entitled to post-evidentiary due process by being allowed to make a
written and/or oral response to the General Manager or designee (as appropriate) regarding the
notice within a reasonable time {ten working days or less} after receiving the notice.

When the employee requests to provide an oral response, the General Manager or designee
shall conduct the proceeding as a “Skelly” meeting. The General Manager or designee shall
issue a final decision on the suspension from duty without pay within ten working days of
receiving the employee’s response in writing and/or conducting the “Skelly” meeting, whichever
occurs later. The General Manager or designee may affirm the discipline imposed; or, reduce
or rescind the discipline imposed (and provide the employee with appropriate back pay).

Maijor Discipline

For more serious infractions of District Standards or for persistent failure to correct deficiencies noted in
verbal warnings or written reprimands, major discipline may be imposed. The following actions may be
taken by the appropriate level of management in response to the performance deficiencies of regular
employees. Forms of major discipline include, but are not limited to:

Suspension from duty:
The District may suspend an employee from his/her position for at least five (5) working days
without pay, for cause. Documents related to a suspension shall become part of the employee’s
personnel file when the suspension is final and documented in the performance evaluation.

Page 125

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 213 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Employees who are exempt from Fair Labor Standards Act {FLSA) overtime will only be
suspended as authorized by the FLSA.

A suspension from duty is subject to the discipline procedures and discipline appeal procedures
below.

Reduction in Pay:
The District may reduce an employee’s pay for cause.

A reduction in pay for disciplinary purposes is a decrease in salary to a lower step within the
salary range on the District's current salary schedule.

Employees who are exempt from the Fair Labor Standards Act {FLSA) overtime requirements are
not subject to salary reduction. However for disciplinary purposes the District may decrease the
employee's future accruals of vacation, floating holiday, or administrative leave.

Documents related to a reduction in pay shall become part of the employee’s personnel file
when the reduction in pay is final and documented in the performance evaluation.

A reduction in pay is subject to the discipline procedures and discipline appeal procedures below

Demotion:

The District may demote an employee from his or her position to a lower position for cause.
Documents related to a demotion shall become part of the employee’s personnel file when the
demotion is final and documented in the performance evaluation.

(Demotions resulting from organizational changes, or layoffs are not disciplinary).

A demotion is subject to the discipline procedures and discipline appeal procedures below.

Dismissal:
The District may dismiss an employee from his or her position for cause. Documents related to
the dismissal shall become a part of an employee’s personnel file when the dismissal is final.

A dismissed employee is entitled to the discipline procedures and discipline appeal procedures
below.

C. District Notice and Employee Appeal Procedures for Major
Discipline

The following discipline and appeal procedures only apply to the District's for-cause employees. All
employees other than for-cause employees, namely temporary, at-will, and/or probationary employees,

may be disciplined or separated at will, with or without cause, and without the disciplinary procedures
listed below.

The following discipline procedures apply only to suspension from duty of five (S) days or greater,
reduction in pay, demotion, or dismissal.

1. "Skelly" Notice of Intended Disciplinary Action to Employee: A written notice of the intended
disciplinary action shall be given to the employee, which will include the following information:

Page 126

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 214 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employvee Handbook

s The level of the intended discipline;

» The specific charges that support the intended discipline;

» Asummary of the facts that show that the elements of each charge at issue in the intended
discipline;

e A copy of all materials upon which the intended discipline is based;

» Notice of the employee’s right to respond to regarding the intended discipline within seven
{7) working days from the date of the notice, either by requesting a Skelly conference, or by
providing a written response, or both;

¢ Notice of the employee’s right to have a representative of his or her choice at the Skelly
conference; and

» Notice that failure to respond by the time specified constitutes a waiver of the right to
respond prior to final discipline being imposed.

2. Notice of Appeal and Request for Hearing:

e Any regular employee may appea! a notice of major discipline and request a hearing befare
a hearing officer as provided for in these rules.

* The notice of appeal and request for a hearing must be in writing and must be filed with a
written response to the allegations in the notice of disciplinary action with the District
within seven (7) warking days of receipt of the notice of disciplinary action.

s Appellant’s written response must address each and every cause for discipline set forth in
the notice of disciplinary action and must state specific facts or reasons as grounds for the
appeal. The appeal may only address the allegations that were the cause of the disciplinary
action.

D. Hearing Procedures for Major Discipline

The following appeal procedures only apply to the District's for-cause employees. All employees other
than for-cause employees, namely temporary, at-will, and/or probationary employees, may be
disciplined or separated at will, with or without cause, and without the disciplinary appeal, procedures
listed below.

The following discipline procedures apply only to suspension from duty of five (5} days or greater,
reduction in pay, demotion, or dismissal.

1. Hearing Officer

The District and the Appellant shall mutually agree upon an impartial hearing officer, or if they
cannot agree, they shall request a list of at least seven (7) hearing officers from the American
Arbitration Association. The District and the Appellant shall alternately strike names off the list
until there is one hearing officer remaining, who shall serve as the hearing officer for the
hearing, unless the District and the Appellant agree otherwise. Appellant shall strike the first
hearing officer from the list. The hearing officer shall issue proposed findings of fact, conclusions
of law and a decision where the major discipline involved is termination. In alt major discipline
matters other than termination, the hearing officer's decision is binding.

2. Hearing

a. Time and Place: The District's representative will prepare procedures for conducting the
hearing, and will determine the time and place of the hearing.

Page 127

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 215 of 230



10.

Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

b. Purpose: The purpose of the hearing is to make a final determination as to the
appropriateness of the action taken.

c. Parties: The Appellant and the District's representative shall attend the meeting; the
appellant may bring a representative. Failure of the Appellant, with or without their
representative, to appear in person at the time and place set for the hearing, shall be
deemed a withdrawal of the appeal, unless otherwise excused by the hearing officer.

Order of the Proceedings

a. The hearing shall be opened by the recording of the time, place and date of the hearing
and the presence of the parties and representatives, if any. The District shall first present
its case on which the disciplinary action was based.

b. The hearing officer shall conduct the hearing.
Report of the Hearings

An electronic record of the proceedings shall be taken and maintained by the District. Costs for
transcripts shall be borne by the requesting party.

Adjournment

The hearing may be adjourned or recessed upon the request of the hearing officer.

Confidentiality

The hearing shall be closed to the public unless the appellant requests an open hearing.

Closing of Hearing

The hearing officer shall inquire if either side has anything further to offer. Upon receiving
negative replies, the hearing shall be closed.

Decision of the Hearing Officer

The hearing officer shall issue findings of fact, conclusions of law and a binding decision on all
major disciplinary matters except termination. In termination matters, the hearing officer’s
decision is non-binding, subject to further review by the General Manager.

Final Decision

In all major disciplinary matters other than termination, the decision of the hearing officer in
any appeal shall be binding. In termination matters, the General Manager shall review the
record of the hearing, including the hearing officer’s proposed findings, conclusions and
decision. The General Manager shall, within 30 days of receipt of the hearing officer’s
proposed findings, conclusions and decision, issue his/her own written findings of fact,
conclusions of law and final decision. The General Manager’s decision shall be final.

Status of Appellant

The imposition of any major discipline, including but not limited to a discharge, shall not be
stayed by any appeal filed by an employee following issuance of the notice of major
discipline. Any salary or other benefits denied shall be reinstated, only if determined to be
appropriate by the hearing officer or General Manager, following the completion of any such
appeal hearing.

Page 128

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 216 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 16. Grievance Policy and Procedures

Page 129

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 217 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Grievance Policy

Policy

Any employee shall have the right to file a grievance as provided in these Policies without fear of
reprisal. The goal of this procedure is to resolve complaints as soon as possible.

Eligibility

A grievant is a regular employee who is personally affected by an act or omission that occurred no more
than five (5) calendar days prior to the initiation of the grievance, provided that the act or omission
comes within the definition of “grievance” as described herein.

Definition

Subject to the exclusions listed in this policy, a “grievance” is defined as any dispute that:

1.

2.
3.
4

Is job-related;

Is wholly or partially within the province of the District to rectify or remedy;

Concerns terms and conditions of employment;

Involves the interpretation, application, or alleged violation of these Personnel Rules or a
current memorandum of understanding (MOU) between the District and recognized employee
organization representing District employees; and

Is not subject to any other District dispute resolution process or procedure that is provided by
statute, ordinance, resolution or agreement.

Exclusions from the Grievance Procedure

The following matters are excluded from the definition of “grievance”:

1. Issues that are subject to meeting and conferring, such as requests for changes in wages, hours,
or working conditions, including any impasse or dispute in the meet and confer process or
matter within the scope of representation;

2. Requests for changes in the content of employee performance evaluations beyond steps | and Il
below, verbal or written warnings, reprimands or counseling memos;

3. Challenges to a reclassification, layoff, transfer, denial of reinstatement, or denial of a step or
merit increase;

4. Challenges to any disciplinary action; and

5. Challenges to examinations or appointment to positions.

Procedures

The steps of the grievance procedure are as follows:

1.

Step | Informal Resolution with Supervisor/Manager: The employee shall first work in good
faith to resolve the grievance informally through discussion with their immediate
supervisor/manager within five (5) days of the occurrence of the grieved event. The
supervisor/manager shall respond to the employee in writing within five (5} days of that
meeting.

Submit a Statement of Grievance
The employee’s complaint shall be presented in writing. To be considered a formal grievance,
the statement of grievance shall include all of the following:

Page 130

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 218 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

o The date or dates of the alleged violation;

o The specific provision of these Policies or an applicable MOU that was allegedly
violated, misinterpreted, or misapplied;

A description of all facts regarding how the alleged violation occurred;

A description of how the grievant is/was adversely affected by a specific act or
omission which gave rise to the alleged violation, misinterpretation, or
misapplication;

The documents or other evidence that support the grievance;

A list of all persons who are witnesses or are involved;

The desired solution or remedy;

The person, if any, the grievant has chosen to be their representative;

A Statement of the Grievance must be signed by the employee filing the grievance
to certify that it is filed in good faith.

0 o

0O 0 O 00

2. Step il General Manager: If the employee believes that the grievance has not been resolved
through 5tep |, the employee may appeal to the grievance decision of the General Manager or
his/her designee. Such appeal of the supervisor/manager’s decision must be filed within seven
{7) days of the conclusion of Step 1. The employee must submit the original statement of
grievance along with:

o The date of attempts at informal resolution and the name of the
supervisor/manager or individual involved;
o The supervisor/manager’s conclusion, decision, or attempt of resolve; and
o The reasons explaining why the supervisor/manager’'s conclusion, decision, or
attempt of resolve was not adequate.
The General Manager, or his designee, shall meet with all parties at least one time, and conduct
such investigations, using uninvalved third parties, as they deem appropriate. The General
Manager shall respond in writing within thirty (30) days after the date the grievance is received.

The decision of the General Manager shall be final, uniess further steps are afforded in
applicable MOU.

Timelines

Failure of the District to comply with the time limits of the grievance procedures allows the grievant to
appeal to the next level of review.

If a grievance is not presented or appealed within the time limits, it shall be considered settled on the
basis of the preceding response, unless an extension of time to a definite date has been mutually agreed
upon in writing.

Representation

An employee may have a representative of their choice present at all stages of the grievance procedure,
except that no one may be represented by an employee they supervise, and no employee may be
represented by his/her supervisor/manager or department head. If the employee’s representative is a
fellow employee, that employee will receive time off from their work assignment for the time of the
grievance meeting plus reasonable travel time.

Delegation

The General Manager may delegate the Director of Administration or other non-involved department

Page 131

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 219 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

heads or other management employees to act on his/her behalf in this process. The findings and
recommendations rendered by the designee(s) will be advisory to the General Manager, whose ultimate
decision will be final, unless further steps are afforded in applicable MOU.

Page 132

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 220 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Section 17. Separation From Service

Page 133

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 221 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

A. Leaving the District

When you decide to leave for any reason, your manager, and/or the Director of Human Resources and
Administration would like an opportunity to discuss the resignation with you before final action is
taken. All employees leaving the District's employ shall meet with the Director of Administration on the
last day of employment.

Resignation

Voluntary resignation results when an employee voluntarily resigns their employment at Joshua Basin
Water District or fails to report to work for three consecutively scheduled workdays without notice to,
or approval by, their supervisor/manager {unless the absence is protected by law).

Termination

A probationary status employee is at-will and may be dismissed without right of appeal.
A regular employee may be dismissed, under the authority of the General Manager for-cause purposes.

Dismissal of regular employees must be conducted in accordance with the District's disciplinary
procedures or applicable MOU disciplinary procedures.

Employee Exit

Employee agrees that during the time between notification of separation and last day of employment,
they will cooperate fully with the District in all matters relating to the winding-up of any pending work
and the orderly transfer to the other District employees the work for which he has been most recently
responsible. Employee further agrees that prior to the expiration of the “Notice Period,” they will return
all originals and hard copies of literature, correspondence, memoranda, reports, summaries, manuals,
proposals, contracts and other documents of any kind which relate in any way to the business of the
District.

Cooperation with Investigations

During employment the employee agrees to remain available to the District and its legal counsel,
voluntarily upon the District’s request and without the necessity of a subpoena or court order, in
connection with the District's investigation, preparation, prosecution and/or defense of any actual or
potential legal proceeding, regulatory action or an internal matter. The employee agrees to cooperate
with the District to provide any information reasonably within their recollection and to provide truthful
testimony as required. If an employee is called upon to provide cooperation after employment has been
terminated, the District will reimburse the employee for reasonable out of pocket expenses actually
incurred under this section.

Property Return Agreement

Upon employment with the District, employees that receive any District property, must complete an
Equipment Issuance and Return Agreement. Property includes, but is not limited to, laptops, cell
phones, PDAs, equipment, keys, reports, proprietary information, and any other job-related materials.
All District property must be returned prior to departure.

Page 134

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 222 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Exit Interview

The Director of Administration is responsible for scheduling an exit interview with you on your last date
of employment and for arranging the return of the District’s property.

Benefits

Medical, Dental, and Vision benefits end on the last day of the month of your employment. Life
coverages require “active” employment; therefore, coverage for this ends on your last day

worked. COBRA notification will be provided to you at your exit interview,

Final Paycheck

You will receive your final paycheck on the next regularly scheduled payday or earlier if it is required by
law. Unused vacation will be paid and calculated in accordance with the District’s vacation policy.

CalPERS
You will be notified directly by CalPERS regarding your options.

Deferred Compensation Plan

If you are enrolled in a deferred compensation program, complete the forms and necessary and follow
the instructions. You should contact the plan carrier to ensure you completely understand your options.

B. Employment References

District Employment Reference

All inquiries (written, telephone, fax, in-person, etc.) regarding a current or former District employee
must be referred to the Director of Administration. No other manager, supervisor, or employee is
authorized to release any information regarding a current or former employee on behalf of the District.

In response to an outside request for information regarding a current or former District employee, the
Director of Administration will verify only an employee’s name, dates of employment, and job title. No
other data regarding a current or former District employee will be released unless the employee
authorizes the release of such information in writing, or the District is required by law to furnish any
information.

Personal Reference

If you are contacted to give a "personal” reference regarding a current or former District employee, you
are permitted to do so and should emphasize to the inquirer that the reference is personal only and not
on behalf of the District. Such a personal reference shall not be provided on District letterhead.

Failure to follow these directions may be cause for corrective action up to and including termination.

Page 135

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 223 of 230



Joshua Basin Water District - Employee Handbook

Confirmation of Receipt

Confirmation of Receipt of Employee Handbook

I have received my copy of the District's employee handbook. | understand and agree that it is my
responsibility to read and familiarize myself with the policies and procedures contained in the
handbook.

Employee's Signature

Employee's Printed Name

Date

Confirmation of Receipt of Discrimination, Harassment, and
Retaliation Policy & Procedures

| have received my copy of the District's Policy Against Discrimination, Harassment, and Retaliation; and
the Complaint Procedure. I understand and agree that it is my responsibility to read and familiarize
myself with this policy.

| understand that the District is committed to providing a work environment that is free from
harassment, discrimination, and retaliation. My signature certifies that | understand that | must conform
to and abide by the rules and requirements described in this policy.

Employee's Signature

Employee's Printed Name

Date

Page 136

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 224 of 230



RESOLUTION NO. 19-1012

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE JOSHUA BASIN WATER
DISTRICT APPROVING THE JOSHUA BASIN WATER DISTRICT EMPLOYEE
HANDBOOK

WHEREAS on August 10, 1988, the Board of Directors of Joshua Basin Water District
established personnel administration rules by way of Resolution 88-277;

WHEREAS, on November 14, 1990, the Board of Directors adopted the of Joshua Basin Water
District Personnel Rules by way of Resolution 90-333; superseding the personnel
administration rules Resolution 88-277;

WHEREAS, on November 3, 1999, the Board of Directors amended the Personnel Rules
Resolutions 90-333 to add Veteran’s Day Observance by way of Resolution 99-606;

WHEREAS, it is necessary to update, revise, and clarify personnel rule language with laws,
regulations, and industry standard practices;

WHEREAS, the District staff and legal team worked cooperatively to develop a new Employee
Handbook that contains a comprehensive collection of the District’s personnel rules; and

WHEREAS, the District’s negotiating team and the AFSCME negotiating team worked

cooperatively to reach agreement to the personnel rules set forth in the new Employee
Handbook;

NOW, THERFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of Joshua Basin Water
District hereby:

1} authorizes the Director of Administration to make any technical corrections if needed;

2) hereby adopts the new Employee Handbook, attached hereto, superseding the Personnel
Rules Resolution 90-333.

ADOPTED, SIGNED AND APPROVED this 29" day of October 2019,

Tom Floen
Geary Hund
Robert Johnson
Mike Reynolds
Rebecca Unger

Robert Johnson Pre_éident, Board of Directors

Mark Ban, General Manager and Board Secretary

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 225 of 230



JOSHUA BASIN WATER DISTRICT
MEETING AGENDA REPORT

Meeting of the Board of Directors October 29, 2019
Report to:  President and Members of the Board
Prepared by: Sarah Johnson

TOPIC: Wellness Program for eligible employees of the District.

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that the Board of Directors adopt a wellness program for
the employees of the District.

SUMMARY:

Designing and managing an employee wellness program is an important step in improving the health
and productivity of employees and potentially improving the overall cost of employer-provided health
care. Wellness programs can benefit employers by:

« Lowering health care costs.

» Reducing absenteeism.

o Achieving higher employee productivity.

* Reducing workers' compensation and disability-related costs.
» Reducing injuries.

» Improving employee morale and loyalty

« Improve Employee Recruitment and retention.

Because of the ever-increasing costs of health insurance and the importance of employee health,
employers find implementing wellness programs benefits both the employee's health and the
employer's bottom line.

A Wellness Reimbursement Program would be designed to encourage and support a well-rounded
healthy lifestyle for employees. The program covers expenses for a variety of eligible wellness
activities for gym memberships, fitness classes, massages, nutritional counseling, and much more
(exclusions and limitations apply).

FISCAL IMPACT:

Reimbursements would be subject to budget availability set by the Board each year. Eligible
employees may request reimbursement for eligible wellness expenses. The monthly cap is equal to the
monthly premium rate for the Corporate Gym Membership which is $23 per month per person. These
amounts are considered a benefit in-kind and will be a taxable income for employees unless not
required by local tax rules.

The cost for this program is not to exceed $7728 annually.

STRATEGIC PLAN ITEMS:

3.0 - Value employees by providing a safe and respectful work environment for growth and
collaboration.

3.1.7 - Prepare & Create Process for Succession Planning - Prepare for knowledge retention & future
recruiting strategies.

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 226 of 230



JOSHUA BASIN
~L-WATCR DISTRICT

Proudly providing water from an ancient
source...well into the future

Wellness Program Policy

Objective
The District encourages employees to achieve and maintain a healthy lifestyle through wellness and
physical fitness.

Eligibility

Wellness reimbursement is available to full-time employees who have successfully completed
probation. The employee must be employed by the District when eligible expenses are incurred (paid
for) and submitted for reimbursement. Participation in the program is strictly voluntary.

Policy
The District will provide a corporate gym membership or reimburse for eligible wellness related
activities and products, including but not limited to those outlined in the below chart.

Reimbursements are subject to budget availability set by the Board each year. Eligible employees may
request reimbursement which set to a monthly cap equal to the monthly premium rate for the
Corporate Gym Membership. These amounts are considered a benefit in-kind and will be a taxable
income for employees unless not required by local tax rules.

Eligible Wellness Related Activities & Products:
You are required to use your best judgment in determining what you submit through the wellness
reimbursement program. Below are some examples of what's covered and what’s not. Please note, this
is not an exhaustive list. If you have an item that doesn’t fall into one of these categories, here are some
questions to think through:

e Is this item or service directly benefiting me or my family’s physical or emotiona! wellbeing?

» Does this item assist me in relaxing, getting my heart moving or learning a new activity directly

related to my wellbeing?

Examples of Eligible Wellness Expenses
Corporate Gym Employees may sign up to join 5-Star Fitness in Yucca Valley through the
Membership District’s corporate account. Memberships fees paid on the employee’s
behalf and will not be reimbursed.

Employees enrolled in the corporate gym membership that do not
attend for 60 days or longer will be removed from the corporate
membership account.

Memberships Gym membership other than the corporate offering, initiation fees,
registration fees, health center fees, tennis or swim clubs, rock climbing.
Lessons, Classes, Personal | Golf, swim, tennis, dance, Yoga, Pilates, spin, martial arts, meditation,

Services massage, personal training kick boxing, nutritional classes and testing,
weight management, karate, kick boxing, Tae Kwan Do.

Equipment Shoes (for any sport), treadmill, snowboard, skis, bicycles, tennis racket,
golf clubs, yoga mats, helmets, skates.

Exercise DVDs/Videos, Wii Fit, Health Apps, Fitness Trackers, Water Purifiers, Air Purifiers,

Apps, Electronics, masks, or similar.

Wellness Praducts

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 227 of 230



Examples of Ineligible Expenses
Exercise or sports attire (except fitness shoes) Homeopathic visits, Hydrostatic testing, or similar
Camping Equipment Vitamins, Supplements, Health Foods
Cell Phones & Tablets Acupuncture, Chiropractic, or similar
Eyeglasses or Contact lens and cleaning solutions | Smoking Cessation programs
Co-Pays, deductibles, Co-Insurance Prescription Medications
Tournament fees Video games not related to exercise or health
Health Spa Treatments and products other than {Play Station, PS3, Xbox, Kinect, or other, video
massage game console systems)

Procedure

Eligible employee’s wishing to apply for wellness reimbursement must receive approval in advance
before they incur the wellness expense. To obtain approval, the employee must submit a District
Wellness Reimbursement form to HR. The form must be submitted along with all relevant information
including but not limited to, the description of wellness item, anticipated expenses, and/or other
supporting documents that establish that the item is an eligible wellness expense. After approval,
submit a receipt or proof of purchase.

Requests for wellness reimbursement must be submitted no later than 60 days after the incurred
expense. Requests for wellness reimbursement is subject to minimum of and maximum dollar amounts
as indicated on the Wellness Reimbursement form.

Approved reimbursements will be paid with the employee’s normal paycheck.

Tax Liability
The amount reimbursed to employees will be reported as taxable income to the Internal Revenue
Service and is subject to FICA, Medicare, federal, state, and local taxes.

Additiona! Information
Employees should consult with a physician before beginning a physical regimen.

Disclaimer: The District reserves the right to interpret, make changes, and/or to or withdraw from this
plan at any time, subject to applicable legal requirements.

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 228 of 230



JOSHUA BASIN WATER DISTRICT
MEETING AGENDA REPORT

Meeting: Board of Directors October 29, 2019
Reportto:  President and Members of the Board

Prepared by: Sarah Johnson
TOPIC: Office Hours

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that the Board of Directors adopt the attached Resolution
19-1014 updating the office hours.

SUMMARY:

Effective the pay period beginning, 12/21/2019, District employees will move to a four ten work week
(ten hours per day, four days per week Monday — Thursday) from the nine-eighty work week (nine
hours per day Monday — Thursday, eight hours on Friday, with every other Friday off).

This change provides longer working shifts each day, which will allow the District office to be open
longer each business day to serve the public.

The office is currently open to the public from 7:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. four days a week, excluding
Fridays, Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays.

Effective 12/23/2019, the new office hours are proposed to be from 7:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. four days a
week, excluding Fridays, Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays.

STRATEGIC PLAN ITEMS:
2.11 — Continuously update administrative policies and procedures

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 229 of 230



RESOLUTION NO. 19-1014

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE JOSHUA BASIN WATER
DISTRICT, AMENDING ARTICLE 4, SECTION 4.04.10 OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE
CODE

WHEREAS Atrticle 4, Section 4.04.10 of the Joshua Basin Water District’s (the “District™)
Administrative Code directs the General Manager to open the District’s offices to the public
during a specified period of time;

WHEREAS on August 1, 2018, the Board of Directors amended Article 4, Section 4.04.10 of
the Administrative Code by way of Resolution 18-988 as follows:

“It shall be the duty of the General Manager to devote his entire time to the duties of his
office. The General Manager shall see that the office is open to the public from 7:30 a.m.
to 4:30 p.m. four days a week, excluding Fridays, Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays.”;

WHEREAS Resolution 18-988 was passed to address the closure of the District’s offices to the

public on Fridays due to a reduced number of field and administrative staff present caused
by a 9/80 work schedule;

WHEREAS the District will be instituting a new 4/10 work schedule whereby office hours will
be extended for the public by thirty (30) minutes per day; and

WHEREAS such a change in office hours requires the Board of Directors to amend Article 4,
Section 4.04.10 of the Administrative Code;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Joshua Basin
Water District hereby:

1) amend Article 4, Section 4.04.10 of the District’s Administration Code, effective
December 23, 2019, as follows:

“It shall be the duty of the General Manager to devote his entire time to the duties of his
office. The General Manager shall see that the office is open to the public from 7:30
a.m. to 5:00 p.m. four days a week, excluding Fridays, Saturdays, Sundays, and
holidays.”

ADOPTED, SIGNED AND APPROVED this 29" day of October 2019.

Tom Floen
Geary Hund
Robert Johnson
Mike Reynolds
Rebecca Unger

Robert Jochnson President, Board of Directors

Mark Ban, General Manager and Board Secretary

Special Meeting of the Board of Directors
October 29, 2019 Page 230 of 230





